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PREFACE

The two years immediately following the first world
var were crucial to the history of the Arab world., Because
Great Britain played the major role in the administration
of the post-war Middle East most of the documentary material
of the peried is on file in London. Parliament recently
made publie the pelitical records of the war years and
beyond until 1922, For this reason I chose an event whieh
took place during that time as a Thesis topie. The Iraqi
rebellion against the British administration in Iraq in the
summer of 1920 interested me because it is controversial
and because so little about it has been published.

I was fortunate through the efforts of Colonel William
Kennedy of the American Embassy in Beirut to receive sufficient
financial support for a month of research in Londen. The month
proved a very short period in relation to the voluminous records
available for search but many people cooperated to make it
possible for me to make full use of my time,

As often happens, the facts and circumstances
surrounding the event proved more interesting than the event
itself. I found it possible to trace the factors in Britain's
policy which led to and probably caused the tribes to revolt.
What follows is a description of the political flow of the
two years preceding the revolt based upon the hitherto
unpublished documents and, equally important, the minutes
appended to them. Most of these minutes are in the handvriting



of the men vho formulated British peliecy in those few

years vhich were to form a watershed in the history of
East-West relations. Many of the names of the participants
have become well known to students of the modern Middle East.

Unfortunately, scarcity of time and resources allowed
only a brief visit to Baghdad. In order to explore the Iragi
side of the question, some very thorough investigation in that
country would be a necessity. I do believe that virtually
all of the significant documented material is in Londonj
because of this I was careful to limit my topie to the British
poliey aspect of the period,

I would like to thank several others who helped me
accomplish as much as I did in suech a short time, in particular
Mr. Kenneth Tymings of the Publiec Record Office in London, He
and his staff wvere more than courteous. Miss Margaret
Franklin, a redoubtable researcher at the Publie Record Office,
did some valuable "digging" for me prior to my arriwval, 1
must also mention Mr, M.I, Moir and Miss J.C. Lancaster of
the India Office Library who helped me fathom their labyrin-
thine filing system. The British Museum system was easier
to comprehend but I alse had courteous assistance there,

While in London I was fortunate to be able to talk with
Professor Elie Kedourie of the London School of Economics and
Politieal Science., Professors Zeine Zeine and John Batatu of

the American University of Beirut also were gemerous in providing

ii



advice and guidance. Samir Seikali and Ghassan Atiyys, both
AUB graduates vho are now working on their doctoral disserta-
tions at the University of London, helped orient me in the
search rooms at the Public Record Office.

Pinally, I must mention Dr. Joseph Malone, my thesis
adviser, Dr. Nabih Faris, chairman of the Arab Studies Program
at the American University of Beirut, and the University

jtself; to these I ove a special debt of gratitude.

American University of Beirut J.P.VW.
January 1966
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CHAPTER I

EARLY COMMERCIAL INTERESTS IN MESOPOTAMIA

It was trade vhich first brought the English to

the Persian Gulf and into the Tigris and Euphrates

valleys as it had first taken them to India, China

and Japan,l

Until recent years the bellweather of British foreign
poliey has been the protection of the routes to India.
Mesopotamia, like the Persian Gulf, and later the Suez Canal
and the Red Sea, was exploited originally because it lay on
the communications route between East and Vest, Until the
discovery of oil at the beginning of the twentieth cemtury,
the commercial value of Mesopotamia stemmed from the importance
of its rivers, which, through the port of Basra, opened onto
the Persian Gulf and to India.

British merchants travelled down the Euphrates from Aleppo
to Baghdad and on to India as early as 1580. The Englishman,
John Newberrie, made the journey overland by way of Aleppo to
Basra, and then to the island of Hormuz in the Gulf, returning
to London in 1582, Vithin six months, Ralph Fitch together
with Newberrie, William Deedes, and James Story again made
the journey from London to Hormuz, this time carrying letters

from Queen Elizabeth to the King of Cambay and the Emperor
of China. Their route took them from the Syrian port of Tripoli

lphilip Villard Irelend, s Pol 1 Deve
(London: Jonathan Cape, » Pe3l.



first across country and then down the Euphrates to Falluja,
to Baghdad, onto the Tigris to Basra and the Persian Gulf.z
These early journeys developed the commercial routes to the
BEast and established the English presence in the lover
Euphrates and the present port area of Basra. They were also
the first of many British investments in the area and the
basis for later claims of commercial monopolies there.

The Ottoman conguered Iraq in 1513; the territory
remained a part of the Turkish Empire until 1918, Britain's
diplomatic relations with Turkey were always mainteined with
an eye to maintaining her preferential position in the Turkish
provinces and guarding ageinst any enecroachment by other
European powers. Not until the latter half of the nineteenth
century did France then Russia, make significant inroads.
French influence was based upon support for the Roman Catholic
religious orders in Mesopotamia, and that of Russia upon
her commercial penetration of Persia and intervention in the
perennial Iragi-Persian border dispute. Later, Belgium,
Spain, Sweden, and the United States acquired commercial
interests in Mesopotamia and ultimately established consulates
in Baghdad., After 1870 Germeany, nevly unified and vith
imperialistic ambitions, became the principle threat to British

preeminence in Mesopotamia.

25ir Arnold T. Wilson, The Persian Gulf (London: George Allen
and Unwin Ltdo. 19285, P .



Despite the presence of the other powers, England
maintained her sdvantage; the proximity of India gave her
further reason to expect Turkish friendship. Indianpilgrims
travelled in great numbers to the Shi'ah Moslem Holy Places
in Iraq, many to settle permanently there. As commercial
opportunities inereased, a flow of indian merchants to Irag
increased as well, The British Resident in Baghdad was the
executor for the Oudh Bequest, a monetary benefice which he
distributed annually to the Mujtehids of the Holy Cites for
further distribution ameong the Shi'ah population.3

British control of the Persian Gulf required ano ther
indireect pressure which helped England maintain an adventage
in Mesopotamia. The small independent sheikhdoms were bound
by treaty with England. In exchange for British support they
agreed to exclude the other foreign powers from trading in the
Gulf. A British Indian naval force was stationed within the
Gulf to enforce the terms of the various treaties, and, by
extension, to guarantee the British position in Mesopotamia.

England's strong influence with the central Ottoman
Government in Constantinople was a great help in her negotia-

4ions with the ruling Pashas in Baghdad. The role of British

3the Oudn bequest was an arrangement made in 1825 by the King

of Oudh, a province of India, and the British Viceroy. The

King provided a loan to aid Britain in a war and insisted that

the prineiple not be returned, but that the interest be distributed
in the Holy Cities of Iraq. The bequest began in 1847 and 10,000
Sterling annually was paid directly through the British Resident

in Baghdad to Sh'ah residents of Kerbala and Najf.



support for the Turkish Empire will be discussed more fully

in the succeeding chapters; in brief, the urgency of keeping
control of the routes to India out of the hands of Britain's
European rivals dominated British eastern poliecy. The British
veto was probably the only reason that the other powers did

not force the break up of the Ottoman Empire. As it wvorked

out it was to their mutual advantage for London and Constantinople
to maintain the status quo.

Access to the rivers was always a prime British concernj
merchant vessels flying the British flag sailed with regulaxity
between Basra and Baghdad under an agreement executed with the
Turkish Pasha in 1823, and given force by imperial firman.

The English explorer, Chesney, had surveyed the entire Euphrates
between 1835-1837 in order to determine whether steam ships
could be used to carry the mails from the Mediterranean to the
Persian Gulf. Although this was proved unfeasible, the English
used the expedition as a basis for continuing to navigate the
Euphrates. Lieutenant Lynch of the Indian Navy commanded a
flotilla which patrolled both the Tigris and the Euphrates

for several years after 1840,

As the commercial value of the rivers became more obvious
there began a struggle between the Baghdad government and the
British companies for control of steam navigation., In 1842
the Turkish authorities curtailed British mercantile privileges

amid continuous disputes concerning taxation and transit duties.



The situation wvas alleviated by a formal treaty with the Porte
in 1846, authorizing the British to navigate all Mesopotamian
vaters.

In 1861 the same Lieutenant Lynch, together with his brother,
organized the Tigris and Euphrates Steam Navigation Company.
Later attempts to extend its facilities were frustrated by the
Turkish authorities, who formed their own steamship line in
1867. From the time of Midhat Pasha's rule in Baghdad dis-
eriminatory privileges wvere accorded the Turkish line with
t.e object of driving the British off the rivers.’ The Lynch
brothers company continued to carry the British mails despite
the competition; attempts were made to merge with the Turkish
Company, but negotiations failed and were finally abandoned
in 1910.

The Porte declared shortly thereafter that navigetion
of the two rivers was open to Ottoman subjeets only. British
protests led to talks betveen the tvo governments and the
“Declaration of London' in 1913 established a joint Anglo-
Ottoman Steamship Company with a monopoly on commercial

navigation in Mesopotamia.

4(1869--1872) Midhat Pasha was the most enlightened Turkish
Governor of Iraq in the nineteenth century. He was a man of
vision, enmergy and integrity. In his zeal to improve the
government Midhat Pasha was ruthless in his dealings with foreignm
speculators., Most of the Iraqi reforms of the last quarter of
the entury vere due to his initiative. In his haste Midhat also
made mistakes, his river projects for example. The British were
able to resume their privileged positiom on the rivers after his
departure because the Turks did not have an administrative and
navigatimal staff adequate to compete.



Railwvay Development

At the time of Colonel Chesney's expedition the question
of a railway line from the Mediterranean to the Persiasn Gulf
was being discussed in London. As a result of these discussions
the Euphrates Valley Railway Company was formed in 1856. It
obtained a concession from the Turks to build a railvay between
Alexandretia and Basra; but British capitalists refused to
guarantee the project so nothing further was done. The
aecquisition of Cyprus by Britaio in 1878 was motivated in part
by its proximity to the proposed site of the railway.>

British relations with Turkey declined steadily during
the latter part of the nineteenth century. England began to
realize the futility of hopes to reform Turkey and many policy-
makers in London hold the opinion that the central administration
in Constantinople could not exist much longer.

After the construction of a railway between Berlin and
Constantinople in 1888, a German syndicate secured extensive
reilway concessions in Syria and Mesopotamia. The Baghdad
Railvay Convention signed in Constantinople in 1903 established
Germany as Britain's chief competitor in Asia Minor. The
Convention gave the German company permission to extend its

line to Baghdad and Basra.

5Thin is described in a hendbook entitled Mesopotamia prepared
by the Historical Section of the Foreign Office for confidential
use by diplomats during World War I. Foreign Office file 373,
Box 5; Booklet No. 92, pp. 29-31.



In 1911 the British persuaded the Ottoman Government to
retract its concessions to the Germans., England had invested
heavily in the development of Basra as an entrepot center for
the Gulf area and would not tolerate the German ingrusiomn. The
Germans surrendered the right to construct a line from Baghdad
to the Gulf, but with the proviso that a suitable Ottoman
company would do so. An Anglo=German accord was signed in
London on June 15, 1914, giving Britain exclusive foreign
interest in the Basra port development in exchange for allowing

the Germans a share in river navigation.

0il Interests

The London Accord of 1914 also settled Anglo-German
differences concerning oil concessions in Iragq. Im 1901, a
German expert had identified valuable oil-bearing districts
around Mosul and Baghdad. The Baghdad Railway Convention of
1904 had given a two year option for oil development to the
German Anatolian Eeilway Company. Meanwhile a British subject,
Mr, ¥illiam Knox D'Arcy had received promises from two Grand
Viziers in Constantinople that the concessions would be trans-
ferred to him. Based upon these promises D'Arey formed the
Ottoman Petroleum Syndicate.

The Young Turk revolution in 1908 explicity negated all
previous oil and railway concessions, a faet which prompted



bilateral talks between London and Berlin. The L1914 Accord
authorized a joint Anglo-German company called the Turkish
Petroleum Company Limited, and the Ottoman Governmment agreed
to lease to it exclusively the oilfields in the Mosul and
Baghdad areas, D'Arey was allotted half the capital stock of
the new company. Although the convention was newver ratified,
both countries notified their ambassadors in Constantinople
and the Grand Vizier , Sa'id Halim Pasha, signed a letter on
June 28, 1914, whielr granted the concessions agreed upon.

The 1914 agreement which weuld have allowed Germany a
share in wvhat had been a British sanctuary in Mesopotamia was
never ratified, The outbreak of ¥World War I in August 1914
eliminated Germany as a contender. The foreign secretary,
Lord Grey, said that the Ottoman Empire committed suicide when
it declared war on England in November 1914; it «lso ended the
German adventure in the Middle East, For England, the long
expected breakup of the Empire became a necessity, and a new
policy vas required for those areas previously under Ottoman
control. The Mesopotamian aspect of this policy is discussed

in the succeeding chapters.



CHAPTER 1I

BRITISH WARTIME POLICY

The policy of one country towards another is, at best,
a makeshift thing. It is usually conceived in the heat and
urgency of affairs and, as Elie Kedourie says, "Directed as
it is to the attainment of advantage and the security of
interest, poliey is heedless of things as they are, provided
the advantage is attained and the interest aocurod."6

In the latter half of the nineteenth century Ehglnnd had
realized that the Ottoman Empire was beyond saving., Lord
Salisbury, wvho became Foreign Secretary in 1878, was one of
the first to see the need to re-evaluate traditional poliecy
toward the Turksj; he felt that the sooner the Ottoman behemoth
vas dismembered the better for everybody. "I feel convinced,"
he had written to Lord Sytten in March 1877, "that the old
policy-~wise enough in its time-- of defending English interests
by sustaining the Ottoman dynasty has become impracticable and
I think that the time has come for defending English interests
in a more direet vay by some territorial roarrnngonont.'T
Selisbury believed that the peaceful partition of the Ottoman
Empire would solve the Middle Eastern problem about which the

%g11e Kedourie, England snd the Middle Esst (London: Boves and
Boves, 1956), p.9%.
TLady Gwendolyn Cecil, Life of r uis of Sal

(London: Colins and Sons, T%EIE, ioi. ?!, p.”.

9
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European povers had schemed and quarreled so long. He also
felt that a partition would require the help of the western
povers because the local inhabitants were not capable of
governing themselves.
Lord Salisbury's poliey had & good deal of support in
His Majesty's Government even at that time; the question was
hovw to distribute the parts of the Empire, particularly the
straits and Constaentinople itself. Leord Curzon, as Viceroy
of India, said in 1892 that, "Baghdad, in fine falls under the
category of the Gulf ports, and must be included in the zone
of undisputed British anpronaey.'s He enlarged upon this in
the House of Lords in 1911:
It would be a mistake to suppose that our
politieal interests are confined to the Gulf,
They are not confined to the Gulf; they are
not confined to the region between Basra and 9
Baghdad, they extend right away up to Baghdad,
Neither the British nor the Indian government considered
the acquisition of territory either on the Tigris or in Basra
before the invasion of Mesopotamia on November 6, 1914, There

is no evidence before or during Vorld War I that England had

any c¢lear plan for her share of the Ottoman Enpiro.lo Nearly

sLord Curzon, Persia and the Per en, Vol. II, p.578,
cited in Ireland op. oy Pe4Y,

’Parliamentary Debates, House of Lords, 5th 8., Vol. ITI, (1911),
P+266, cited in Ireland, jibid.

%%¢ine Zeine, The Emergence of Arab Nationslisa, (Beirut:
n."t.. 1966 » Po .
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five months after the opening of hostilities, Sir Edwvard
Grey, Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, told the
French Ambassador, M. Cambon: "The Cabinet here has not
yet had time to consider our desiderata... (concerning the
Turkish possessions in Asiu).“ll In fact, the decision to
invade Mesopotamia was universally unexpected. It was only
after lengthy negotiations between London and Delhi during
August, September and October 1914 that the decision was reached,
In London the Cabinet and the General Staff wanted to
concentrate on the Western front. Delhi also had reasons to
oppose invasion plans, based principally on Moslem ties.
Longrigg states that a great deat of weigh® wvas given to
the recommendation of Sir Percy Cox, then Foreign Secretary
in India, who had previously served for twelve years in the
Gulf. Cox felt that the mobilization of the army in Iraq
under German auspices posed a threat both to the Persian oil
fields at Abadan and also Mohammerah (now Khoramshahr), at
the confluence of the Shatt-al-Arab and the Karun rivoru.lz
The invasion of Mesopotamia began November 6, 1914 at
Fao at the mouth of the Shatt-al-Arab; Basra and its environs
vere taken with little difficulty. The initial successes of the
expedition misled British planners into thinking that the Turkish

1gavard Groy, Twenty Pive Years, Vol. II, Dispateh of Sir

Edward Grey to Sir F. Bertie dated March 23, 1915 (New York:
Fred A, Stokes Company, 1925), p.236.

Stephen Hensley Longrigg, 1 (London: Oxford
University Press, 1956), p.77.

12
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defense would continue to fall back steadily and ultimately
collapse in Mesopotamia. Sir Percy Cox who accompanied the
expedition as political officer was among those who urged
further advances as each objective was attained, It was
inevitable that the decision to ocecupy Baghdad would be made,
However, Turkish military resistance in Mesopotamia did not
collapse; on the contrary, it stiffened, and the Turks fought
the British on even terms for over two years,

Original British policy had been to play down the Arab
role in the campaign for fear of a reaction among the Indian
Hoslcnl; For the same reason, the negotiations which were
going on between the Sharif of Mecea and Sir Henry MeMahon ¥Ore
handled very slowly but not rejected. The Sharif offered to
lead an Arab revolt against the Turks in exchange for territorial
guarantees after the wasx,

Foreign Secretary Grey, alarmed by the possibility that
the Germans would de what the British deemed inadvisablej
that is, arming the Arabs as an irregular force, decided to act
first. The Turkish Sultens' earlier ecall for a holy war
(jihaad) against the allies had been largely ignored, but
Turkish successes in Mesopotamia greatly increased the
possibility of an Arab uprising, particularly by the Syrians
who feared and detested French territorial designs in the

Levant. Gfey therefore, instructed McMahon to agree to
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Husain's terms snd arranged the talks in London vhich led to the
Sykes-Picot agreement with the French and Russians., Grey
agreed to the Husain pact because he feared an Arab rising
in favor of continued Ottoman domination, and the tripartite
Sykes-Picot in order to pin down the French and Russiam
territorial claims in the Middle East.
Sir Mark Sykes was completely aware of the MeMahon-Husain
correspondence when he negotiated the Anglo-French agreement
in December 1915. Early in the war, even before the Sharif
made his first formal approach to Britain asking for recognition
of Arab Independence, Sykes had submitted his ideas omn the
partition of Syria. As a member of a special cabinet sub-
committee Sykes had helped prepare a secret report forxr the
partition of Turkey in Asia. While preparing the report Sykes
had discussed the Syrian and Mesopotamian questions with
prominent Arebs in Damascus and Cairo., In brief, the report
recommended that Britain acquire Iraq up to Mosul and those
parts of Syria south of a line running from the Khabur-Euphrates
to Palmyra, then to Damascus and Acre on the Hoditcrrnnean.13
Sykes had discussed the implications of the British
ambitions with Sultan Kamil Husain and other Arabs im Cairo
including Aziz al Misri, founder of Al Ahd, the Iraqi nationalist

society, Dr. Faris Nimr a prominent Syrian nationalist,Said

13p.0. 371/3384, doec.180234.
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Shuqair Pasha, and Rashid Rida. The last named was perhaps
the most extreme arab nationalist, Sykes considered him a
radical. What Sykes was trying to get from individual Syrians
was agreement first to British, ond then to Frenech, control
over portions of their country. Sykes also strove for agreement
betwveen France and Britain regarding their respective claims
in Syria.

On July 14, 1915, the very day the Sharif's first letter
to McMahon seeking British recognition of Arab independence
was received in Cairo, Sykes revealed to S5ir . Wingate and
MecMahon, the sub-committee's secret report vhich had been

submitted to the Cabinet on June 30.14

Sykes subsequently
discussed his report in relation to the Sharif's request fer
recognition of the boundaries of Arab independence with McMahon
and others in Caire. He also had conversations with Lieutenant
Muhammad Sharif al-Faruqi, an Arab officer in the Turkish army
who had deserted to the British in Gallipoli and had been sent
to Cairo. Al-Fsrqu;wus an Iraqi member of Al Ahd who claimed
to be the official spokesman for Husain, There is reason to
doubt al-Farugqi credentials to speak for Husain, but Sir Henry
McMahon accepted him because al-Farugi's views coincided with

British desiderata.
On November 5, 1915, the date of the Sharif's third

141144,
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letter to Sir Henry McMahon, Sir Mark Sykes and al-Faruqi

discussed the question of British priority of econonmiec

enterprise and administrative assistance in Mesopotamia, and

of a similar position in Syria for France. No one really

questioned British rights in Mesopotamiaj in his private

telegram to Sir Edwvin Grey, MeMahon had reported that, October 8,

1915 "with regard to Basra vilayet Faroki (sic) accepts the fact

that special measures of British control will be necessary, in

viev of Great Britain's interest thoro."l5
In their reply the Foreign Office ansvered on October 20,

1915¢ "In view of the special interest in the Baghded Province

and area actually in our oécupation, the proposed sphere of

British control, namely, the Basrah vilayet, will need oxtontion.“16
The idea of a "special British interest"” im Basra and Baghdad

Provinces was mentioned by McMehon to Husain on Oectober 24, 1915,

and by Husain who agreed in his letter of November 5, 1915 "to

leave under British administration those districts that are now

occupied by British troopl..."'17
It is unfortunate that Britain's agreement or, as what is

termed, "pledge" to Husain was never set down in the form of

a formal document; it is contained only in the correspondence

.

167p1a.

1
T1bia.
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between Sir Henry McMahon and Husain., The substance of the
agreement was thereafter interpreted differently by His
Majesty's Government and King Husain. However, at the time
Sir Mark Sykes entered into negoti:.tions with Picot in November
1915, he knewv exactly what had taken place between His Majesty's
government and the Arabs. What Sykes intended was to gain
French corroboration for what Britain had agreed to with Husain.
Lord Grey probably intended to give the Arabs much more
than they realized after the war; in March 1915 he wrote to
tne firitish ambassador in Paris, "When Turkey disappears from
Constantinople and the straits there must, in the interests
of Islam, be an independent Moslem political unit somevhere
else, Its center would naturally be the holy places, and it
would include Arabia, but we must settle what else should be
ineludod."18
Until midway in the war, not even within the India Office
was there an agreement about Mesopotamia., Once Basra was occupied
the India Government considered the port separate from the rest
of Mesopotamia., It was generally understood that Basra would
be annexed or at least under British control, But for the rest,
opinion vas divided. Lord Chelmsford, the vartime Viceroy of

India, said in a private letter to Lord Curzon in October 1916

1BA.L. Tibawi, "Syria in the McMahon Correspondence," Middle
East Forum, XL11l,Neo. 4 (1966), p.l2.
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that he did not want direct control of Mesopotamia by India,
but rather an indirect control with its own internal government,

19 In the same

dependent upon India as Sudan was upon Egypt.
correspondence, Sir Thomas Holderness of the India Office
political department recommended that the detachment be

0 Sir Arthur Hirtzell of the India Office agreed

complete.
with Holderness but recommended that His Majesty's Government
occupy Basra completely and establish some sort of protectorate
over Baghdad., Hirtzell also wrote that the power which replaced
Turkey made itself morally responsible for the reclamation and
development of that territory and "could not leave it to its
own dovicel."21
Lord Grey, Mr., Asquith's Foreign Secretary, made it clear
thet England's European allisnces were of paramount importance
and that the Sykes-Picot agreement was made in order to get
French approval for England to deal directly with the Arabs, at
the same time trying to establish what were the limits of
French interests in the Middle East.zz
Vhen David Lloyd George replaced Herbert Asquith as Prime
Minister in 1916 he brought new ideas and nev faces to the

government; he also brought if not an extensive knowvledge at

least an academic interest and understanding of the Middle East

19
20

1.0, 10.2, doec., B 246.
Ibid, p.3.

2l1bid, p.4.
zzﬁroy, op.cit., p.235-237,



18

which his predecessor did not have. Unfortunately, he did

not reduce the number of agencies advising the war cabinet

of Eastern affairs, The ¥War Office, the Foreign Office, the
India Office and the Arab Bureau still all had a duty to advise
the Eastern committee of the war cabinet., A further complica-
tion arose vith the entry of America into the war which imposed
nev principles upon those for which England was fighting; the
most significant addition was the guarantee of self-determina-
tion.

The excessive number of responsible agencies was not the
real fault vith British policy making procedure during the
war, it was rather the wide difference in personnel and
motivation of the different agencies. Generally speaking, the
Arab Bureau in Cairo was closer to the Arab side; the India
Officer thought in strategic terms of controlling the accesses
to Indiaj while the Foreign Office, particularly during the
first tvo years under the Asquith Government, thought in terms
of European interests.

Even if Lord Grey had the purest of motives toward the
Arabs, he was not free to act without French concurrence and
therein lay the problem, Sykes attempted in November 1915
to confront the French with the urgency of getting Arab support
in a theater of war vhich was the responsibility of Britain,

but of vital importance to the overall allied cause. The
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French were intransigent; neither Picot nor M. Cambon, the
ambassador, would agree to anything near what the British
wanted to promise Husain., Finally on December 21, the French
agreed to considerably less than the British had asked. In
effect, the terms left nothing of Syria for the Arab State
except, by implication, the lands east of the Jordan River
and the interior distriet from Damascus to Aleppo. Sykes
and Picot worked out the details of the agreement which was
signed formally six months later after Russia agreed to the
division of the spoils.

It is easy to understand wvhy the Sykes-Picot was treated
as a secret document until the Bolsheviks revealed its contents
in late 1917; it did not even consider the Sharif or the Arabs,
snd wvas certainly inconsistent with the promises made by
McMahon., From that time on British poliey in the Middle East
wvas hobbled.

Though Britain had the implicit agreement of the Arabs
that her interests in Basra and Baghdad gave her special rights
in that area, she wvas reluctant to make a public announcement
of her intentions there. The reason was not because she feared
Arab reaction, but because the French would have seized the
opportunity to assert their own demands in Syria. VWhen Sir
Percy Cox asked for authority to make an announcement in

December 1914 stating that the occupation of Basra was in fact
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permanent, His Majesty's Government in London demurred, The
grounds for refusal vere that such an announcement would be
regarded as a definite breach of the understanding between
the allies, and that a final settlement must await the end
of the war.23
Vhen the British Expeditionary Forece finally captured
Baghdad on March 11, 1917, the aforementioned secret agreements
were the sole basis for British policy in the Middle East.
After the troops occupied the city, the commanding general,
Sir Stanley Maude, was instructed to issue a proclamation,

the text of which was written in London by Syko|.24

The
proclamation promised that the Turkish order was finished and
under no circumstance would the Turkish administration return
to Mesopotamia, Maude also promised that the British had no
wish to impose any foreign institutions and thet the people
of Mesopotamia had earned the right to admini:ter their own
civil affairs... "so that you may unite with your kinsmen in
the North, East, South «nd west in realizing the aspirations
of your ruce."25

Maude's proclamation was argued over item by item, in

both the Foreign and India Office, however its principles

231ndia Office 10.2.38, doc. B 273, (India 0ffice Records

hereafter will be referred to as I1.0.).
24K‘d0uri.. op. M¢| po79.
257ext in Gertrude Bell, Rcv%cw of the Civil Administration
of Mesopotamia, (London: His Majesty's Printing Office, 1920),

Pe J2.
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wvere eventually edopted in their entirety as official policy.
Although the India Office was responsible for Mesopotamia
during the war, it had been decided that at the conclusion
of the war the Foreign Office would take over its administration.
As it happened, both offices had a voice in the decision to
adopt the Maude statement. Wwhat Maude snid was significant
because it promised that the Arabs would participate in
governing themselves and that they would have an opportunity
to say how the government would be constituted. It was a
departure from both the Sykes-Picot and the McMahon~Husain
correspondence; it was also a departure from those policies
put forward by Sir Perey Cox and the India Office. It was, in
fact, a departure from the traditional British policy concerning
the Ottoman Empire which had envisioned European control of
the Arab lands., It promised self determination.
Shortly after Maude's speech a committee of the Vvar
Cabinet laid “own in some detail the principles which His
Majesty's Government intended to apply in the future asdministra-
tion of Mesopotamia. The following differentiation was made
between the status of the Basra Vilayet :nd that of the
Baghded Vilayets 2°
(1) Basra was to "remain permanently under British

administration," its western and northern limits
being specifically defined.

261 Turkish word for the political subdivision from a Arabic

root meaning approximately "state."
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(2) Baghdad vas to be "an Arab State with a loeal

ruler or government under British protectorate

in everything but name." Behind its "Arab facade"
the Vilayet was to be administered as an Arab
province by "indigeneous agency and in accordance
with existing laws and institutions as far as
possible,"27

This policy was criticized by Sir Percy Cox and tle
Government of India. Cox telegraphed on April 7, 1917, that
any attempt to differentiate between the two Vilayets in regard
to vorking principles and details would fail and that the
two should be governed alike, He, of course, intended that
Baghdad should be brought into line with Basra.

As a result of tie controversy Sir Percy was summoned to
London to discuss the situation. After preliminary talks wvit
the India Office, he presented n memorandum dated May 22, 1917,
to the War Cabinet. They approved his memorandum as official
policy snd authorized Sir Percy to return to Mesopotamia to
establish the administration there in accordance with its
provisions.

Sir Percy had mellowed since the early days of t'e WAT;
his recommendations in May 1917 were tempered by developments
later in the war, including the entry of the United States
and the revision of the principles upon which Allied war aims
vere founded. In the memorandum Sir Percy said: "Of these

principles /additional since war begap/ the one which

particularly concerns us at the moment requires that the

2Tp.0. 371/3387.
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2Te.0. 371/3387.
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peoples of the countries interested or effected should be

28 Cox felt

allowved to form their own form of government.
that if at the end of the war Britain was in a "sufficiently
strong position, and in effective administrative control, wve
should still hope to annex the Basre Vilayet and exercise a
veiled protectorate over the Baghdad Vilayet; but it is
recognized that the question of annexation has become exceedingly
difficult vis~a-vis the President of the United States... Our
original proposals must consequently be regarded as a counsel
of perfection, and ve must be prepared to accept something

n29 The "something less” Cox described as a veiled

less.
protectorate in Baghdad with effective British control in
everything but name. Cox used the word "Arab Facade" originally
coined by the Eastern Conmittee in its April directive. He
felt thet emphasis should be placed upon Baghdad and that
Basra could be made to conform to it at a convenient juneture,
The memorandum stated that "the administration should be under
British guidance and the more complete the British control can
be, the better for the country."

Another facet of the Cox policy was that there not be
the slightest Turkish element admitted in the post-war
administration. Heferring to o "nominal Arab headpiece," if

one should be considered necessary, he thought it best to

2881: Percy Cox, The Future of Mesopotamia, F.0. 371/3387
1bia.
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find a loeal candidate and sav not the "least justification
or necessity for introducing one of the family of the Sharif
of Mecea to play this role."

The factions of the population which Sir Perey thought
necessary to encourage vere first, the Jewish community in
Baghdad; he recommended that Dr, Weismann be induced to pay
a visit to Baghdad to influence the Jevish community in
favor of the British connection; second, Cox considered
most useful the "Arab notables and nobility" among the
townspeople of Baghdad and Basra; and third, the wealthy
landlord element, both Arab and Jew, and the important
Sheikhs of the tribal areas. Sir Percy must have been aware
at that last stage of the war that referendums and plebiscites
were to become the by-wordsof post war diplomacy; he made a
recommendation regarding publiec opinion that would return
to plague his successor in Mesopotamia. He wrote: "If it
becomes a question of obtaining public expression of feeling
in favor of British control, it can be donej but I think the
subject would have to be handled cautiously... It will be
understood that the rural population of Iraq as a wvhole is
quite inarticulate and can hardly be consulted. As regards
the elements who do count, e.g., the Jews and other denomina-
tional communities in the large towns, they ecould without doubt

be squared in some form to give expression to the sentiments
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that we douiro.'30
Shortly after his return to Baghdad in June 1918, Sir

Percy Cox was recalled to London for consultations regarding
the worsening political situation in Persia. The "temporary
absence” lasted more than two years because Cox was posted

to Teheran in order to cope vith the growing Bolshevik threat
there; no one concerned foresaw amy great difficulty in setting
up the administration in Mesopotamia once the war wvas over

and the Turks gonme. In the interim, Cox's assistant, Captain
Arnold T. ¥ilson, was appointed Acting Civil Commissioner,

For the remainder of the war Captain Wilson did little
more than carry forvard the policies of Sir Percy wvhich wvere
clearly stated in his May memorandum, Wilson also revived
an earlier recommendation of Sir Perey's, that a commission
be sent from London "to examine the vhole administrative
problem on the spot."™ VWilson went further, "What seems to
be required is, not to tie down the Commission te particular
lines of enquiry, but to give them a free hand to examine
and report, in comsultation vith the loeal asuthorities, on
the wider aspect of administrative poliey in the occupied
territories. Ve want to form a clearer idea in our own minds
as to the main lines on vhich we are to proceed. The lack

of a clear-out programme will not only hamper us at the Peace

*1bid.
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Conference, it is already hampering us in regard to a number

31 vilson

of practical questions that arise from day to day."
could not have siated it more clearly,

The requested commission never materialized, nor did
the "clear cut programme;"™ it is to Wilson's credit that he
sav the need Ffor such clarification early in his tenure,

The reasons why the request vas not honored and the consequences

of its refusal will be examined in the succeeding chapter.

31!11-oa'; telegranm No. 7725, dated September 15, 1915, quoted

in F.0, 371/3387. '



CHAPTER III

A POST WAR DECLARATION

The End of The VWar

An armistice was signed with Turkey onm October 30, 1918,
marking not only the end of the war with Turkey, but the end
of the Ottoman Empire. Britain's paramount ocecupation for
the previous four years had been to win the war, She had
made pledges and promises which were impossible to fulfill
after the wvar,

The entry of America into the war, and the role she was
expected to play in establishing the peace terms, also altered
the situation., President Wilson had made several statements
of policy which would have to be considered as a basis for
the peace negotiations, On January 22, he had said in an
address to the Senate:

No peace can last, or ought to last, vhich does

not accept the prineciple that Governments derive all

their just powers from the consent of the governed,

and that no right exists anywhere to hand peoples about

from sovereignty to sovereignty as if they were property.

I am proposing government by the consent of the gnvu’nﬂl.j2

Wilson's celebrated Fourteen Points (January 18, 1918)
wvere a concise statement of principles which would have to be
considered at the peace settlement., In addition Vilson told

Congress on February 11, 1918:

32'?3 ers Relating to the Foreign Relations of the United States,
191? " Supplement 1, I d War, pp.27 and 29 cited in
z.i.no Zeine, The Struggle for Arab ndence (Beirut:
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There shall be no annexations, no contributions, no
punitive damage... Self-determination is not a mere
phrase; it is an imperative principle of action which
statesmen will henceforth ignore at their peril...

Every territorial settlement involved in this war must

be made In the interest and for the benefit of the
population concerned, and not as a part of any mere 13
adjustment of compromise of claims amongst rival States.

The British Prime Minister, David Lloyd George, had, in
Parliament on January 5, 1918, promised that the parts of
the present Ottoman Empire would be entitled to a recognition
of their separate natural conditions, but said it would be
impossible to restore them to their former sovereignty.

These pronouncements led Sir Arthur Hirtzell at the India
Office to write on January 11, 1918:

We ought to be getting more definite ideas on this
subject... VWhat does natural self-determination
mean?... Annexation (e.g. of Basra) is presumably
now out of the question, or even the veiled annexation
contemplated in the Anglo-French Agreement (Sykes-
Picot). The Arab Facade of which the Committee
(Eastern Committee) talked, must be something more
than a facade. What do we propose?... It is clear
that somehow or other we must retain predg:lnating
influence in Mesopotamia. By vhat means?

On January 25, 1918, Sir Percy Cox, at that time still
High Commissioner in Baghdad, sent a telegram to the Foreign
Office stating that he did not feel that any additional

announcement concerning the Arabs was necessary, that there was

33Jehn Maynard Keynes, The Economic C equences of the Peace,
(London: 1919), pp. 57-58, d.

345 0. 371/7664, doec. 14564,
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no indication of unrest in Mesopotamia such as the High
Commissioner in Cairo reported. The telegram read in part:
"... 88 regards Iraq, surely public announcement of our
policy made in Baghdad Proclamation sufficient.”

Cox's objection to imperial policy as seen by the High
Commissioner in Egypt, Sir Reginald Wingate, was that it
failed to recognize the problem in Iraq, and Cox objected
that it was "treated as a pawvn in our negotiation or relations
with young Arabs of Egypt and the Shurif.“35

In a telegram to the Foreign Office on January 28, 1918,
the Viceroy entirely agreed with Cox in discouraging any
further announcement regarding the future of Iraq. He continued
that any further announcement would prejudice Britein's future
there, He suggested obtaining Xing Husain's agreement to
modify "MeMahon's unfortunate pledge... We should have the
right to continue administration in both Vilayets... Stand
might be taken on the facts that the people themselves would
welcome this,.., and that King Husain himself has no claim to
these areas vhere Sheikhs largely pr.doninsto.36

Lord Curzon did mot agree to asking Husain to modify his
elaim upon the British Government and notified Mr. Montagu to

this effect. Instead he sent a message to Husain which

35p.0. 371/3380, doc. 18462.
361pia. doe. 19106,
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reaffirmed Britain's pledges--although there was considerable
controversy as to what exactly had been promised. In his
message, Curzon wrotes
His Mijesty's Government reaffirms their former

pledge to His Highness in regard to the freeing of

the Arab peoples, Liberation is the policy His

Majesty's Government has pursued end intend to pursue

with unsverving determination by protecting such Arabs

as are still ugdor the yoke of the oppressor to obtain

their freedom.57

On October 30, 1918, the text of the Sykes-Picot Agreement
vas communicated to Husain by Sir Reginald Wingate. In a reply
to Mr. Balfour, Vingate said that he had informed King Husain

38 Husain's

in accordance with instructions in Balfour's telegram,
reactions were expressed in tvo telegrams, The tone of the
first clearly shoved his dislike of the arrangements in
liberated territories. The second, sent twenty-four hours
later, was stronger: Husain threatened to aubdicate, and
referring to French claims upon Syria, he said, "As for Islamic
world, it is now a case for sulcido."39
It should be pointed out that this decision te inform
the Sharif was in consequence of Wingate's own secret message

to Balfour on September 21, 1918. In it he referred to Husain's

anxiety concerning "certain disconeerting indication of a

37¥b1d.dec. 27457. The copy on file is to the Viceroy repeated
ox telling him the text of that to Vingate. It is dated
February 13, 1918,

385 0. 371/3380 tel. No. 1240,
39p.0. 371/3384 doe. 183770.
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of a changed policy" and recommended very strongly... "to
take King Husein (sic) into our confidence, as far as we can,
and to inform him of our intentions in regard to hil.“‘o

In addition to Wingate, there were other "Sharifians"
in Cairo vho had influenced British policy throughout the
var, Lord Kitichener, who had responded to the Sharifian
overtures and had initiated the Arab intrigue, thought in
terms of an Arab sovereignty in the Arabian Peninsula only,
vas not alive to see Husain's letter which used terms such
as "Arab Vorld", D.H. Hogarth, Director of the Arab Bureau,
and General Cleyton, the Director of British Intelligence
in Cairo, were, like Wingate, extremely solicitous of the
inherent Moslem distrust of the French. The Cairo group
vere equally afraid of a threat by Husain to abdicate, which
Vingate wrote, "would entail consequences little short of
diaastrous.'41

Aetually, the Arabs had learned of the Sykes~Picot

Agreement a year earlier vhen the Bolshevik Russian Government

4Orbia.

1see Vingate's letter lbid. which shows how Wingate greatly
overestimated Husain's influence and the danger of Ottoman
reactionary intrigue. At that point the war was almost
over, Allenby's army was racing through Syria; the Turkish
army had ceased to exist in the sense of the word; the
Arab nationalist societies were very pro-British; and
Husain was confident that the American guarantees would
aid his cause,
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published its contents in November 1917. Jamal Pasha,
the Turkish Military Governor of Damascus, sent copies of
the document to beth Husain and his Lieutenant, Ja'far Pasha
tl-Askari, The King forwarded his copy to Sir Reginald
Vingate in Caireo, which in turn brought about the message
of reassurance from Curzon on February 8, 1918, which im
mentioned above,

The last moteworthy wartime statement of British policy
vas, perhaps, the most significant and the least understood.
It cane to be known as the "Declaration to the Seven" and

8.42 Comments on the document in the

vas issued in July 191
Foreign 0ffice files are fev and rather guarded, Sir Thomas
Kidston and Armold J. Toynbee of the Foreign Office imply
that the impetus for the statement came from the Arab Bureau
in Caire., The "Declaration" was in ansver to petition by
seven Syrians who had formed an organization in Cairo called
the Party of Syrian Unity.43 The petition was presented to
Mr., Osmand Walrand, a British political advisor im the Arab
bureau, Valrand and Wyndham Deedes, also of the Bureau, were

avare that not all Arabs wanted to see Husain recognized as

their spokesman and that many of them were fearful that he

420ext in J.C. Hurewitz, Documents (New York: D. Van Nostrand
Company, Ine. 1958), p.29.

“Ifhe text and the names of the seven Syrians are given in

George Antonius, The Arab Avakeming, (Beirut: Khayat's
1958), p.433.



33

would make some compromise regarding the dividing of the Arab
territories under the Sykes-Picot Agreement. Walrand was
himself & nationalist snd was convinced that a confederation
of independent Arab states was the correct solution. He
often propounded this theory during and after the war,

The Declaration was a clear statement of policy unlike
the vague McMahon correspondence. This document represented
the poliecy the British would have liked to implement after
the war~ it wvas not entirely compatible with President Wilson's
proclamations, nor the McMahon pledges, nor the Sykes-Picot
Agreement; but vas a compromise between all three.

In the Declaration, the British differentiated between
(1), Arab lands independent before the war, (2) those captured
during the war by "Aradb forces," (3) those occupied by Allied
Forces, end (4) areas still under Turkish control at the end
of hostilities., For the first two categories, "His Majesty's
Government recognized the complete and sovereign independence
of the Arabs inhabiting these areas and supports them im their

struggle for fraodon."‘

As for the third eategory, it
referred to General Maude's proclamation in Baghdad and another
vhich General Allenby made in Jerusalem vhen the British

captured that eity in December 1917. The last category, lands

“gurevits, op. git., p.29.
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still under Turkish control, vas the most intricate problenm,
but the solution wvas postponed until after the war. Even
at that late stage no ome expected the extent of Allenby's
final triumph and the amount of territory which would be
captured in the last few months of the war by Allenby's
Egyptian Expeditionary Force and the Mesopotamian Forece
under General Marshall,

The Declaration was not in agreement wvith the Sykes-
Picot because it vas mot only possible but probable that
Faisal's force would capture areans specified in that document
as in a French Zone. Neor did it agree with Husain's version
of the McMahon promises which vere exorbitant. The "Declaration
of the Seven" was seldom referred to after the warj which
indicates that it failed to satisfy anyone. A month after
it was published, Husain began to press Sir Heginald Wingate
for a nev statement of policy by His Majesty's Government.

A few days after the var ended, the British issued
another statenment, this one in conjunction with the French
and vith the approval of President Wilson. It was the "Anglo~
French Declarastion" of November 7, 1918, and it was to be
the basis for future British poliey in Mesopotamia. The fallacy
in these successive announcements, although they were reasonable
in that they vere intended to conform to the changing situation,

wvas that Britein failed to secure the concurrence of the other
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contracting parties for the abrogation of previous pledges.
This is not to imply naivete om the part of the British;
on the contrary, they must have realized the impossibility
of geiting such concurrence from either the French or Husain,
On October 23, the Foreign Office telegraphed to the
British Ambassador in Washington that a modus vivendi had
been reached vith the French, Distriets recognized by the
Sykes-Picot Agreement as having a special interest for the
French would be in the hands of French officials acting as
General Allenby's political advisors, The message also stated
that the provisions of the Sykes-Picot Agreement were no
longer suitable in all respects to present conditions and
that the question should form the subject of fresh conversa-
tions.

It has become essential to make some public
declaration in order to allay the misgivings and
suspicions of the Arabs and Syrians which may be
dangerously exploited by our enemies. It has therefore
been decided to publish an Anglo-French declaration
outlining the poliey which the two wish to pursue in

the territories in Syria and Mesopotamia delivered from
the Turkish yoke...4

The Anglo-¥rench Declaration was published jointly in
all the Allied capitals on November 7, 1918, and in Baghdad
on November 8. In essence it stated that the object of French
and British policy wass
+es The complete and definite emancipation of the

pecples so long oppressed by the Turks and the
establishment of national governments and administrations

43p.0. 371/3384 doe. 180425. See Appendix B.



36

deriving their authority from the initiative and free
choice of the indigenous populations.*

Issued after the armistice of Mudros on October 30, 1918,
the Declaration was accepted by the rest of the world as a
definite pronouncement of poliey. The previous pledges and
agreements concerning the partition of Turkey were made under
vartime pressure, They had been made secretly or with the
knovledge of agreements which were secret, and without the
sdditional pressure of President Wilson's views, This latest
pronouncenent was made after Turkey had surrendered with the
concurrence of the four nations wvho would dictate the peace
terns, Moreover, it had the tacit approval of the Arabs,
Yet the Declaration did not meet with universal approval,
The Times stated that application of the Declaration in
Mesopotamia vas a bad bargain for England with little hope
that the Arab will accept the British, nor that the anticipated
profit would offset the high cost of administration, It cited
the example of India and said that Pan-Turanian and Pan-Arab
sentiments, both stromg and largely analogous would finally
unite to oppese British rule. The article said that the
British were "asking the Arab to exchange his pride and

independence for a little western eivili:stion.“47

“6py11 text in Hurewits, op. git., p.30.
‘7253*21533. November 11, 1918,
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A.T. ¥ilson, the scting Civil Commissioner in Mesopotamia,
considered the lDeclaration a "disastrous error, the perpetration
of which was forced upon the Allied Powvers by President Wilson...
He seid in & telegram dated November 17, 1913, that:

I should not be doing my duty if I did not first
of all record my conviction that the Anglo-French
Declaration of November 8th, in so far as it refers
to Mesopotamia, bids fair to involve us in difficulties
as great as Sir Henry McMahon's early assurances to
the Sharif of Mecca.

It is for the representative of His Majesty's
Government on the spot to make the best of the
situation ereated by this Declaration... The
Declaration involves us here on the spot in
diplomatic insincerities which wve have hitherto
successfully avoided... If the future status of this
country is to be deelt vith sucessfully it must, I am
convinced, be treated independently of Arab problems
elsevhere... The average Arab,.. is eclear-sighted
enough te realize thet he vould lose rather than gain
in nationel unity if we were to relinquish effective
control... The Arebs are content with our occupa-
tion... I, submit, therefore, that our best course 49
is to declare Mesopotamia to be a British Protectorate...

In a minute to this on November 20, 1918, J,E. Shueckburgh,
Assistant Under-Secretary of State for the India Office, wrote...
“the Department is in full sympathy with the views expressed
in Captain Wilson's telegram. It has never felt the smallest
enthusiasm for the 'Arad States’ poliey.“so

The Foreign Office comments were far from agreement with

¥Wilson., Their views were perhaps best expressed by A.J.

Toynbee. He vrote:

48, rnold J. Vilson, ?sﬁthit 19171920, (London: Oxford
University Press, 1 9 P .

491pia., p.104. .

50F.0. 371/3384 doe. 180528.

48
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The Chief Political Officer, Baghdad, is
deliberately making the worst of the situation
ecreated by the Joint Declaration. The Mesopotamian
autliorities are really adamant in their refusal
to take neegfnt of the general policy of His Majesty's
Government.

51p.0. 371/3385 doc. 192144,



CHAPTER IV

FROM PLEBISCITE TO STALEMATE

Arnold T, Wilson's reactions to the Anglo-French
Decleration were, as Philip Ireland vrote, "natural to one
of his background, training, and experience," He was only
thirty-three years old when he assumed the duties of acting
Civil Commissioner, yet he had served for over ten years
as an officer in the Indian Army. His postings in Persia
and in the Persian Gulf had convinced him that the welfare
of India was synonomous with that of the British Empire.
Writings of those political officers who worked for Wilsen
portray him as & man of driving energy and self-confidence,
loyal to his task and to those who assisted him, They also
picture him, as do his own books, as a man vho was confident
in his own ability and, like many who spend their lives in
foreign service, suspiecious of the decisions of superiors
vho vere removed from the problem. Vilsen virtually formulated
British foreign poliey in Irag in 1918-1920; he did not have
the authority to do so, but those people in London vho should
have been responsible were reluctant to make the necessary

dﬁeistona.’z

szln & conversation with the author on December 3, 1961, Elie
Kedourie used the word "afraid to make decisions." He said
thet, in his opinion, & lack of courage on the part of policy
makers in London led to post-war troubles in the Middle East,
In particular, he thought that they let Wilson become the
scapegoat,

39



A telegram Vilsen sent to the India Office, and repeated
to the Foreign Office and Tehran, demonstrated his feelings,
In pert he stated:

Oceupation of Mesopotamia during the war drove a
wedge into the Mahometan (si¢c) world and prevented
e possible Mahometan combination against us in Middle
East, I submit that under peaceful conditions we
should see to it that Mesopotamia remains as a wedge
of British controlled territory, not politically
assimilated to the rest of the Arab Mahometan VWorld,
but remain as far as may be, a model to the rest,

Above arguments, if they are accepted as sound,
tend to emphasize the need for British Protectorate
in Iraq with interest of peace of Europe and Middle
East,..

We shall encounter some opposition from politicians
in Baghdad vhose views are theoretical and who are far
less in touch than wve are with country as a ggolo and
never take its interests in consideration...

Wilson never believed that the Anglo-French Declaration
of November 1918 would be applied literally; but in order to
pay lip service to i$, he promoted the idea of a plebiscite,
confident that it would be favorable to a British administration.
The folloving are excerpts from a series of telegrams he sent
shortly after the Declaration was published:

Educated opinion is being videly canvassed and
considerable interest has been aroused...

I have not yet been authorized authoritatively(sie)
to ascertain public opinion throughout the country...

So far as is possible under the above limitations
to gauge it in Baghdad, educated opinion is running
along the following lines:

33p.0. 371/3386 doe. 206396.
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l, Idea of restoration of Turkish rule is rejected
by all.

2. Idea of Arab Kingdom without British advice,
assistance, or control is likewise put aside.

3. Formal annexation by British Government is desired
by none.

4, Aradb State under an Arab Amir, including Basra,
Baghded, and Mosul is considered an ideal solution
by all,

5. British High Commissioner and British Advisors in
all the Ministries of the Arab State and throughout
the country are unanimously desired,

6., All agree im wishing Sir P. Cox to be the first
incunbent of the post. This feeling is general
to ny personal knovledge all over Iraq, particularly
Neajaf and Karbula and in the country distriects,
where his name carries the greatest weight.

T« A1l agree that opinion of the country must be
taken before any decision can rightly be come to,
and on the clear understanding of which the
inhabitants of the country themselves rely, that
a protectorate will in due course be declared and
that for the present military administration will
continue, 1 am prepared to arrange for this in a
manner consonant with educated opinion and not
inconsistent wvith the maintenance of publiec order,
I do not doubt that our confidenece will be justified
by results.

8. Nome agree as to the Amir to be chosen.

Colonel Wilson won his point.54

Mr. Montagu gave him
permission to c¢omduct a plebiscite. He said that the Declaration
"vas imtended primarily to clear up present situations in Syria

created by Arab suspicions of French intentioms. Ultimate

54Vhon the war ended Wilson moved from Basra to Baghdad as
Acting Civil Commissioner and was promoted to the rank of
Brevt Colonel. It should be remembered that Mesopotami
renained under martial lav during the entire time that
Wilson was in charge of the civil administration.
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status of all Arab provinces will be settled at the peace
conference. This should be understood by all concerned.

In particular ve are anxious to have authoritative
statement of local population in the various areas affected
on the following points:

l. Are they in favor of a single Arab State under

British tutelage from Northern boundary of Mosul
Vilayet to Persian Gulf?

2., In this event do they consider that a titular
Arab head should be placed over this new state?

3. In this event vhom do they prefer as hnw,d‘?s'5

Mr. Montagu went on to state that the India Office
attcchod‘groat importance to obtaining a genuine expression
of local opinion on the three points so that it could be
placed fairly before the vorld as an unbiased pronouncement
by the people of Mesopotamia.

But not everyone was convinced that a plebiscite vas
the correet approach, T.E. Lavrence was adamant that even
a remotely accurate survey of Arab public opinion was
impossible. Those who argued against a poll felt that the
variance of social, religious, racial and economic factors
would preclude any validity whatsoever,

Colonel Wilson wust have remsoned that a poll so soon after
the departure of the Turks would surely be favorable to the
British administration. On the other hand, if the people were

35371/5227 doe. 7459.
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carefully selected, no matter how small a percentage of the
total population wvas represented, a vote of publiec confidence
would be a valuable tool in the hands of the English peace
delegation in Paris., I4 would at least be justification for
proceeding with the establishment of a British administration

ad interim.

In his instructions to his political officers who
would take the poll, Colonel Wilson took no chances on an
unfavorable verdiet. The knstructions were in part:

You should... ascertain... vhat the tremnd of publiec
opinion is likely to be, and inform me accordingly.

When public opinion appears likely, under the
guidance of the persons you have consulted, to take
a definitely satisfactory line, you are authorized
to convene an assembly of leading notables and Shaikhs
with a viev to placing before them the above questions,
informing them that their answers will be communicated
to me for submission to government, Vhen publie
opinion appears likely to be sharply divided or in the
unlikely event of its being unfavorable, you should
defer holding a meeting and refer to me for instrue-
tions.

In such cases, it may be anticipated that the
favorable verdict of neighboring distriets will tend
to have a favorable effect in forming public opinion.

When opinion is favorable it is desirable *z should
be reduced and signed by as many as possible.

When the text of his instructions reached London, even
Colonmel Wilson's friends in the India Office were angry.
J.E., Shuckburgh, usually a supporter of Wilson's methods,
wvrote that Wilson's phrase about a definitely satisfactory

SGTho instruetions and all minutes are found in India Office

Records (hereafter referred to as 10) file 4722, part 1, 1918,
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line wvas "not a happy one" - and that the whole paragraph
gave itoo much the impression of an attempt to manipulate
public opinion, Shuckburgh made excuse for Wilson because
he was in Mesopotamia and therefore the best qualified to
j\l.dg.-

Lord Hardinge, the Permanent Under-Secretary of State,
was not so charitable; he said that he could not defend
Colonel VWilson quite to the extent proposed by Mr., Shuckburgh.
He felt that Yilson's instructions were very unvise in a
document of the kind, and that he was not sure but that
certain opinions should be disregarded.

At the Foreign Office the minutes were even less
restrained, J.A.C. Tilley composed a letter to the India
Office for Lord Curzom. In it he said:

Lord Curszon is of the opinion that (Colonel Wilson's)
memorandum (is) not caleculated to elicit an expression
of public opiniomn vhich can be accepted as fulfilling
these conditions... ¥e desire respectfully to point
out that his action was not in agreement with the
orders of His Majesty's Government vhig’ it was
incumbent upon Colonel Vilson to obey.

The Inter-Departwental Committee of the Cahinot?shov-vor,
vas s0 impressed vith even the fragmentary results, that an

announcenent vas made on 16 January that decisions regarding

>Trbig.
% uring the Var Lord Asquith had formed the Eastern Committee

of the Var Cabinet to deal vith exelusive Middle Eastern
mattiers; in the post-war cabinet the Interdepartmental
Connittee performed the same function,



45

Mosul, Paghdad and Basra were then being determined, but

thaet all reports received thus far indicated that there

vould be an Arab State in whiech the help of a great European
Power would be indispensible and that if, under the prineiples
of self-determination the inhabitants wanted Britain, she
vouli aecept. The comnittee also said that all reports
indicated a "universal repugnance" to the King of Hejaz as
temporal lOVtroign.sg

Colonel Wilson showed nmo signs of slowing the process
of establishing a British administration superimposed over
the farcical local councils. In the spacious and affluent
days before the war England had been able to administer
colonies on a lov scale budget acceptable to the govermment
at homej but England after Vorld War I was in tight finanecial
straits, and all policy had to be considered in terms of
cost,

Only Cromer in Egypt had been able to make colonial
administration largely self-supporting. Wilson's administra-
tion of post-war Mesopotamia was extremely costly. The
majority of the jobs vere held by British or Indian hands.

More and more of the military vere detailed to administrative
Jobs., It will be seen later that of the 80,000 troops in
Iraq in 1920, only 25,000 were available for military use

3919. 4722 part 1, 1918,
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vhen the rebellion broke out in summer of that year,
At this stage, no one in England resented Colonel Vilson
nor even his administration per se; it was the amount of
money being spent which aroused the cost-conscious electorate
vho responded to every charge of government extravagance,
The ¥ar O0ffice sent Sir John Hewett, an old Foreign Service
hand to determine whether military funds or facilities had
been or vere being used for long~range civilion benefits.
Wilson was angry with the intrusion, but he cooperated with
Hewett; the resultant report was harmless enough and accomplished

60

little one way or the other It did not deter Colonel ¥ilson,

vho continued recruiting and expanding; his policy was to employ
as many British nationals as posniblo.61
An example of Colonel Vilson's "expansionist" tendencies
wvas his decision to send a political officer to the town of
Dair Ez Zor far up the Euphrates. Dair was in the French
sphere of influence aceording to the Sykes-Picot Agreement,
but this did not deter the civil commissioner. In a telegram
to the India Office Wilson said that the entire districts of
Dair Ez Zor and Albu Kamal had applied for a Politieal Officer

to be dispatched to them. After listing the commercial values

6Ostr John Hewitt, rt ete. The report and s commentary wvere
published in The %inoi, 31 Dee. 1918, p.l0.

618.0 appendix C. A chart shoving the number and nationalities
of those employed in the eivil sdministration,
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of these places, Wilson wvrote that he was sending an
especially qualified young officer to proceed to Albu Kamal
with orders to continue to Dair if possible in order to take
over district administration.

The India O0ffice was apprehensive and advised the
Forelgn Office ithat they were reluctant to authorize the
action and that the secting civil commissioner had been
instructed on November 5, 1918, to confine his activities
to the British Lone described in the Sykes-Picot Agreement,
Yet, on 16 Decenber, the India (ffice telegraphed peraission
to send the Political Officer to Dair Ez Zor, The Foreign
Office reaction wvas typified by Mr, Kidston in a memo to Lord
Curzom., "Wilson has gained his point in sending a politiecal
officer inte the French aphorc."Gz

Vilson's policy of sending politieal officers to every
section of Mesopotamia regardless of ethnic grouping alse
involved him in & controversy with Mr, A. J. Toynbee, who
wvas then a political assistant in the Foreign Office. Wilson
considered Kurdistan as an integral part of Mesopotamia despite
the etihnie difference betveen Kurd and Arab. Toynbee argued
that a separate Kurdistan was the only practical solution for
goveraing Mesopotamia, preferably under a different mandatory

power, He wrotes

62p 0. 371/3384 doe. 206398,
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¥Vilson's proposal to annex the settled area
directly to Iraq evidently runs contrary to Kurdish
aspirations, and is one among many indications of
the difficulty the British authorities in Mesopotamia
find in adapting themselves zg the general poliey
of His Majesty's Government,
Toynbee made a further distinction between Kurds in the high
mountainous area and those of the semi-settled plain., He
believed both should be separate from southern Kurdistan
vhich contained mostly Arabs, and religious and raciasl
minorities including the Assyrians,
Wilson vas never one to beat a hasty retreat. Taking
up the issue with Toynbee he stated in a later telegram:
This course [amnexing all of Kurdistan/ will save
His Majesty's Government, the Kurds, and the
representatives of His Majesty's Government on the
spot from being rushed with a premature decision on

subjects in regard to which local opinion is still
uninforned.

I vould like consent of Kurdish inhabitants to be
included therein to be tacitly assumed...

Toynbee wrote on 12 December that "It may fairly be
said that the CPO /Chief political officer/ is apt to consider
peliey from en exclusiwvely Mesopotamien point of view, and to
ignore our interests im the Hejaz and Syriu."64 Toynbee
recommended that the whole file on the subject be sent on to

the Peace Conference.

835.0. 371/3385 doe. 195535.

%vilsom, A Clash of Loyalties, op. eit., p.129.
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The divergence of opinion between the Foreign Office
and the India Office as the year 1918 ended is typified
by an exchange between Mr, Toynbee and Sir Arthur Hirtzell.
Toynbee maintained that Britain had a debt to King Husain
and that encouraging the Pan-Arab movement was the best
way to discourage Pan-Islamism,

Hirtzell, speaking for the India Office, denied that
England had any debt to Husain or that there had been any
Arab movement since the war, The movement was now divided
into many smaller ones and that to encourage any one was to
encourage Pan-Islamism, He said:

It is useless to pretend that Islam is not

essentinlly a political force; it is, moreover,
a supra~-national pelitical force...

But in normal times the view of the India Office
and of the government of India has been that a
strong Arab State, if it were conceivable, vggld
be a greater danger than the Ottoman Empire.

65p.0. 371/3386 doc. 206913,



Stalemate

For British foreign policy in general, and its poliey
towards Mesopotamia in particular, the year 1919 was a year
of Stalemate. The peace conference opened on January 18th
and the by-vord of the political officers in London vas
"wait until the peace conference decides."

Faisal and the French, armed with British wartime
pledges, came to claim their share of the war spoils, Britain
no longer considered the Sykes-Picot treaty binding; she also
recognized that there was vide variance between His Majesty's
Government and King Husain as to vhat exactly had been
promised in the MeMahon correspondence., By her reassurance
to King Husain in January, 1918 and the "Declaration to the
Seven" made in Cairo in May of the same year, Britain had
served notice that these differences would be reconsidered
and reinterpreted. Lloyd George expected that with the help
of President Vilson at the conference and the good faith shown
by France in signing the Declaration on November 8th, he could
resolve the differences vith France and repay Britain's debt
to the Arabs. It vas with this expectation that Britain
placed her Eastern policy in abeyance,

At the India Office Mr, Shuckburgh wrote in a minute

dated January 4th: "It is generally agreed that ve must not

50
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go through the officiml pantonine known as 'declaring a
protectorate’; but it is not clear that this desirability
need limit to any appreciable extent the practical control
ve are to exercise over Mesopotamian affnirl.66
Later, in response to several telegrams from Wilson
vhieh gave partial results of ithe plebiscite, Shuckburgh
vrote that he recognized that the results were "inconeclusive.,.
but is not the vhole guestion really one of finding a decent
pretext for letting us go our way, of course on the under-
standing thet our ultimate goal must be one of Mesopotamian
sntonong."67
In the draft of this same telegram Shuckburgh made &
notation which evidenced a lack of frankness on the part of
the India Office toward Vilson. It was, at the same time,
an indication that the Indie Office felt it necessary "to
be careful” with Wilson, The occasion for Shuckburgh's
narginal note was a sentence to the effect that nationalist
feeling wvas strong in Baghdad, vhile separatist tendencies
end a predileetion for local government prevailed in other
parts of Mesopotamia, Shuckburgh struck out sentences and
vrote "I'm afraid Wilson will think we are already afraid

of Baghdad "nationalists'-- as we are afraid of 'nationalists’

almost everyvhere else in the world., VWe must be careful not

671!1;., tels., No. 10T6 and 1077, dated 26 January.
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to prejudice Wilson's decisions in these mstttru."s

Meanvhile the peace conference had not gone well, After
four months Britein was squarely in the middle between
irreconcilable demands by the French and by Faisal., The
French were adamant, as well as confident, that Britain
would have to decide in favor of her European ally. Faisal
also depended upon Britain, but only because he had no
alternative,

France had reason to be confident; she knew Britain
vanted certain concessions in both Mesopotamia znd Palestine.
Clemenceau had agreed to British occupation of the Mosul
district, with its proven oil deposits and to modification
of the territorial limits of Palestine which had been earmarked
as the "national home for the Jews." Later, Clemenceau was
careful to point out that Britain could not refuse to permit
France to do in her zome exaetly what Britein proposed to do
in hers, that is, establish a protectorate.

A.T. Wilson was called to Paris in February 1919 to
present his plan for forming a constitution in Iraq in keeping
vith the terms of the Anglo-Fremch agreement., Vhile there
he met with Balfour, Lloyd George, Edwin Montagu and Sir
Henry Wilson, Chief of the Imperial General Staff, Miss

Gertrude Bell, Wilson's very able advisor on Arab affairs was

681114,
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also in Paris at the time and attended the meetings. Later
Arnold V¥ilson went on to London and met Lord Curzon and
other members of the Foreign Office staff. He also had an
sudience with King George und was given the opportunity to
present his views to the Inter Departmental Committee for
Eastern Lf!airl.69

Wilson presented optomistiec reports concerning his
plebiscite and received the permission of the committee to
proceed vith his plans for dividing Mesopotamia into five
divisions, all coming under Baghdad for administration., He
vas also authorized to appoint divisional and provineial
couneils in each of the divisions., VWilson planned to appoint
those men from the educated and enlightened class.

It is ironic that at the very moment Colomnel VWilson
vas telling the committee inm London about the placid situation
in Mesopotemia and how willing the Iraqis were to be governed
by Britain, there were ominous pelitical rumblings in Baghdad.
Deputations of the same notables for whom Wilsom showed such
preference were petitioning for an increased share in the
government of Iraq. In addition, several shooting incidents
had occurred in Kurdistan, Kt. Colonel E.B., Howell, Wilson's

assistant, cabled him in London that public opinion was

69Th£l wvas formerly the Eastern Committee of the War Cabinet.
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responding to Turkish propaganda and might easily assume
an anti-British spirii. He asked Wilson "to ascertain the
Lengths to vhich His Majesty's Government was prepared to
go and to have a definite program in your pocket vhen you
roturn."To

The cable arrived the day after Wilson had left London
for Baghdad., It is not likely that the warnings of trouble
in Baghdad wvould have deterred Colonel Wilson, As it was,
the contents were forvarded to Lord Allenby in Cairo who
gave the message to Wilson enroute back to Baghdad, VWilson
never acknovledged the cable; if it had arrived while VWilson
vas in London it may have made a difference with the members
of the commitiee and may have altered their decision to give
Colonel ¥Wilson what amounted to a carte blanche.

Wilson had said to the committee in London:

I an of opinion that the legitimate demand for
active participation in actual government and
administration can best be met not by creating
central legislative and deliberative counecils, but
by giving carefully selected Arabs of good birth
and education belonging to Iraq by birth from the
very outset po-%tions of executive and administrative
responsibility,’1
The Divisions which Wilson planned were Basra, Baghdad,

Euphrates, (to include Dair Ez Zor), Mosul, and Kurdistan.

The divisional councils were to be composed of members

T0pp0 PO 371/4145 doc. 66448,
"ilson Clash of Loyslties, op. eit., p.118.
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selected by committees which were in turn appointed by
Colonel VWilson, His proposal wvas in lieu of a constitutional
arrangenent which had been earlier suggested by the Foreign
Office.

Although the councils were Wilson's own idea he never
completed their formation. As long as five méenths after he
returned from London he replied to a query from Lendon that
only two had been established, in Basra and Baghdad, and that
these had little active function. This should have indicated
that Colonel Vilson was a determined individual who was
perfectly capable of charting his own course in spite of
contrary instructions from a higher authority. The minutes
in the Foreign Office show that people there were well aware
of this; it now began to show plainly in the minutes of the
Eastern Conmittee meobings as wvell,

The reason Wilson did not rush ahead with forming councils
and attempiing to have them serve some political function was
one vhich vould plague him thereafter and which would be a
large comntributing factor to the insurrections of 1920=<the
political propaganda and anti-British agitation of the Al Ahd
(the Covenant) soeiety in Syria, Serving Amir Faisal in his
infant government in Damascus were a group of Mesopotamian
officers vho vere vociferous in their demands that Colonel
Wilsoen should turn over some responsibilities to Arabs. Among
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these officers were many vho had defected from the Turkish
side and had joined Faisal's Arab Revolt vhich performed
such valuable service for the British after 1916, Most of
them had been officers or non-commissioned officers in the
Turkish Army, and some were from prominent Mesopotamian
femilies.’® The Iraqi members had taken an oath vhile
Faisal was beseiging Maan (nov southern Jordan) that they
would vwork for Mesopotamian independence. The Al Ahd had
actually been organized in Constantinople to combat the
Turks prior to 1908, It died out wvhen the Young Turks were
successful in overthrowing the Sultan, but became active
again in Cairo just prior to the war.

The demands of these men for immediate complete
independence unnerved Colonel Wilson. He guessed that the
enasculated councils which he had deseribed to the Inter-
departmental Committee might provide a sounding board for
the nationalist demands of this extremist organization,

Immediately after the war most of the Arab officers
vith Faisal were pro-British; they realized that Mesopotamia

would require financial and techniecal help after the war,

721hor¢ wvere probably more than 300 of these officers. A

eriticism by Wilson's administration was that less than
ten vere actually from Baghdad although they called
themselves the Baghdadi officers, Many were members

of influential Iragqi tribes, a fact which operated against
the British later, during the tribal revolt.
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and like most Arebs felt that Britain would be more acceptable
than France as a protector, They also felt close to the
British because Faisal's army was directly under General
Allenby in the Palestine Campaign and had been well treated

by him., Those British officers such as Lavrence, Cornwallis
and Young who advised the Arab Army during the war did a great
deal to win over the lraqi officers.

Faisal sent a leiter to Genersl Allenby in Caire, setting
forth the demands of his Baghdadi Officers and pointing out
that Britein was taking tco long in turning over the
administration to the Arabs, Faisal realized the futility
of the pesce conference as far as Arab aspirations were
con¢ erned and he asked that the British show good faith by
granting some autonomy in Mesopotamia. He suggested that
the British discuss the definition of the future constitution
vith the Iraqi notables in order to "show the Arabs that
their aspirations are 4o be realized and dissipate all doubts
in their minds as to the intentions of Great Britain.'73

The Arabs had reason to be eynical. The idealistie
prineiples vhich mooted from L1917 on, concerning self-
deternination with supervision by an advanced European State
vere to them ambiguous and open to suspicion. The new notices
vert not clear to the mations vho propounded them let alone

to the Arabs who vere jist emerging from four centuries of

T3g0 171/4181 doec. 89871,
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Ottoman domination. A disturbing and not too distant

memory was that of the European seizure of Arab North

Africa, The "temporary occupation" of Egypt whiech began

in 1882 had become permanent when a protectorate was declared
in 1914, a history hardly reassuring to the Arabs, Now that
the Turk was gone there were indications that the British
had little intention of turning over even a share in the
government in the other Arab countries,

Shortly after Faisal's letter to Allenby a petition
signed by three prominent members of the Al Ahd was forwarded
to Cairo by Major Brayne, the British Liasion Officer at
Aleppo, The officers vho signed were Jaafar al Askari, Mevhed
Djevdet, and Naji Suweidi. The petition requested that
Britain keep its promise of November 8, 1918, and that it
release certain Iraqis who had been deported by Colonel Wilson
and allov them to return to their own country.

Mgjor Hubert Young, now at the Foreign Office had served
with #any of these Iraqi officers vhile he was a wartime
advisor with Faisal, He and others such as Colonel Lawrence
had prevailed upon Colonel Wilson, while he was in Paris, to
agree to the return of the Iraqi officers to Mesopotamia,
After ¥ilson's departure from Paris, Lawrence forwarded a
letter giving His Majesty's Government's permission for their
return, The letter went through Gemeral Clayton, in Cairo,
to Faisal. In part the message read that: "His Majesty's
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Government agrees to your officers going to Mesopotamia,
where they may say what they like so long as it is not
contrary to police regulutions.J4

Now, less than two months later, Colomnel ¥ilson had
changed his mind, VWilson's telegrams contended that the
Baghdadi officers vere responsible for anti-British agitation
in Mesopotamia, although he could not produce evidence that
this was true vhen he wvas asked to do so by the India Office.
In one telegram Wilson said that the "notables say not to
have any dealings vwith Baghdadi officers who are totally out
of sympathy with present inhabitants of Baghdad,..

“I concur with their (the notables) views and recommend
that General Officer Commanding, Egyptian Forces, be asked
to inform them that they cannot be permitted at present to
return teo this eountry.'75

Colonel V¥Wilson never again acquiesed to the Baghdadi
officers' coming to Iraq although they often crossed the
border in disguise and travelled extensively. Hubert Young
commented that it vas pathetic that these men who had fought
side by side with the British were nov "forced to sneak into
their ovn country.”

The Baghdadi officers were not consulted in VWilson's

plebiscite and they rapidly became the main cause of disturbance

7450 371/4145 doc. 76018, 79634.
"1bia.
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vithin Iragq. Their propagande campaign gained momentum as the
year vore on., They sav that Faisal's chances of setting up a
government in Syria were becoming more remote, and so was any
c¢chance they themselves had for advancement in Syria. Their
oyposition was formidable; they wvere well-organized; they had

76 and they were able to communicate their

2 source of income;
vievs to London and Paris through Faisal and the British officers
in Syria, many of whom vere in sympathy with the Baghdadi group.
Among them were Colomel Cornwallis, Colonel Ealing, Major Shayne
and, of course Colomnel Lavrence to name just a few, All of them
vexe arabists vho had been with Faisel in the war or had been
nembers of British Intelligence in Caire. At that time none of

then was in a more influential position than Major Hubert Young,

vho had been posted to the Foreign Office in January 1919.77

T€yronically they were paid by the British themselves, Vilson
cited many cases where Baghdedi officers brought funds into
Mesopotamia from Syria for distribution to anti-British tribes,
Zeine eites a specific example of a Faisal contribution in

3 e for Independence . cit., p.145.

77A.J. Toynbee had been sent to Paris in order to accompany
the planned International Commission to Syria. Young was a
capable replacement and no less vehement in his opposition
to Colonel Vilson's tacties in Mesopotamia. He had spent
three years in the Middle East and was the only British
officer employed in an administrative capacity under the
politiceal and later under the military authorities in Mesopotamia.
He was also on the Staff of Sharif Faisal and later under General
Allenby's direct orders in Syria. TYoung's posting was indicative
of the mood of the Foreign 0ffice at the turn of the year 1919.
He wvas by all odds, a "Sharifian" and his recommendations were
alvays vell constructed and well considered by Lord Curszon,
Young vas also secretary to the Inter<Departimental Committee.
His opposition to the British administration in Mesopotamia
bardened as the year 1919 passed and in 1920 he vas instrumental
fin changing British policy there,
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An example of how the Baghdadi officers influenced the
Middle Eastern situation can be seen in connedtion with the
scuitling of the International Peace Commission which had
been proposed by President Wilson., The intent was for the

Commission to survey the wishes of the people of Syria as

78

to their own desires concerning imdependence. The Baghdadis

in Damascus assumed that the Commission would go to Mesopotamia
and Palestine as well. Wilson, im a telegram dated 4 June,

suids

I have received copies of letters circulated
broadeast by Yasin Pasha, Chief of General Staff
of the Arab Army in Syria, to tribal Chiefs in
Mesopotamia announcing impending arrival of
International Commission and calling on the
recipients of letters to canvas public and make
then demand complete independence as one nation,
with the assistance, if needed, of a single
eivilized power. Letter ends with call to all
sects and creeds to unite to cttai9 national
smbitions on this unique occasion,.??

r‘?hc Commission wvhich wvas an American proposal never

naterialized because of French opposition, The British
vere willing to go along and nominated a delegation but
the plan was scuttled by the French and Italians. The
American "King-Crane" commission went to Syria and
Yalestine to sound out opinions. Its findings and
recommendations vere never seriously considered. The
commission apparently failed to satisfy anyone and
should have indicated that a valid plebiscite was well-
nigh impossible in the Middle East at that time.

T950 371/4181 doe. 91372.
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The India Office in forwarding Wilson's telegram added
that Faisal's subsidy was being used to finance anti-British
tendencies and that the British should use the subsidy as a
means of prosinrlng him., Mr, Montagu, Secretary of State
for India, in forwarding the telegram stated that the proposed
international commission wvas dangerous and that British
officers stationed in Syria were not informed of His Majesty's
Government policy in Mesopotamia, Montagu suggested that
they should be so instructed and also directed to discourage
"aspirations for the immediate establishment of an uncontrolled
Arab government in that eountry.ao

In a later message Montagu protested "that His Majesty's
Government can seriously contemplate presenting to the
inhabitants of Mesopotamia the appearance of subuitting their
policy and administration im this country to the inquisition
of any other Power whatisoever, as if admitting that the vote
[Vilson's plebiscite/ which has already been cast in favor
of a British Mandate is susceptable of revision by outside
Povora.'al

In this same letter Monmtagu spoke of the nationalist
agitation of Sharifian agents which has already necessitated

military operations in southern Kurdistan and seems likely

%01bid.
811p4a. doe. 91374,



63

to involve serious trouble in Iraq also.

The British committed a second serious error in its
administration of Mesopotamia. The first had been the
plebiscite itself which provided e false basis for British
policy concerning Mesopotamia. The second was the decision
to limit the plebiscite and the councils to the Shaikhs and
notables so that nationalist elements such as the Baghdadi

82 Their exclusion robbed the

officers wvere excluded.
administration of a potential source of political talent

vhiech instead became a united end dangerous enemy. The

Turkish ﬁolioy had been to divide the Shaikhs and keep them
veak and quarreling among themselves, totally subservient

to the central administration. The British on the other hand
selected the leading tribal candidates and supported them by
vhatever means possible in exchange for their allegiance.

The Shaikhs were taken by surprise vhen the British suddenly
asked for their ideas in 1918 about how they themselves should
be governed., In addition, many of them wvere apprehensive about
a Turkish return, yet did not vant to insult the British who

represented the government in power. Men like Nuri Sa'id,

Yasin Pasha, Naji Bey Es Sweidi, Jafar al-Askari, were

szrhc policy to execute the adaministration through the leading
Shaikhs was an adaptation of that developed by Sir Robert
Sandeman in Baluchistan in 1875. For a detailed deseription
of the Sandeman Plan, see reference cited in Ireland, op. git.,

p.% f£n.



determined to be part of the government of Mesopotamia;
until after 1920 their part vas one of clandestine and

undermining agitation,



CHAPTER V

INDECISION CONTINUED

For Mesopotamia the last half of the year 1919 was-
like the first~ a time of indecision, British policy remained
unchanged except for two developments; a stiffening of epposition
to Colonel Wilson in the India Office and the Foreign Office,
and British's decision to abandon FPaisal,

Opposition to Armnold J, Wilson

The scting civil commissioner was called to Paris and
London in the spring of 1919 to discuss plans for a constitu-
tion and some means to settle the Kurdish problem in Mesopotamia.
It bas been noted that Mr, Toynbee disagreed vehemently with
Colonel Wilson regarding the incorporation of Kurdistan into
the Mesopotamian Hmdsto.” Toynbee arranged that the guestion
be referred to the Interdepartmental Gommittee which occasioned
the summoning of Vilsenm,

In December 1918 Wilson had signed an agreement with
Shaikh Mahmud, a prominent Kurdish tribal leader, By the
terms of the agreement Britain recognized Mahmud's right te
lead a confederation of Kurdish tribes in Mesopotamia and
promised the "moral support of the British Government in
controlling" almost all of Iraqi Kurdistan from the Greater

835¢e Chapter IV, Supra.
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Zab to the Diyala River. It further promised British assistance
and protection to any tribe (other than those from Persia) vho

freely accepted the leadership of Shaikh Hahnud.84

This was
Colonel Wilson's method of establishing British claim to an
area vhose boundaries had never been clearly delineated. The
border between Persia and Mesopotamia had for centuries been
disputed by the Persiamns and Turks-- the Kurdish tribes ignored
the boundary except when it was necessary to seek refuge on
one side or another.

Mahmud proved an extremely poor choice; many of the
Kurdish tribes vould have nothing to do with him. A man of
veak, if not unstable, mental makeup, Mahmud became incensed
because the British would not enforce his authority over the
recaleitrant tribes and because the British vould not accept
the fealty of the tribes from Persian Kurdistan. Mahmud
attacked Sulaymania on May 20, 1919, captured the town and
took eight British officers as hostages. Mahmud's insurrection
could easily have become a general uprising.

A month earlier a group of dissident Kurds had murdered
Captain Pearson, a political officer posted at Zukka. Pearson
vas killed on April 4 in a season vhen it was impossible to
send a punitive expedition because the passes were still
blocked with snow. The snow was the cause but a related
reason was that the military could not find adequate transport
for the arduous trek inte the northern high mountains. V¥hen

s‘iilaon, Loyalties op. eit., p.129.
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¥ilson heard the news of Pearson's death he was arguing
in the committee against Toynbee's recommendation for an
independent Kurdistan, Wilson returned to Baghdad on May 10
80 he wvas in Iraq vhen Mahmud defected. He should have
ascertained several facts from the attack: first, the looseness
of Britain's hold on the northern tribes and secondly, the
difficulty of dealing with them by military force. Wilson,
although on good terms with General MacMunn, the general
officer commanding the Mesopotamian force, was angry because
the military could not meke their dispositions to suit the
dispersed location of the political officers. The hostages
from Sulaymania vere not rescued until June 17 and then
oenly after severe fighting.

Throughout the summer, tribal defections were widespread
in the nerthj yet the c¢civil commissioner refused to pull
in his outposts. Two months after Pearson's death, Captain
Villey was sent as political officer to Amadiyya accompanied
by Captain H. MacDonald and Sapper R, Tramp. Amadiyya is
over 300 miles from Baghdad, in the most inaccessible part
of Iraq. Considering the recent murders, the dispateh of
these officers without adequate protection was a tragic error
in judgment. Their instructions were to raise and equip
loeal gendarmes, The A‘gig,siflurful of infringement upon

8’Lueal Kurdish chieftain, usually tribal as opposed to

village or town leader,
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their rights, conspired to murder the officers and their
native non-commissioned guards. On July 14 the plan was
carried out. The military was able to send a punitive force
right awvay because the summer scason alloved easier passage .
The eriminals were punished and other attempts to incite the
tribes were put down throughout August,

The murder of the officers in Amadiyyas ereated a furor
in England, VW¥ilson was held responsible and was reprimanded
by the India Office for the dispateh of the officers, although
he claimed that Colomel Gregson, his assistant, did it vithout
his knovledge. The facts were that the military had withdrawn
its force from Amediyys in May over Colonel Wilson's strong
objections so he was well aware that the area was not protected.
Furthermore, he corresponded with Colonel Leachman snd Captain
Willey after the officers were sent so he knew they were
actually in the area. After their murder, Wilson accepted
responsibility for their retemtion in Amadiyya, but claimed
that he did not send them there. The India Office blamed Sir
Arnold for his poor judgment im the matter,

The incident slienated even those in the India Office
vho had been supporters of Colomel Vilson's policies—— Arthur
Hirtzell's notes showed a hardening of his own opinion towards
Colonel Vilson, Mr. Momtagu was more guaried in his eriticisms,
but he vas never as strong after this in his defense of Colonel

Wilson as he had beem in the past. The rapport between Wilson
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and Montagu diminished after this time; VWilson later wrote
that Mr. Montagu was unable to deal with Mesopotamia either
in the House or elsewhere. Montagu claimed, according to
Wilson, that he was only thinking of cabinet solidarity and
he did not want to provoke Lord Curzon vho, because of his
long and distinguished experience in the East, was considered
the authority on that urot.86
Kknother incident which alienated Wilson's friends in
the India Office was vhen he asked them to endorse as official
policy a speech he had made in Baghdad. In spite of repeated
instructions from Londom to aveid any statement of policy
vhich would prejudge decisions regarding the mandate, Wilson
made such a statement of policy in an after dinner speech,
Over a month later he telegrephed to the India Offices "I .
should be glad to knov if speech made by me on Kuji Kutbak
(31 May 1919) (copies sent to you on 10 June) met with the
approval of His Majesty's Govornnont.aT
Briefly, the speech deseribed the Arab role in the
nev government as only advisory. He said that any complicated
matter would have to be solved by British persomnel. Wilson

concluded by susying that all positions requiring expert
direction and contreol would be filled by British officers.

86yi1s0m, AClash of lovalties 9p. git., p.313. Curzon had
wiitton e only definitive works on Porsia up to that
time.

8710. Fi1e 4228, part 2.



70

Arthur Hirtzell took exception, stating that: "Colonel
Wilson has never realized that he has got to have an Arab
State... It is unusual for His Majesty's Government to be
asked to approve after dinner speeches—— after delivery--
and [ do not think we ought to tie ourselves to every phrase...
I think our reply to Colonel Wilson should be very o.utioul.'sa

J.E, Shuckburgh, vho had been the most stalwart in his
defense of Wilson, wrote on September 9 in a note to Mr, Montagu
vhat should have been obvious advice in 1919 and certainly
less painful than it would be in 1920

¥e must either govern Mesopotamia or not govern it.

There is no yia medis that I can see., Faisal and his

friends (not all of them Arabs) want us not to govern

it. They may be right, but if we decide mot to govern,

ve ought at least to inform our eivil commissioner of

our decision, and let him meke his dispositions

accordingly.59

¥hen he saw Shuckburgh's minute, A.H. Hobbes, Assistant
Secretary of State for India, wrote that he "thought everyone
knev that ve are not going to "govern" Mesopotamia in the
sense in which I understand Mr. Shuckburgh to use the vord
and my complaint against Colonel Wilson (vhose achievements
for the best I fully comprehend) is that he dees not seem to

comprebend the fact, although he has been here, and seen,
and heard for hill.lf."go

“%y‘g. This is another instance of the India Office being
caubious” with Colonel Wilson., Vilson vas a subordinate,
dependent upon Vhitehall to tell vhat His Majesty's
Government policy was, Had Hirtzell told Colonmel ¥ilsen
that he had exceeded his authority, the effect would have

agbenutlttod everyone, ineluding Colonel ¥Wilson,

i,
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Shuckburgh withdrew a little after that and wrote that
he did not want "to continue to give Wilson quite the same
latitude as he enjoyed during the early stages of his post,
but as much a free hand as possible in administrative matters—-
certainly not anything in the nature of a general pledgo."gl
The Foreign Office had long opposed Colonel VWilson's
policies so their comments on his after dinner speech were
universally critical of Wilson. VWhat antagonized the Foreign
Office more during this period vas ¥Wilson's harping against
Faisal nand the Baghdadi officers, He wrote one telegram
after another saying thet Paisal was behind the attempt to
orgsnize opposition to the British rule in Mesopotamia. The
personnel in the Foreign 0ffice were pro-Sharifian and there
vas a good deal of sympathy for the Iraqi officers who were
vith Faisal, Colonel ¥Wilson was convinced that Faisal was
not only avare of their activities but encouraged and financed

tho-.ga

91!!! .

92ynere is no doubs that Faisal gave money to the Baghdadi's
but there is no evidence that he intended it for use
against the British, The money was most often distributed
among the tribes where it was very much needed. When
it vas used to bribe and buy arms PFaisal was only indirectly
responsible. Letters on file at the PO from Paisal in 1919

are very believable. Also see Young, The Independent Arab,

(Londons John Murray, 1933), p.286.
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An incident which could have alleviated the controversy
between Vilson and the Al Ahd was the arrival in Baghdad in
early June 1919 of Naji Beg Suweidi, a prominent Baghdadi
O0fficer from Damascus,

The eircumstances of his coming are not explainedy it
is probable that Colonel Wilson had invited him when the two
talked in Damascus vhen Vilson stopped on his journey to Paris
in March, 1919. The Sueidi family was prominent in Baghdad.
Jusuf Effendi, Naji's father, had been a nationalist agitator
under the Turks and vas deported to Constantinople for his
activities, Neji's arrival in Baghdad was an opportunity to
show good faith with the Damascus group and, at the same
time, provide a valuable propaganda motice in London,

Naji vas appointed as advisor to the military governor
with a substantial salary, but he stayed in the position
only a month, On July 14 he resigned abruptly and returned
to Damascus giving no reason for his action. Miss B;ll said
that he resigned because his attempts to suggest administrative
improvements were rejected, He had proposed that a muniecipal
committee to govern Baghdad be elected by universal suffrage,
His comments had not been asked for and Colonel Vilson ignored
them., Wilson instead appointed a committee under the British
judicial advisor consisting of two British Officers, four
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Baghdadi notables, including Naji, and an Arab loerotnry.93
Vhile Naji was in Baghdad, his essociates in Damascus
bad contacted General Allenby in Cairo and presented their
demands for the establishment of a purely national ecivil
government in Mesopotamia before the present Western
bureaueratic system erystallized. Allenby forwarded the
letter to the Foreign Office who sent it on to the India
Office., After contacting Colonel Wilsom, Mr, Montagu sent
a long reply to the Foreign Office referring to the
"memorialists" demands, (The referemce was to the seven
Syriens who had presented similar demands in April, 1917).
After an explanation that Britain could not prejudge the peace
econference, Montagu said that Colomel VWilson would allow
certain responsible Baghdadis to return to Iraq and take
part in the government. He cited Naji Beg's appointment
as proof that "His M:jesty's Government afforded the Arabs of
proven character and ability full scope for the exercise of
their talents-—even though Naji Beg has, greatly to our regret,
thought it necessary to ro-ign."94
Naji Beg returned to his former position as military
governor of Aleppo. He said years later, vhen he was a member
of the Ireqi Cabinet under Nuri Sa'id, that he had been sent
by the Al Ahd to see the true situation in Baghdad.

per1, 1 istretion, op. git., p.131,

%450 371/4180 doe. 8169 and 8170.
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Commenting on Mr., Montagu's letter, Hubert Young said
that he was not surprised that Naji Beg was "aghast at the
eriental bureaucracy he found in the military governor's
office. I know that office nnd I know Naji Beg."

It vas in July that Nuri Sa'id, chief aide-de-camp to
Faisal, had the first opportunity to propose the "Greater Syria
Scheme" vhich he would continue to promote until his death in
1958, In a long memorandum to the Foreign Office he described
his plan for a union or federation of geographiec Syria (including
Palestine and Lebanon), and Mesopotamia. Emir Faisal gave the
memorandum to Lord Balfour in Paris at the Peace Conferencej
Balfour forwarded it to Curzon in England. Major Young noted
on the memorandum for the atiention of Lord Curzon"... if the
French are given a mandate for Syria we must anticipate
permanent friction between them and the Arabs, the Arabs and

ourselves, and most ominous of all, ourselves and the Fronoh."gs

po 371/4181 doe. 102396.



Abandonment of Faisal

On September 13, 1919, Mr, Lloyd George and Clemenceau
agreed that British troops would be withdrawvn from Syria and
Cilieia, the move to be completed by November 1st, By so
doing Britain extricated herself from the "Syrian Question.”
Unable to arbitrate the stalemate between France and Faisal,
Lloyd George simply withdrew from the matter.

The summer had been a frustrating period for Lloyd
George: the situation was obviously deteriorating in
Mesopotamia; the Bolshevik threat wvas groving in Persiaj; there
had been rioting in Cairo; the "Sinn Fein" were wvaging a
rebellion in Ireland; mnd the French were accusing him of
protecting Faisal and coveting the mandate of Syria for
Britain.

Mr. Balfour had wvritten a memorandum regerding Syria,
Palestine, and Mesopotamia om August 11 vhich said that Anglo-
French relations on the subject "are getiing more and more
strained, so that it deoes most seriously behoove us to consider
the method by which this could of suspicion can best be
dissipated, and an arrangementi reached which will be fair to
both countries and of benefit to the Eastern World,

"It must be admitted, in the first place, that we have

not 'staged' our plan--so far as we have a plan--vith any

75
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notable success. We have made a beau geste, and none have
lppluudod."96

The terms of the evacuation agreement were contained in
an aide memoire which Lloyd George showed first to Clemenceau
and then to the heads of the delegations of the five great
povers at the peuce conferenco.97 Lloyd George restated the
boundaries in the Sykes-Picet Agreement, as amended., British
garrisons in Cilicia would be turned over to a French force
and those in Damascus, Homs, Hama, and Aleppo to an Arab
force.

Amir Faisal was, of course, erushed., He wrote a pathetic
letter to the Prime Mimister tvo days after receipt of the
aide memoire., In it he asked vhy Britain wvas breaking its
promise to keep Lord Allenby as Commander-in-Chief of the
occupied territories until the Peace Conference decided
disposition of them., Faisal was adamant about not splitting
Syria and asked that if Britain must move its troops, why not
move all European troops and leave the responsibility to the
Arab Govornnont?gs

Lloyd George could not be dissuaded. He told Faisal

that he hoped that he (Faisr.l) could strike a bargain with

950 371/4183 doe. 132187,

9TTho aide memoire was dated 13 September 1919 and is
contained as Appendix D,
98

PO 406/41 doe. 132930,
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the French, but British policy was nov to stay out of it.
Faisal was sent to Paris to see Clemenceau; he went alone
without any British escort, as the Prench had requested,
The French had refused to come to London or even to discuss
the withdraval on a military staff level if Faisal wvere
included. Lloyd George tried to smooth the way for Faisal
by correspondence, but the decision to evacuate Syria was
a decision to withdraw support for Faisal and so cancelled
Faisal's only basis for maintsining Arab allegiance in
Damascus, When he went to Paris to negotiate with Clemenceau,
Arab control in Syrie passed to the members of the Young Arab
Party and the Al &-99
Lloyd George did not entirely solve his difficulties
with the French. In answer to the Prime Minister's aide
memoire Mr. Clemenceau wrote to the Prime Minister that the
French:
"+e+ thoroughly understand the diffieulty in wvhich
English negotiators find themselves after being driven
by goliticsl necessities to enter into engagements both
with the King of the Hidjaz and with France, vhich, if

not in opposition, the one to the other, are at any
rate difficult to adjust,."100

%90 406/41 doe. 143507,

ooPron a file of secret police reports vhich states that all
independent parties of Syria, Palestine, and Mesopotamia
vere vorking together, The movement was deseribed as pro-
Turkish and enti-Sharifian.ndt 5hid Yasin Pasha, a member
of ﬁ ﬁg.vu the moving spirit. See FO 371/4183 doc., 144109
dat Oetober 1919,
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This letter infuriated Lloyd George. He had abandoned
Faisal im order to settle vith the French, nov Clemenceau
served notice that his troubles wvere not over, The French
felt justified to do ms they liked in Syris because Lloyd
George had allowed Mesopotamia to become a problem almost as
serious as Syria. An incident st Dair Ez Zor during the next
month would greatly emitarass Great Britain; the decision to
vithdrav British troops from Syris was the occasion for the
incident, but Colonel Vilson's decision to send political
officers to the town a year previously was the reason why

Britain vas involved at all.



Dair Ez Zor

Dair Ez Zor is situated about three hundred and fifty
kilometers up the Euphrates from Baghdad. The Sykes-Picot
Agreement placed the border between Iraq and Syria about
forty kilometers south of Dair, midway betveen that town
and the town of Albu Kamal, DBased upon the Sykes-FPicot
Agreement, Lloyd George had agreed in his September agreement
with Cleménceau that Dair Ez Zor and its environs would be
turned over to the French., Colonel Wilson's decision to send
a political officer te the towvn a yeer earlier now placed
the British in & dilemma.

There is no doubt that the British intended to evacuate
the town despite Colonel Vilson's contentiom that the
population wvanted them to stay. Several Iraqi agents wvere
sent from Damascus in order to stir up the people by telling
them that the French vould soon occupy the area. The agents
were led by Ramadhan al Shallash who was stationed at Aleppo.
Ramadhan had been in Dair several times earlier in order
to enlist the tribes asgainst the British administration. Nor
is there any doubt that the earlier anti-British propaganda wvas
part of the Baghdadi officers' pressure to make the British
turn over a share of the administration of Iraq to them. 7.
Ramadhan inecited the surrounding tribes to ecapture the city
before the French could take over. The exiled officers hoped

79



to present a fait accompli believing that this would deter
the French from entering the area.

There were no regular British troops in Dair, omnly the
pelitical officers and a handful of levies. Ramadhan with
about six hundred men easily stormed the town and capturec
the politiecal officer who was, then held as a hostage for
the safety of the town, The British were im a gquandary.
Ramedhan threatened to kill their hostage if the towvn was
bombed or if the British tried in any other way to retake
the town. As it turned out the officer was treated kindly
throughout his captivity; the more serious problem was that
the British ﬁnd no claim upon Dair because of Lloyd George's
agreement to turn it over to the French, it would appear
that Ramadhan's action forced them out. They attempted to
bring pressure through Faisal who was then in Paris discussing
the British withdrawal agreement. Faisal sent several messages
to the Baghdadi officers inm Damascus asking that Ramadhan move
out of Dair. He also wrote to the British that he regretted
the incident very much and though he had nothing to do with
the attack, The officers in Damascus were able to reecall
Ramadhan and placed another Iraqi officer there, but Ramadhan
returned., On January 11 a group of levies under a British
officer attempted to move forward to the Khabur River about

fifty kilometers south of Dair, but Arab tribesmen made a
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determined attack on Albu Kamal and the troops were forced
to return to that town,

The entire incident only served to convince the
surrounding tribes that the British could not enforce their
administration., They interpreted what was a political dilemma
as a sign of military weakness. Agents such as Ramadhan had
harped on the theme that the British had all but evacuated
Mesopotamia, The British had never sent any large number
of troops to the area around Dair nor had there been any
fighting there during the war. For this reason the tribesmen
vere willing to believe that the British were helpless to
enforce their administration, As a matter of fact London
had decided months earlier that they did not intend to remain
in Dair Ez Zor and had notified the GOC im Baghdad to this
effect. The mistake was in not withdrawing the political
agent immediately; the loss in prestige was far greater than
the loss of the area would have been, This was Colonel VWilson's
error.

Colonel ¥Wilson, took issue with the India Office for not
informing him earlier that the Government did not intend to
contest Dair. The India Office indignantly replied that the
Var Office had been told to notify Wilsom, and to be doubly
sure, the India Office had asked Wilson if he saw their

telegraph., VWilson had ansvered at that time in the affirmative.
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Mr. Montagu's telegram concluded: "There is therefore no
grounds vhatever for suggestion in last paragraph of your
telegram (that he was not informed) and I regret that you should

have thought yourself justified in making it.'IOI

101py 371/4186 doe. 169052.



CHAPTER VI

EVENTS LEADING TO THE UPRISING

British policy concerning Mesopotamia was linked to
and greatly influenced by Syrian development during the
years 1918-1920, It was earlier pointed out that the Sykes-
Picot Agreement was an attempt to contain the FPrench demands
for territory in the Levant in order that the British would
know what to promise to Faisal., Britain hoped that the French
would have been satisfied to occupy only the littoral between
Palestine and Alexandretta, spreading out into what is now
central Turkey, and that the Arabs might have accepted Fremnch
advisors in that part of the independent Arab stete designated
as a French sphere by Sykes and Picot. Both premises were
extremely unlikely and did little to allay burgeoming Arab
distrust of the British administration in Mesopotamia.

Since the French would not allovw for Mesopotamia to be

handled separately from Syria, British policymakers were

obliged to take sides between Prench and Arab, The India
Office and Colonel Vilsom favored the French cause in Byrlugloz

1ozArthur Hirtzell wrote on November 20, 1918: "The idea
that we can get the French out of Syria by an appeal to
local option under the Anglo-French Declaration seems to
me visionary, unless the League of Nations or some other
outside force impresses this uron them; nor do I see that
wve have any particular interest in getting the French out
of Syria." It should be noted that the French still had
at that time five settlements in India vhieh the India
Government wanted the French to give up. Hirtzell wrote

that perhaps the French might make "A trade for some territory

nearer home." 10 10.2.38 doe. B 239,
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the Foreign Office and the Cairo Bureau favored Faisal.
Colonel Lawrence offered to help Lord Curzon convince Faisal
to settle wvith the French, but only in exchange for British
concessiom in Mesopotamia, including the dismissal of Sir
Arneld Vilson,10?

Vhen Lloyd George decided to abandon Faisal, the
Cabinet had already agreed to relieve Wilson., The first
indication that he was to be dismissed as acting Civil
Commissioner in Baghdad was in a hand-vritten minute by
Hubert Young saying that Sir Perey Cox would replace him,
Young was now the secretary for the Interdepartmental
Committee anl present at the August meeting at which the
decision vas reached. Young wrote that "Wilson is out of
touch with the policy of the Peace Confcroneo.""o4

The British government decided that her European
alliances were more vital than those in the Middle Bast.
She had already discussed oil agreements with the French
wvhich would culminate in April 1920 with a bilateral agreement
vhereby the French recognized British oil rights in Iraq. The
agreement gave France twenty-five percent of o0il revenues in

exchange for the British right to construct pipelines through

loanoou-nntsof British Foreign Poliey (1st series) Vol. IV,

E. 422. Lawrence to Curzon, 25 September 1919, cited in
edourie, op. git., p.180,

104p 0. 371/4128 doc. 118150.
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the French sphere to the Heditorrtntan.los

Even though Britain acted in accordance with her European
poliecy in deeciding against Feisal, she adhered to an imperia-
listie poliey by maintaining the status guo in Mesopotamia.
She continued to support Colonel Wilson's policies there,
policies which alloved and possibly caused the uprising of
the tribes in the summer of 1920, Tet. en imperialistiec
policy would not have promised a constitution and ultimate
local control of the government, Vhat England attempted was
a "middle of the road" poliey which failed to please anyone,
Together with France she had promised self-determination
and self-government in November 1918, the leaders of the
countries invelved would be satisfied with nothing less.

There is no evidence that England was thinking of a
gquid-pro-guo vhen she abandoned Faisal., Lloyd George could
not have known at that time that the French would expel
Faisal from Damascus by force, nor could he have foreseen
the urgent need for a pliable Arab ruler in Iraq after the
uprising which would occur a few months hence, Nor would
Faisal have humbled himself by going to Paris to arrange a
deal with Clemenceau if he had any inkling of the Iraqi

10’?.0. 371/4168 doe. 172818, The agreement which was
finally signed in April 1920 was known as the Berthelet-
Cadman agreement, named for the two men who worked out
details,
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throne being proferred. Faisal's return to Damascus to
face the vrath of the nationalist Arab officers there would
indicate that he had no alternative at that time.

Colonel Wilson showed in the early part of the year
1920 that he could not be depended upon to carry out British
policy in Iraq as long as it was based upon the Anglo-French
agreement, In a long dispatch dated January 23, he said
that the fundamental assumption in recent correspondence
from London was that an Arab state was possible in Mesopotamia
within a short period of years and "that the Anglo-French
Declaration of November 8, 1918 represented a practical
line of policy to pursue in the near future.” (Italies
mine) Wilson continued:

My observations in this country and elsevhere

have forced me to the convietion that the assumption

is erroneous, and although 1 am avare that in holding

this view I differ from authorities and observers

both at home and abroad vho possess a breadth of

vision and a wealth of experience to which I can

lay no claimj; I venture, probably for the last time,

in my present capacity to lay before His Majesty's

Government the cinzidorationl vhich have led me to

this conclusion,l0
Wilson justified his stand by deseribing the heterogeneous
and dissident population of Mesopotamia in addition to the
financial stake which Britain had in the country,

Appended to Wilson's memo was one by Miss Bell in which

she described her visit to Damascus during the period

1065 0, 371/4186 doe. 172818.
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October 4 ~ October 20, 1919, She tells of her interviews
vith almost every important Iraqi personage in Damasecus
during the time Faisal's governmenmt, Miss Bell wrote in
summary that the year of independent government in Syria
vould come home to rooltnin Mesopotamia. The Iraqi officers
would never accept less nnd,&ooked at from our point of
viev, it seems to me to be preferable to take up from the
first a position from which we will not be called upon to
retrontflo?

Five days before ¥Wilson wrote this telegram, the Inter-
Departmental Committee had decided to recall him as soon as
Sir Percy Cox was available to replace him. His phrase
"probably for the last time" indicates that he had received
word of this decision in one way or another,

Lloyd George, during a debate in the House of Commons,
said in rebuttal to Mr. Ormsby-Gore, that England would
sbay in Mesopotamia and that she would accept a mandate and
vould keep her part of the November 8th Declaration. This
meneval of the "self-determination pledge” prompted Colonel
Wilson to appoint a committee to prepare proposals for a

constitution for Iraq in accordance vith the Covenant of

IOTLntor the same month Colonel VWilson was urging that the

Divisional councils be considered an interim measure for
full constitutional government. He said he had no doubt
that "we are on the right line." Major Hubert Young wrote
later that he wvas "not reassured by this message." Young,

2p. &n ’ Pn30,o



of the League of Nations and the published declarations
of His Majesty's Government, The committee sat under the
chairmanship of Sir Edgar Bonham-Carter, a former legal

secretary in the Sudan govornmont.loa

losthc members and the verbatim report of the committee

are in Vilson, Clash of Loyalties, op. git., p.242.



The Bonham-Carter Committee

More than a year had passed since the acting eivil
commissioner had been authorized te form the five provineial
councils as well divisional and municipal counecils, In
January 1920, in responding to a Foreign Office query on
hov many councils had been formed, Wilson acknowledged that
only four of a possible nine divisional councils and ne
provincial councils vwere in existence, the Basra council
having been assembled for the first time on 18 January,
after the receipt of the query from London.109

The question of divisional councils arose during a visit
of Nuri Sa'id to London in April. In a conversation with
his wartime friend, Hubert Young of the Foreign Office,

Nuri described the congress which had been held in Damascus
the previous month. The representatives had demanded the
complete independence of Iraq and declared Amir Abdullah

as its king. Nuri told Young that the councils promised by
Wilson had never materialized and that the few that were

in existence wvere a farce. Nuri again urged the merits of
his United Syria and Mesopotamia scheme, or as he called

it, his "plen for Greater Syria.“llo

The results of the Bonham-Carter Committee did not

109
110

F.0. 371/4152 doe. 172496,
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dissipate the political storm which was gathering in
Baghdad., Had it done anything to assure the extremists
that they would receive a share in the government, it
might have prepared them for the announcement of the mandate
in‘e.rly May. As it was, the committee recommendations
repeated Colonel Vilson's plans for a nominal Arab government
with all authority vested in a British High Commissioner and
British heads of departments. It seid that the Arab head
of State "would be a person of good social status and prestige
and have leisure for social functionl.”lll

Colonel ¥ilson had alerted London that the Bonham-Carter
committee had been appointed. London was anxious to learn
the results of the long-awaited constitutional committee.
After several inquiries by both the Foreign Office and the
India Office, he telegraphed the committee's findings which
vere immediately recognized as an attempt to quiet the demands
for Arab participation in the Wilson administration,

¥hen Colonel Vilson asked for permission to meke an
announcement concerning the future of the constitution based
upon the committee report, Lord Curzon and Mr. Montagu agreed
that Wilson should not make an announcement on his owvn, but
that some official announcement was necessary. The two
secretaries could not agree upon the text., Montagu finally

wvrote to Curszoni

11gqe committee report. Vilsom, op. git., p.245.
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My dear Curzont
1 don't quite like your draft and you don't like
mine. The enclosure is a compromise. Do you agree

4o it or would you like to submit the two to the

Prime Minister and pest to what the final draft is

to be ? 112

It does not seem that we can get together...

Wwhen Colonel Wilson made an urgent appeal on April 27
that an announcement be made immediately, he explained
that the religious season of Ramadhan might occasion the
eruption of pent-up political resentment. In addition he
was apprehensive that the visit of the Shah of Iran, which
coincided with the beginning of Ramadhan on May 3, would
contribute to the hazarous situation. Colonel Wilson sent
a flurry of telegrams in a last ditch effort to effect some
constitutional change. The telegrams indiecate that he
sensed something should be done immediately in order to
prevent disorders in Baghdad.

In the most recent weeks he had abandomed most of those
notions upon vhich he had based former arguments, On Mareh 20
he urged that the people not be asked again concerning future
government; "They don't know wvhat they want and it destroys
their confidence that we should ask tho-.'ll) In a telegram

to the India Office he said that divisional councils "are

1125 o, 371/3322.
1135 0. 371/5071 doe. 2169.
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constituted for local and not national purposes and have
no authority to give opinions on a national question...
ve would again draw attention to the fact that few members
of divisional councils have any political knowledge or
experience and to the possibility of dangerous outbreak
of extreme nationalism and religious prncticel."ll4
One can imagine the frustrations experienced by the
acting civil commissioner. Convinced that time was running
out, he was forbidden to make public mention of the Bonham—
Carter recommendations which exemplified his own views for
the future econstitution of Iraq. Vhen news reached him
on May 1, by means of a Reuters telegram, that Britain had
accepted the mandate for Mesopotamia at the San Remo
Conference, Colonel Wilson decided... "with or without
permission, something had to be said to amplify the bold
announcement from San Remo /113
Despite his instruetions, Wilson issued a communique
on May 3 announcing the Mandate and held out the hope
that "the establishment of civil administration will give
116

ever widening field to native energies.”

Meanvhile the two Secretaries, Lord Curzon and Mr. Hontagu,

114; o R. File 4722 part 3 "Political and Secret.”
u"illlon, 8P« m.. p.248.
116!.’.‘ in Wilson, op. m., PP.Z‘B"’.
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had reached agreement upon the terms of the announcement
concerning the future constitution and forwarded the text

on May 4, 1919, to ¥ilson. Vilson's announcement, already
made, fell far short of that of the Socrotariol.IIT Undismayed,
Colonel Wilson asked that His Majesty's Government reconsider
the second portion of its announcement which promised further
consultations and discussion with the people., VWilson
submitted that it was for His Majesty's Government as
Mandatory Pover to prescribe vhat form of government shall

be set up in the immediate future,

On May 20 the India Office ansvered that the framing of
the Mandate was in process and that Wilson's proposals must
take o different shape. It said "the announcement of the
4th May from the India Office may be postponed in view of
your proclamation of the 3rd May. Meanvhile, no further
action should be taken or announcement nudo.”lls

At the Poreign Office, Major Young and Sir John Tilley
were enraged to find that Colonel Wilson had made his un-
authorized announcement on May 3rd. Young heard the text
for the first time when it was read to him on the telephone
on May 15. He immediately made Lord Curzon aware of it, and
they planned to bring it to the attention of the Inter-

Departmental Committee the following duy.l19

1171!'!
118

119p 0. 371/5226 doc. 4789



The Manduhinlzo

A committee of fifteen persons who called themselves
the delegates of the people finally succeeded in arranging
a meeting with the Civil Commissioner on June 2. Exeitement
had run high in Baghdad since the announcement of the Mandatej
Ireland states that nationalists held meetings in the mosques
wvhere speakers urged a rising against the British in the

121

name of independence, race and religion. Clashes had

already taken place and armored cars patrolled the streets,
Colonel Wilson arranged the meeting at the §g£gl,122
he took the precaution of inviting about forty Baghdadi
notables who vere favorably disposed to the British
administration and salso made special police arrangements.
Wilson's speech was anything but conciliatory: after making
allusions to the various covenants and the Bonham-Carter
report, he warned that any further encitement to violence
would be met by rigorous action by both military and civil
authoritioa.123

After the delegates presented their demands for an

immediate election of an Arab National convention with

120§h°'. delegated" from the Arabic meaning.

1211 e1and, op. cit., p.215.

lzzoovarnucnt headquarters, Fr,-Turkish: Palace, house, inn,
123p0r full text of Wilson's speech see F.0. 371/5227 tel.6585.
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authority to draw up a constitution, some of them were
carried out on the shoulders of the crowd. Colonel Wilson
says that he, Bonham-Carter, Howell and Balfour were greeted
with shouts of abuse and hisses as they left the building
under police escort. He said, "It was the first demonstra-
tion of its kind and was intended as a sort of declaration

of vnr."lz4

124"11'0‘, u.m. 9 Po 257.



A.J. Vilson's Last Couneil

Wilson sent many telegrams to the India Office during
his time in office after the war, but the one which ended
the long struggle between Arnold T, Wilson and the London
liberals was sent on June 9th., It caused his enemies to
attack his new lukewarm supporters and demand Wilson's
dismissal., The rumblings in Baghdad and among the tribal
elements of the Euphrates district indicated that the move
wvas overdue,

In his telegram Wilson said:

Ve cannot maintain our position as a mandatory
by a poliecy of conciliation of extremists. Having
set our hand to the task regenerating Mesopotamia,
ve must be prepared to furnish alike men and money
and to maintain continuety of control for years
to come, VWe must be prepared, regardless of the
League of Nations, to go slowly with constitutional
or democratic institutions, the application of which
to Eastern countries has been attempted of late
years vwith such a little degree of success. If His
Majesty's Government regard such a policy as
impractical or beyond our strength f:s well they
may), I submit that they would do better to face
the alternative, formidable and, from the local
point of view, terrible as it is, and evacuate
Houopotslin.li

Hubert Young in the Foreign Office, vhen he saw the
telegram, wrote a minute for Lord Curzom in which he said
that Colonel Wilson had failed to mention the third
alternative; the one His Majesty's Government had maintained

all along: to remain in Mesopotamia and maintain the goodwill

1255 0. 371/5227 tel. 6948,
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of the people, Young meintained that Wilson knew that
"he cannot obtain the goodwill of the people without a
predominately Arab government, and this I am perfectly
certain Colonel Wilson will use every effort to prevent.
I regard the telegram as tantamount to resignation and
think that it should be accepted as luch:126

Mr, Montagu referred the entire matter to the cabinet
vhich needed no further urging to teke action. An Inter-
Departmental €ommittee met on June 16, Lord Curson presiding.
Present were most of the key personnel of the Foreign 0ffice
end the India Office. Lord Curzon brought everyone up to
date, describing Colonel Wilson's unauthorized announcements
regarding the Mandate on May 3, and his June 2nd speech to
the Mandubin., He asked Mr, Montagu if he considered that
the poliecy which they were all in perfect agreement upon
was likely to be carried into effect so long as Sir Arnold
Wilson remained in political comntrol in Mesopotamia. Mr.
Montagu replied that he had "never held the view that Colonel
Wilson, with his marked inclination to concentrate power
in his own hands, could fairly be asked to carry out the
policy of His Majesty's Government in Mcupotgnia.'lz? Lord
Curzon later said that it was obvious from the whole series

of telegrams that Colonel Wilsom could not bring himself

1267, 44,
12Tp,0. 371/5227 doe. 3553, also CAB 23/22 doec. C51/20 (1).
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to carry out the poliecy which the Conference had consistently
advocated, and that it was a great pity that Colonel Vilson
had been left so long in Mesopotamia, though this had been
rendered necessary by the grip he had obtained over the

local situation.

No one came to the defense of Colonel Wilson although
many of those present knew how Wilson had pleaded for poliey
guidance from London, especially from the India Office.
Present at the meeting from the India Office were 8ir Arthur
Hirtzell, C.C. Garbett and Mr., Montagu, the Seecretary of
State for India. The question might be asked why had they
vaited so long? How had Colonel Wilson been able to defy
offieial policy for so many months! The ansvers to these
questions are contained in a paragraph Wilson later wrote:

Circumstances immediately after the war were,
hovever, wholly exceptional. The problem of Iraq

vas at the time many-sided, and several departments

of State were simultaneously dealing with various

aspects, often without consultation with each other,

There was virtually no correlating authority in

WVhitehall; each question had to be fought out as it

arose, generally by telegram, both as to the

prineiples involved and as to their local appli-

cation,12

Colonel Wilson was not only permitted, but often forced
to make policy decisions; it would have taken courage to
do so0 in Whitehall, but no one did; it was a convenient ploy

to "wait for the peace conference to decide."

'2%i1s0m, Glash of Loyalties, op. eit., p.z17.



In addition to settling the fate of the acting Civil
Commissioner, the conference of June 17 directed that a
further announcement be made in Beghdad on June 20, It
was the same one sent by the India Office on June 7 which
Colonel Wilson had not published. In it, His Majesty's
Government anticipated that the Mandete would constitute
Mesopotamia an independent state under guarantee of the
League of Nations and subject to the Mandate of Great
Eritain which would be responsible for internal peace and
external security, for the formation of an orgenic lawv in
consultation with the people of Mesopotamia, and for the
development of Mesopotamia as & self-governing state until
such time as it could stend by itself, at vhich time the
Mendate would come to an end,

It promised that Sir Percy Cox, vho would return to
Baghdad in the autumn, would be entrusted with the task
of administrating these promises, and that he:

'Will be authorized to ecall into being, as
provisional bodies, & Council of State under an

Arab President and a General Elective Assembly,

representative of and freely elected by the

population of Mesopotamia, And it will be his

duty to prepare in consultation wvith the ﬂonoIs;

Elective Assembly, itie permanent organic lav,

Philip Ireland called this statement the first straight-

forwvard publiec announcement of a concrete and specific poliey

129Irclnnd, op. git., p.221,



vhich His Majesty's Government had made in Iraq since
the Armistice, a year and eight months boforo."”
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CHAPTER VII

THE TRIBAL UPRISING

Tel Afar

On May 26, 1920, the first definite word came to Baghdad
that a "Sharifian force" was operating in Syria north of
Mosul, The "force" was actually a tribal movement of from
five hundred to one thousand men probably led by a ranking
Baghdadi officer, Jamil Beg Midfai. There were other
rumors, less well founded, of a Turkish force approaching
from the northwest. True or not, the rumors were enough
to incite the people in Mosul and its environmns,

An incident in the small town of Tel Afar, about
seventy kilometers of Mosul, touched off the revolt. In
Tel Afar on June 4, an Arab levy officer, Captain Stuart,
was shot dead on the street. His assistants, Sergeants
Lavler and Walker, with one machine gunner, held out on a
roof top until a bomb killed them all, Two armored cars
sent from Mosul two days earlier on the advice of the
political officer in Tel Afar, Major Barlow, vere trapped
in the narrov streets of the town and their crews killcd.131

Barlov, who had been taken prisomer, escaped but was found

Dlrye armored car proved to be & poor choice for use in

Mesopotamia. The terrain was often impassible and their
use in the narrov crooked streets of the small villages
vas disastrous, witness the action in Tel Afar. The
large pneumatic tires made an opportune target for proper
small arms fire vhich crippled the car and left the crews
helpless.
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killed by his pursuers two miles west of town. He apparently
sav the armed cars and made e dash for them but was shot before
he could varn them,

The townspeople of Tel Afar, vho numbered about ten
thousand, had become increasingly aroused as the rumors of
an Arab invasion from Syria or Persia by the Turks became
rife during the month of May. Nearby Mosul, the third largest
city in Mesopotamia, was probably the indirect cause of the
rising, The people of Tel Afar were kept abreast of the
situation in Baghded and Damascus by the news from Mosul whiech
wvas a hotbed of anti-British agitation, Police records in
the Foreign Office files report thet a plot had been formed

132 The revolt never materialized

in Mosul for u revolt there.
but the records show that the rising in Tel Afar was a pert of
it vhich was touched off prematurely, Because the British
were so prompt in punishing the rioters the people in Mosul

because discouraged and their plan never mntcriallz.d.ls)

The Military Situation
Lt, General Sir Aylmer Haldane, fifty-eight years old,
had assumed command of the Mesopotamian Force just three months
earlier, At the time of his appointment he was on semi-retired
status in England., His long service had ineluded only six

1321he plot and the Tel Afar incident, snd the connection

botvcon them are nnrrutaﬁ in the Adm

: Vs PP'.
ljaruniahnont in this case consisted of seizure of veapons
and burning of crops.
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months in the East end that was in India. Haldene was

at a disadvantage in not knowing the area or the people;

his inability to comprehend the situation was directly due

to this failing, a fact often noted at the Foreign Office.
After the Tel Afar incident General Haldane took stock

of the forces available for military duty in the event that

the uprising spread. The total ration-strength of Haldam's

force was 133,000, of wvhom 47,000 were combatants, Included

in the latter figure were some 4,800 British and 8,000 Indian

troops vho wvere sick, in transit, or detached to Persia. The

number was further reduced by 3,000 British and 2,300 Indians

in non-combatant duties. That left the final count of soldiers

available for combat duty at 7,200 British and 8,000 Indianl.n4

lj‘nftor the insurrection the British Chamber of Commerce

conducted an inquiry as to vhy over 80,000 military were
tied up vith the day to day civil administration of
Mesopotamia. The country had been under continuous martial
lav since the war, but the army also staffed and operated
the entire communications systems, including the Imland
Vater Transport asnd Railway System, the Electrical and
Mechanical Section, the Labor Directorate, and others.

The largest expenditure of manpower resources, however,

vas for guard duty. There remained over 14,000 Turkish
prisoners in Mesopotamia and large quantities of military
stores left since the war., Both of these burdens should
have been disposed of long before. Another logistie
burden was created by the arrival during January of 550
British vomen, wives of British officers and men,wvith

over 400 children. A special camp was comstructed for
these military dependents in the Persian hills mear Karindj
it is a matter of speculation as to hov many servicemen
vere occupied with the task of maintaining these people.
The subsequent investigation by the Chamber of Commerce
into this waste of manpover is deseribed in Haldane, op. eit.,
PPs 65-69.
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There vere mo further outbreaks for a time after
Tel Afar, but the calm was broken at the end of June by
an ineident unrelated to the other troubles. A young
political officer stationed at Rumaythah, about 200
kilometers southeast of Baghdad, arrested a local shaikh
because he refused to repay a small loan given him to
purchase seed. The officer, Captain Hyatt, planned to send
the shaikh the next day by train to Divanyah for a hearing
but that night members of his tribe, the Shavalim, broke
into the gerai and freed him.

The tribes from the distriet had been at the flash point
for weeks, They had been assured by the representatives of
Najaf and Kufa, the chief cities of thaet area, that the
British vere forbidden by the Mandate to use force. They
also believed with some basis that almost all effective
British troops had been sent to Persia, The surrounding
iribes eut the railway in three places, isolating both
Samawa and Rumaythah,

The British decided to comsolidate their forces in
Rumaythah; the gendarme contingent had barricaded themselves
in the building of that place. Omn July 1, an sddivional
fifty-six Indian regulars reached Rumaythah from Samava,
nearly tvice as many arrived the next day and on the third
day an entire company of the 99th Infantry under the command

of Captain Bragg arrived. The Arab force numbering from
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1,500 to 2,000 began a seige of the July 4th, The defending
force was in no immediete danger as long as food, water,
and ammunition lasted.

A relief force of about two battaltions rushed to
Rumaythah but were almost annihilated by the Arabs on
July 6. This defeat was apparent corroboration for the
propaganda that the British were incapable of handling a
large revolt. The truth is that the relief wvas too hastily
organized and greatly underestimated the strength of the
insurgents. One British officer and forty-seven Indian
other ranks vere killed and one officer and one hundred
sixty-six men vounded., The vorst aspect of the defeat vas
that the column was forced to retreat in poor order; the
effect was to give courage to the tribesmen and remove all
reservations that the time for revolt was at hand,

General Haldane ordered another column to relieve
Rumaythah, A large force of about four brigades of infantry
plus supporting services proceeded under Brigadier F.E.
Coninghem to Rumaythah. Thousends of tribesmen had rushed
to join the rebels. The Arab defenses vere nov well
established, the trench tacties used were exactly those of

the Turks during the var.la,

ljsﬂuldnno interpreted this as evidence that the Turks
were leading the revolt; a more logical explanation
is that the lesders vere Arabs who had been trained
by andserved with the Turks and or Faisal.
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The relief force made contact with the Arabs on July 19th
near Diwvaniyah, meeting stiff resistance. An attack by the
British failed that day, but the next morning they were able
to carry the jposition, Casualties were heavy on both sides,
but General Cominghan retched Rumaythah on the 21st and the
garrison was relieved.

All the warnings about extended supply lines wvere
suddenly realized and the column decided to evacuate
Rumaythah the same day and return north to Hillah, sixty
kilometers closer to Baghdad., General Haldane had now
to police an area three times that of England with a mobile
foree of only five hundred British and between tventy~five

and thirty thousand Indian troops.

The Manchester Column

General Heldane's next move was to consolidate troops
at certain strong points vhich could be easily defended.
The tribes were permitied to seize the more isolated
locations; they also severed British communications wvhenever
possible. Rumaytheh, the scene of the earlier outbreak,
was located on the Shatt al Hillah, the more navigable
eastern branch of the Euphrates. The largest town of the
Shatt was Hillah itself north of Rumaythah about 100
kilometers south of Baghdad., Haldane ordered reinforcements
to Hillah but before sufficient troops could be deployed there,



107

s section of the Bani Hasan tribe seized Kifli, a railroad
station fifty-six kilometers from Hillah,

Kifli was located on the main branch of the Euphrates
at almost the same latitude as Hillah on the other branch.
The officer commanding at Hillah ordered a relief column
to proceed from Hillah to Kifli. The column consisted of
three comyenies from the Manchester Regiment plus a company
of Sikh pioneers and two squadrons of Sind horse. Their
route toward Kifli was overland, the shortest line betveen
the two branches of the river, Orders given to the column
vere to advance no more than tvelve kilometers the first
day and to aveid an engagement with the Arabs if possible.
The detachment was woefully small in comparison to the
number of tribesmen under arms in the area.

Arab morale was probably at its highest, the tribesmen
vere elated after the series of engagements around Rumaythah.
More important, the absence of the troops from Hillah left
that gearison unders$rength and vulnerable. Colonel Lukin,
the Hillah commander, hoped that the column of regulars
would overawe the tribesmen and that it could advance to
Kifli vithout engaging the Arabs.

In retirospect, the colusmn vas small and poorly organized
and equipped. At the end of the first day's march no potable
water vas found, The tvo political officers accompanying
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the column, Major Pully and Captain Barrett, his assistant,
convinced the column commander to move on early the next
morning to a better position closer to Kifli. Several

hours wvere vasted marching to a watering place and half of
the day was lost watering the stock, A late afternoon march
placed the column at a site selected by the two political
officers, The men and animals ware fatigued and the defenses
around the bivouac area vere not properly set out, However,
the area vas suitable for defense,

At 7150 P.M., a strong Arab force attacked the perimeter
but vas beaten off, mainly by the supporting artillery.

The column commender was convinced by the two politieal

of ficers that a night vithdrawal was necossary, His
acquiescence wvas to prove a costly mistake in judgment.

The only chance the column had would have been to maintain a
tight defensive position,

At B8:40 P.M. the column began its vithdrawal; as soon
as it vas on the move the Arabs attacked agnin, The column
commander lost control and panic turned the withdrawal inte
a rout, DBritish losses vere twenty killed, sixty wounded,
three hundred eightecen missing and many transport animels
and vehicles lost, An L8 pounder gun fell into a deep
camal and had 10 be abantoned,'’®

13e‘l‘ho British removed the breach block of the gun but the
Arabs fabricated another and the gun was used several
times in attacks upon the British, See below, the attack

on the gunbont " Greenfly.”
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The operation had been a disaster, and at the wvorst
possible time. It convinced many tribes who were as yet
undecided to join the rebellion. The loss in personnel
was heavy but the more damaging loss was in terms of British
prestige. General Haldane disclaimed any responsibility fer
ordering the relief column, but Colonel Wilson asserted in
his memoirs that Haldane had in fact issued the order.
General Leslie, the Division commander in the Hillah sector,
placed the blame on the two political officers who were with
Colonel Lukin,

The Military Build-Up

It vas then apparent that a costly military effort
would be necessary to subdue the tribal rebellion if the
British wvere to remain in Mesopotamia., The var office with
the concurrence of the Cabinet decided to suppress the
rebellion first and then be concerned vith establishing an
Arab government under the terms of the Mandate., Martial law
was still in effect but Colonel Wilson continued to operate
the eivil government by authority of the military commander.
General Haldane completed his plan to consolidate his forces
in strong positions from which punitive columns could operate.
He asked for and was sent the reinforcements necessary to put
- down the rebellion; most of them came from India but units

were also sent from England,
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Through the courage and skill of Colonel Wilson's
political officers, most sections of Mesopotamia remained
peaceful, albeit precariously. On the upper Euphrates no
outbreak occured until August 12, due to the work of Colonel
Leachman, a popular and experienced political officer at
Fallujah. The British pulled in their forces to Fallujah
and Ramadi which, coupled with Leachman's efforts, kept
the situation calm,

More important, the trides of the Huntatiq_(confoderation)
whieh controlled the lower Euphrates nnd Tigris rivers above
Basra remained peaceful. Had these tribes rebelled at any
time in the early weeks, Baghdad would have become a
besieged city and many tribes in that sector would have
followed their exsmple, The entire situation would have
changed in that event. The work of the political officers
in the lover Buphrates area was invaluable, especially that
of Major Eadie who is credited by both Wilson and Haldane
for keeping the tribes of the Muntafiq from joining the
rebellion,

The reinforcenents began to arrive from England and
India. General Haldane had asked for three British and
seven Indian battalions. In addition to these, a battery
of horse artillery, a brigade of field artillery, five

companies of engineers, medical and other units, and an
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air force squadron added to the total. The total combatant

troops of all arms camwe from outside Mesopotamia were:

British officers 323 British other ranks 3,093

Indian officers 302 Indian other ranks 13,200
and of auxilliary services:

British officers 46 British other ranks 107

Indian officers 40 Indian other ranks 4,094

Drufts from Indis to fill out the shortages of units
already in Mesopotamia were:

fi 8 British other ranks 2
g:&}i;ho% ic:::' 2; Indian other ranks 6,%4}

Added to the 17,676 combatants already in Mesopotamia, there
vas now a gr:nd total of 64,439 effective troops in Iraq. The
India government agreed to send most of the 14,000 Turkish
prisoners still in Iraq to Constantinople., This was accomp-
lished in August by sending them through Basra port thus
releesing en additional 5,000 Indian troops for combat duty.
About 2,400 Indian lembourers from the Military Labor Corps
were trained to perfor; guard duty, freeing almost that many
soldiers for nilitary duty.

Haldene's staff organized a small navy to protect
shipping and insure continuous river traffiec on the Tigris.

If the railroads were cut betveen the Gulf and Baghdad as
they had been in the north, the Tigris would have to become
the main supply route from ihe port of entry to the north,

Home support for Haldane together with the respite
afforded by the many tribes who remained quiet assured that
the robollioﬁ vould be quelled, it was a matter of time, but

at no small expense in terms of men and money.
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The Train from Diwaniyah

General Coningham who had led the relief of Rumaythah
hed returmed with his forece to Diwaniyah, He was directed
to evacuate the town and reinforece Hillah vhich was still
in danger of attack. The distance between the two tovns
vas about 120 kilometers; the main communications line
vas the railroad which had been extensively damaged by
the tribesmen.

The number of rebellioms tribesmen was nov about
131,000, about 59,800 of whom had medern rifles. Most
of the insurgents were in the middle Euphrates district;
Hillah was almost in the center of that area. General
Leslie ves nov the area commander with his geadqunrtorl
in Hillah, He conducted =active defense which consisted
of reconnsisance in forece and limited attacks of neighboring
villages. GSeveral units reached Hillah from Divaniyah by
rail before the line was cut., The commander at Diwaniyah
visely sent out a force to strengthen the guard at a rail-
road bridge on the line between the two towms, The bridge
ealled Jarbuiyah erossed the Euphrates about ten kilometers
from Diwaniyah, If this bridge were blown up, any chance
of getting a train through to Hillah was gone., General
Coningham in command of the evacuation force left Divaniyah
by treim because the road between the two cities was almost

impassable. Another reason for taking the treains was that
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there was & serious shortage of railroad rolling stock
at Hillah.

The train which departed from Diwaniyah at 6130 A.M,
on July 30th consisted of six locomotives and two hundred
fifty-one railroad cars., The Infantry strength with the
train was about eight regiments together with some four
batteries of artillery, plus cavalry units and pioneer
companies. As the train inched northward it was joined
by other units who had been called in from isolated
stations.

.rha entire trip took eleven and a half days at an
average of five and a half miles per day. As many as ten
miles of track had to be repaired at a time., The Arab
forces harassed the train, but vere decisively beaten back
by the artillery batteries which had been well mounted on
board by General Coningham. Air Force planes contributed
by strafing and bombing any concentrations of Arabs seen
along the route.

Another train had departed on the 27th but was trapped
at Guchan about thirteen kilometers from Hillah, The second
trein caught up with it and both of them and the reinforce-

ments arrived in time to assure the safety of Hillah.137

lsTﬂsldano wrote in his memoirs that these eleven days were
the longest of his military career. It was a most
significant accomplishment. Haldane, pp. git., p. 126.
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The British Gein The Initiative

For the next six weeks the strategy was to secure
lines of communication on the middle and upper Euphrates
and to the north of Baghdad., The railroad lines were
restored by the tactic of builéing a series of blockhouses
along the line. These blockhouses were close enough
together for mutual support and were built and maintained
by utilizing armored construction trains. One such train
reached Fallujah on September 24th, thus securing the
entire length of track north of Baghdad, Three days earlier
the last of one hundred seventy-three blockhouses southward
on the Kut-Baghdad line were completed, This line paralleled
the Tigris river which re-established the main line of
communication from Baghdad to Basra,

Another column from Hillah captured the Hindiya barrage
on the Euphrates at the point where the river divides into
two branches known as the Hindiyah and Hillah canals. There
was a regulator on the river at this point vhich controlled
the flow of water on the Hillah branch of the Euphrates.

Its capture assured that the water supply south would not
be cut off by the Arabs,

The uprisings had reached their height in mid-August;
although the British had gained control of the overall
situation, they still suffered several defeats. On August 6th,
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Mirza Muhammad Tagi Shirazi, the chief Mujtahed at Karbala,
had offered prayers on the corpse of an Arab killed in
battle--and act which signified jihaad, or holy war, The
effect of this action wvas to remove any chance the British
had to0 calm the predominantly 5hi'ah districts of Diyala
and Shamiya on the Middle Euphrates. There was no doubt
then that military force would be needed to pacify the
area.

Although several smaller cities such as Kufah and Samava
vere still invested, General Haldane, convineced that the
beseiged garrisons vere in no immediate danger, chose to
send troops against the tribes in those regions vhere

there was still a chance to prevent full scale uprisings.

The Role of the Politiecal Officers

The political officers had been instructed by Colonel
Wilson to remain at their posts as long as possible in

138 The results of his

order to reassure the natives.
direetive were mixed, In certain locales the tribes were
pacified primarily through the efforts of the political

officers as mentioned above; but, in other areas, it had

tragic consequences, At Shahraban on the Diyala river

138?11005. op. git., p.233,
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sbove Ba'quba, it led to the murder of the assistant
political officer, Captain V.T. Wrigley, With him were
enother British officer in charge of the Arab levies and
two enlisted instructors, and Captain E,L. Buchanan of

the Irrigation Department and his vife.l3?

On August 13th
the tribesmen invaded the town and killed all five
Englishmen. Mrs, Buchanan was wounded slightly and taken
prisoner., She vwas well treated, however, and later she
vas rescued by a relief colummn on September 9th.14°
Until mid-August there had been no outbreak between
Baghdad and Ramadi, west of Baghdad, nor omn the Euphrates
around Fallujah, Shaikh Dhari of the Zobeir tribe had
remained loyal to the British; so had Shaikh Ali Sulaiman
of the Dulaim. The cooperation of these tribes was maintained
largely through the efforts of the politieal officer Lt.
Colonel Leamchmen, an asrabist who had lived in the Middle
East since ten years before war, On August 12, Shaikh
Dhari treacherously murdered Leachman, His death was the
signal for a series of outbresks on the Euphrates betveen

Fallujah and Hit.14!

1391ho others killed were Captain Bradfield commanding
the Areb levies, and the two instructors, Newton and
Nesbitt.

140y s, Buchanan has vritten ihe story of her experience
in a book entitled: In The Hands of The Arabs.
I‘IShsihh Dheri wvas later captured and semtenced to life

imprisonment. Ironically, he died of a heart attack
two days after sentencing.
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In the latter part of August, Captain G.,H., Salman,
politieal officer at Kifri, was captured when the town
was pillaged by tribesmen. A few days later he was
mardered in prison, Just a week before his murder,
Captein Salman hed been advised by the military to change
his poest nearly %Yo Kengarban, wvhere two platoons of
Indian Infantry were stationed., He was at liberty to
refuse because of the division of responsibility
betveen the GOC and Colonel Vilson, His refusal cost him
his life, "but it probably saved the military situation

in the .ran.“l‘z

A few days later Kifri vas occupied by
a detachment from Kirkuk and there was no further trouble
in the area,

Most of the political officers remained at their
posts throughout the insurrection and helped maintain
pesce among the tribes, Captain Hay in the Mosul area
and Major Soane in Sulaymaniya were able to keep the Kurds
settled, Captain lay won the friendship of two courageous
Kurdish chiefs, Ahmad Effendi and Khurshid Agha. Another
officer, Captain Littledale, at Arbil, helped quiet that

section of the Kurdish Liwa.

142y 150n, 9p. gcit., p.285.
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General Haldane later paid tribute to the courage
of the political officers:
It is indeed greatly to the eredit of the
political officers concerned that along the
vhole kine of the Tigris south of Baghdad,
equiliorium was preserved, and this more
especially on the Gharraf, where the tribes

vere in direct comntact with the Diwaniyah
insurgents, 143

Some Other Military Losses

There were other military losses: On August 10th a
river defense vessel, the Greenfly, was stranded on the
lower Euphrates five miles above Khidhr. It had run
aground and all efforts to refloat it failed. The crew
remained aboard and held out until October 2 or 3 when
they were forced through starvation and the terrible
health conditions to surrender, All British abroad were
killed and the Indians taken prisoners. The same 18
pounder gun captured from the Manchester Column was used
to fire into the boat and caused extensive dumngo.144

Juring the seige of the Greenfly an armored train was
derailed at a rail siding also near Khidhr. A second
irain came out from Nasiriyah to give aid and attempted

10 transfer men and horses from the derailed train, A

third train, not armored, helped take on the passengers.

143Ht1dan-. op., git., p.

144Buprn, see page 7, chapter 7.
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Somehow in the sttempt to move out, the two rescue trains
collided; the unarmored train was immobilized, Some of
the men were able to transfer to the one train still
operating, but seventeen Gurka rifles were inadvertantly
left behind with two officers and all were killed.
Another defeunse vessel, the Greyfly, which had been
nearby trying to refloat the Greenfly could have provided
rear guard action, but for some reason had steamed away
twvo hours earlier for Nasiriysh., General Haldane has
vritten a vivid account of the loss of the train and of
the valour shown by the men and their two officers,
Captains Russell and Henderson.145
On August 26th, a convoy consisting of the Grayfly,
Sawfly and Stonefly and two steamers came under heavy
fire enroute from Nasiriyah to Samawah, One of the
steamers, the §5-9, ran aground near Khidhr, was captured
end burned. Her entire crew was killed together with a
platoon of Indian troops and its two British officers

vho were gboard.

Relief Columns and Preventive Measures

The number of troops at General Haldane's disposal had

inereased so that by October he could operate two large

14,“.1‘.“., op. m.. Pe
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punitive columns simultaneously in two directions. The
Iraqis had lost a great deal of their firast fervor, many
tribesmen having retired from the battle.

At Hilleh a tvo-pronged force was organizedj the
pPlan wvas that one column,the 55th Brigade, was to relieve
Kufah and recover the prisoners there. The other columnm,
the 53rd Brigade, was to occupy Tuwairij, and threaten
the holy city of Karbala., The 53rd Brigade met with no
opposition when they moved out on the October Sth, but
fought a stiff engagement on the 6th and 7th against 3,500
tribesmen who had taken up positions around Tuwairij.
Tuwairij vas captured and tvo days later Karbala was
forced to make formal submission and turn-over to the
British ten Arebs who had been prominent agitstors. Kufah
vas relieved by the other column on the 17th of Uetober;
the prisoners from the Manchester Column were surrendered
to the British on the 19th by o delegation from Najef.

During the long seige at Kufah the British in the town
numbered about thirteen officers and six hundred twventy
two other ranks supported by one hundred fifteen Arebs
and Persians, The garrison was never in any real danger
of being taken but the tribesmen persisted in their efforts.
During one of these attacks, Captain Mann, Kufah's political
officer vas killed by rifle fire.



Another force was assembled at Nasiriyah under
Brigadier Gemeral Coningham to relieve Samawah, The
column marched to Ur on the October lst vwhere it was
Jjoined by Major General Atkinson, the overall force
commander. It consisted of five battalions of infantry,
two batteries of field artillery, a squadron of lancers,
machine gun corps and a company of sappers, Attached
were two railroad trains plus medical and other units,
General Atkimson had spent weeks planning the operationj
hovever he wvas already too late to reach one of his
objectives, the Greenfly, wvhich still lay lodged om the
sand bar near Khidr. The ship had been overvhelmed and
the erev massacred.

As the column moved slowly along the railroad toward

Samavah, seventy-eight kilometers north of Ur, it rebuilt

the track, constructed blockhouses at a rate of ten per

day, and carried out punitive raids on both sides of the
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Euphrates., When it reached Samawah on the 13th, the relief

force found the insurgents were holding strong positions

on the outskirts of the town along a line of palm gardens

and wall enclosures., The tribesmen numbered more than
seven thousand, The ensuing battle wrs steady all that
afternoon. The next day the British infantry fought its
way into the town and rescued the garrison, The British
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defenders at Samavah had numbered six hundfed and seventy
all of whom were in good condition other than for a few
casualties., The siege had lasted for two months,

The British military retained the initiative and a
variety of minor pumnitive expeditions were carried on
throughout the winter of 1920-21., The Middle and Lower
Euphrates submitted without a2 great deal of resistance
but segments of some tribes remained restive for another
Year; sone groups of the Diyalas tribes preferred to live
the role of hunted outlavs rather than surronder.l46
"Provisional™ governments such as the one at Mandali
disappeared early in 1921, and the urban and suburban
populations returned to normal. The provisional governments
vere the attempt to realize the objection of the rebellion,
that is: govern themselves. They were for the most part
very limited and largely unsuccessful,

By October, the insurrection vas essentially suppressed.
It had been costly for both sides; the British Force lost
2,269, either killed or wounded, the Arabs suffered about
8,450 casualties., The British taxpayer provided L.40,000,000

sterling for the oporatinn.147

1461n some towns and cities the loecal citizens organized

their own governments believing that the British would
not return,

14T4a1dane, gp. git., p.331.



CHAPTER VIII

CAUSES AND EFFECTS

Authors who desceribe the tribal uprising in Mesopotamia
in 1920, regardless of their political bias, agree upon
the same list of causesj the only difference is the order
of their importance., Arab writers place nationalism in
one definition or another at the top of their list. Vestern
writers concentrate upon whether the causes were internal
or external to Mesopotamia; that is, whether Colonel VWilson's
administration was at fault or vhether Arab-Turkish-Bolshevik
agitation caused the revolt of the tribes. All of the causes
usually mentioned have some basis; the noteworthy fact is
that they all occurred, or were allowed to occur, concurrently.

The British in attemtping to control Mesopotemia had
without doubt struggled against certain inherent problems;
some of them were: the difference in religion between
British and Arab; Moslem distrust of a Christian administra-
tiony western standards vhich were alien to the Arab
inhabitants; and the loss of wvartime revenues and employ-
ment. There was also the inevitable nostalgia for the
old methods and traditions; the British had expelled the
long established Turkish order and its departure created

a void.

123
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These are still not sufficient explanatioms for wvhat
bappened. As a colonial power England had had long
practise at goverming even a hostile population, The
difference in Mesopotamia was thet time and circumstances
had changed not omly British potential, but also their
incentive to goverm. The British eccupation in Iraq was
acceptable to the mationelists at the end of the war; it
vas bitterly resented less than tvo years later., The
faet is that a half-hearted British policy allowed the
sequence of events which led to the uprising. Many of the
causes cited for the uprising are really effects of more
fundamental problems, the casus belli being the indecision
of British policymakers during the preceding two yoars.148

Military VWeakness

The British Mesopotamian force at the time the up-
rising began had been considerable weakened by loss of
personnel and equipment. Its inability to act promptly
and with authority certainly raised the confidence of
the tribes.

The var's end had seen a large exodus of troops;

143Thort appeared to be unanimity on this point; Gertrude
Bell, vho was in an excellent position to gauge publie
opinion, deseribes the friendly Iragi attitude toward
the British occupation just at the end of the war,
See Bell, Op. m.' p.l124,
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after that there was a steady drain within Iraq until

the steady extension of administrative responsibility
outreached the military capability to enforce it. The
total nuanber of effective troops in Mesopotamia was being
eroded at both ends, by the troops going home on one side
end the increasing demand for military personnel to help
vith the civil administration on the other,

Then there was the cost to the British government.

The British Empire had suffered greatly during the four
Years war against Germany and her allies. The great wvar
bad been the most costly in history, both in terms of
casualties and resources; Britain's economy was close to
ruin, For these reasons the electorate folloving the war
vas in ne mood for costly expenditures, and the party out
of pover led by Mr, Asquith, was vehement in its attacks
upen Lloyd George's government.

England's troubles were multiplying throughout the
empire; in Ireland, in Persia, in Egypt and in Mesopotamia,
Lloyd George could little afford further difficulties. In
these circumstances Mesopotamia came increasingly to publie
notice,

A survey of articles in The Times throughout the two-
year poriuﬁ described the situation as it steadily worsened,
The Times's editorials consistently pointed out that England
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had enough responsibilities at home, that the administra-
tion of Mesopotamia would be troublesome and that the

lessons of India and South Africa should be enough to
discourage the another from the attempt. If for mo other
reason, the people of England were lukwarm about Mesopotamia
being annexed or managed; the cost of the venture would be
prohibitive in spite of optomistic forecasts of oil and
commercial profits.

Before the imsurrection broke out in Mesopotamia, The
Iimes reported a debate in the House during which Mr. Asquith
questioned the advisability of the entire Mesopotamian situa-
tion., The opposition leader vanted to know just what sort
of government was planned, who in the government was
responsible for Mesopotamia, and what was the troop strenjgths
end foraesltl.149 In the same debate, Mr. Ormsby-Gore gave
details vhich fostered his opinion that oil profits would
never defray the high cost of military occupation. Later,
Lord Islington, in a letter to The Times, called for a
cutback in expenditures, especially in Henopotanin.lso

Mr . Asquith, in a campaign speech in June 1920, while
the fighting wvas intensifying, compared the expenditure in

Mesopotania to the cost of needed c¢civic improvements at hono,ISI

1491444, , March 27, 1920, p.ll.

1501p5a., May 29, 1920, p.l0.

1511pia., June 21, 1920, p.5.
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a very obvious political device but effective nontheless. Lord
Islington, a week after Asquith's speech, asked questions

regarding the number of officers serving in both the ecivil

and military govurnnont.lsz

Vhen the tribal troubles became more serious in late
summer, The Times echoed publiec opinion that a partial
vithdrawal wvas necessarys

vee Our duty now is to relieve our beleaguered
garrisons, to establish at once vhatever form

of Arab government is acceptable to the people,
and to vithdrav to the head of the Persian Gulf,
The ides of comducting another South African war
over half of Mesopoimamia is unthinkable. The
nation vill never senctiom it, and the taxpayers
vill not bear the vast additional burden likely
to be involwved,153

Another Times editorial said that the "military occupa-

tion is the crux of the whole quostion.'154

This was again
late in the summer wvhen a large segment of public favored

a vithdrawal of all troops from Mesopotamian except those
technicians needed as advisors to the Arab administration.

Major Young pointed out that British troops in Mesopotamia

15?%%%%., June 26, 1920, p.8. The files at the Foreign

ce shov how hardpressed was the political staff
to provide all of these ansvers, The number of officers
vas out of proportion to the number of troops. Especially
were the officers of the eivil administration considered
exorbitant, The offigers with the civil administration
at that time vere 4243 this was an increase of 110 since
the war had ended; the twe year average was 362, The
number of troops caused additional pain to explain; at
the time there were 13,500 British and 66,000 Indian
soldiers in Mesopotamia,

13310e Times, August 24, 1920, p.1l.
154m.9 August 30, 1920, P.ll-
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vere in excess of reduction estimates by 14,300 on June 25,
1920, This was more than the excess of Egypt, Palestine,
and Constantinople togothcr.lss These estimates had been
made immediately after the armistice in respomse to publie
demand for return of the soldiers to England,

Proof of the importance accorded troop reduction is
given by General Haldane in a report of an interview with
Yinstom Churchill wvho was then Secretary of War., Haldane
had just accepted the post in Mesopotamia. A fewv days
before his departure for Baghdad he was called in by
Mr, Churehill for & briefing; Haldane said: "Heé harangued
me for tventy minutes on the necessity for making drastie
reductions in the garrison of Mesopotamia, the cost of
vhich, he said, was becoming intolerable to the British

1nxpsynrs.“156

1551".0. 371/5226, doc, 6055. This was prepared by Young to
answer a question in the House of Lords by Lord Easlington,
The figures were:!

Est, Actual Excess
Mésopotamia 52000 66300 14300
Egypt & Palestine 33000 46300 12700
Constaninople 13700 15200 1500

Mr, Young subtracted the Indian labor battalion vorkin:
in Mesopotamia which from a tactical standpeint did no
6count but for a financial survey should have been included.
15

Alymar Haldane, A Soldier's Saga, 1948, p.371. Cited by
Kedouri op. m-, Pe .
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The return of a large part of the Mesopotamia Force
to either India or England was unavoidable; the fact that
an inereasing number of those remaining were required to
perform tasks in the civil administration in Iraq was not.
Relations between Colonel Wilson and General Haldane wvere
never friendly (Vilson is very eritical of Haldane through-
out his description of the uprising in his book Clash of
Loyalties which he published twelve years lutcr).IST The
main point of contentiom was Colonel Wilson's refusal to
withdrav his political officers from outlying posts even
after General Haldane notified him that there were not

158 The lack of communica-

adequate troops to defend them,
tion between military amd ecivilian suthority was apparent
in the Dair Ez Zor vithdrawal vhen Wilson complained that
the Foreign Office nor General Haldane had notified him
of the plan.159

This rivalry between the two commands had been no secret
to the officials in London. On June 3 in a private message

to Hirtzell, Colonel Wilson said that the army was wveak and

157560 Wilson, Clash of Loyalties, op. git., Ch. XII and
XIII,

lssrhoro vas no question that Gemeral Holdane had supreme
military authority and that Colonel Wilson's duty wvas
to cooperate by pulling out his political officers from
areas vhich overtaxed the military capability, especially
in the early stages of the campaign.

1595¢0 Chapter V supra.
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scattered and that he had no reserve political officers,
"some of the best have at last had to take leave, many of
the remsinder are tired men, I have warned you since
March 1918, that s breakdown or worse vas likely. I now
regard it as inevitable; it can be mitigated or delayed
by Cox, smd drastic military action vhen occasion arises.
But both will be needed and our pover to apply the latter
remedy is now doubi!ul."160

General Haldane was not without fault, Some of his
messages shoved » Ffailure to grasp the nature of the
problem, Soon after his arrival in Iraq he published a
general order which forbade all ranks from discussing the
future of the country in clubs or elsevhere; the reason
stated in the order was that it wvas to prevent injudicious
remarks regarding the military and political situation,
Vilson sent a letter the next day to GHQ taking exception,
saying that he regretted that the Gemeral Officer Commanding
should have thought it necessary to issue the circular,

particularly at this junetira.161

16010R 4722 part 2 tel.No.4513 dated June 3,1920. In the
same file are other telegrams from Wilsonm telling of the
GOC's "independent attitude” as well as copies of Holdane's
message Yo the WO citing his warning to Hifsoa to vithdraw
his politieal officers; for example DOBUK,

F.0. 371/5074, dec.5417 the dates of their correspondence
are some indication of the delays vhich were too prevalent
between one office and the other, Holdane's circular was
dated April 1; the rebuttal by Wilson, April 2. The eivil
commissioner sént a copy to the India Office on April 8,
wvho finmlly sent it to the Foreign Office on May 27. The
Foreign Office sided with Wilson but a note on the corres-
pondence considered it too late by nearly two months) to
take amy action,

161
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Nationalist Agitation

The following is a translation of an anonymous procla-
mation, apparently printed in Aleppo, which was ecirculated
throughout Mesopotamia during the month of Ramadhan, May-
June 1920,

¥e true Mesopotamimns should follow our
representatives vho axre vorking for the benefit
of our success and future; they are demanding
our complete independence., They have demanded
it on the 18th Jamad Al Avwal at Damascus...

Every individual is ready to overcome all

difficulties and pass over all obstacles which

may prevent the procuring of full independence,

Never mccept anything but what was declared

by our representatives,162

The sims of the Baghdmdi officers in the insurrection
is still a matter for argument, but it is safe to say that
they worked to bring about a change in British methods in
Hesopotemia, if not the expulsion of the British altogether,
Colonel ¥ilson had resisted the inclusion in the government
of Mesopotamia of any of the expatriate Mesopotamians who

vere in Faisal's sorrico.163

It vas no secret that they
expected to be given the largest part in those new Arab
governments promised by Britain by virtue of their service

vith Faisal and the British. VWhen it became apparent that

162Il'.o. 371/5228, doc. 8914 the reference is obviously

to the Baghdadi Group in Damascus and the conference
they had held on Mareh 11, 1920, declaring the full
- independence of Iraq and selecting Abdullah as its king.
163

supra, Chapter VI,
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there would be no such Arab govermment in Mesopotamia

and that the Baghdadi officers' chances of a share in

Syria vere remote even if Faisal were successful, they
transferred their campaign from against the Turks to against
the British. The Baghdadis from Damascus played a large
part in fulminating the tribal revolt because they realized
they had mothing to gain by a continued British occupation
of Iraq.

Artieles appearing im al Agasb, & popular nationalist
newspaper published in Damascus, openly ecriticized the
Wilson administration. The articles tended to exagerate
end overstate, but there was always enough fact included
to make the articles damaging to British prestige, They
spoke of British brutality wvhenever British soldiers were
involved in altercations with Arabsj they claimed extortion
vhenever a British court confiscated land at a price deemed
unfair by the Arsbs, Every court decision for that matter,
vhich involved litigation betiween British and Arab wvas
eriticized, usually on religious grounds; the British tried
to use Moslem judges and Moslem law but with little success.

Prior to 1914, Arab nationalist movements against the
Turks hed feiled primarily because of sectionalism, personal
rivalries, religious differences, and ethnic animosities.
Now gl Ahd end other secret societies were able to unite
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these diverse elements at least temporarily, The Iragis
vorking for Faiesal in Danascus were the catalyst vhich
fused the opposing internal factions for the fight against
the foreigner.

The gl Ahd sent emissaries end probably money to the
Shi'ah toewvnspeople and tribesmen in an effort to enlist

their aid, 164

The Shi'ahs formed Hares al Istiglaal,
(guard of Independence) their own party, in Baghdad in
February 1919, in competition with al Ahd for the leader-
ship in Iraq.

By whatever means and motive, at least a tacit
agreemeni was reached beiween the two Moslem groups, Sunni
and Shi'ab; a truce vas maintained long enough to unite
public opinion to a degree not thought possible just months

'!m!."c:»ro.]'65

164Thoro is some controversy over vhether money was actually

sent to the S5hi'ahs. They denied that they ever received
any although Al Fir'aun says that $26,000 in gold was
sent by Faisal "with some persons"; the same author

says that "not one farthing reached Ayatallah or any

of the leaders of the revelt." See Pir'aun, Vol I,

part I, pp.288~9, cited by Kedourie, op. ecit., p.191.

During the first few weeks of Ramadhan, the Sunni
and 5hi'nh used each other's mosques for politieal
meetings, and even attended each other's prayers, a
rare oceurence,

165
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Bolshevik=Turkish Support

The Arab Nationalists were not alone in their resis-
tance to British rule in Mesopotamia., An abstract from a
Baghdad ypolice intelligence report dated April 3, 1920
read as follovs:

Bolshevism and rebellion are the topies of
conversation everyvherej; and "Pen Arab" is

gradually merging with "Pro-Turk.,"” There is

little doubt that ex~Turkish officials are

fanning the sparks of unrest and excitement,

and look forward to open demonstratiom if got

ectumlly open revolt in the near future,l6

There was indeed a conspiracy between the Turks and
the Arab Nationalists in Syrie after November 1919, and
quite probably this conspiracy included the Bolsheviks.

Miss Bell wrote: "There was no lack of evidence to
show that a league of conspiracy, organized by Bolsheviks
in cooperation vith the Arab Nationalists had long been
in touch with extremist Arab political societies, wvith the
object of exploiting the common ground of religion,.. the
only unifying bond between these various elements... in
order to undermine the British position in the Middle East. 67

¥hen Fnisal was told to bargein directly with the French
after November 15, 1919, he was bitterly disappointed. He

lost effective control in Damascus and there is ample

1665.0. 371/5226, doe. 5287, datea M8Y 26, 1920,
673011, Review, op. git., p.144,
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evidence that some of his followers were in contact with
agents of Mustapha Kemal in hopes of establishing a
defensive alliance. Police reports from Baghdad talk
about Bolshevik activity but there is a paucity of evidence
inithe file.

The young exiremist officers of the Al Higb al Hurr
(Independence Party) vere effectively in charge vhen
Faisal returned to Damascus from Paris in Jenuary 1920,
Faisal vas unsuccessful in his efforts to play the British
ageinst the French, and the extremists suspected that he
bad made an agreement with the French vhile in Paris. There
had been preliminary talks between them, but no evidence
that Faisal agreed to a French compromise., Faisal hed
left Prance aboard a Mrench warship., When Faisal greeted
Colonel ¥aters Taylor im Beirut on January 14, he told
Taylor that he had not signed the propesed agreement with
the Fremch, but had brought it with him in order to obtain

the comsent of his pcop10.168

He soon realized the impossi-
bility of achieving ratification of the agreement. Faisal
instead had to struggle to maintain leadership in Damascus;
" his popularity had diminished and that of a group of

officers who called themselves the Young Arabs had replaced it,

lésZoin-, Struggle, op. eit., p.130,
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General Claytom, chief of British Intelligence, Cairo,
hed reported during the summer of 1919, that Paisal's held
on the Arab movement in Damascus had all but disappoarod.lsg
Faisal was forced nov, in January 1920, to declare for the
Young Arabs, or surrender the leadership Faisal's family
had won through their role in the Arab Revolt.

Major Bray, a special intelligence officer attached
to the political department of the India 0ffice, 7" prepared
an extraordinary report in September 1920, which conneects
the Arab nationalist movements in both Syria and Mesopotamia
with the successful movement in Turkey led by Mustapha
Kemal Ataturk, The report stated that this union of Arab
and Turk was only part of a larger conspiracy directed
by Berlin and Mescov, The report by Major Bray was marked
"wyery seeret," Vhile preparing it he had access to all
the records of the India Office. The report is apparently

vell documented in most instances, but lapses into deduction

169, 0. 371/5228 doc. 14820,

1TOHnjor N.N.E, Bray, a specialist on the Pan Islamie
uestion, was appointed by the India Office as special
intclligencc officer for the purpose of investigating
the causes of the unrest in Mesopotamia. He obviously
accentuated the "external" causes in an effort to make
the India 0ffice and Colonel Vilson's administration
less to blame, The Foreign Office later ap inted Col.
Cornvallis who had been director of the Arab Bureau and
an advisor to Emir Faisal for a year as a special
investigator of the causes. Predictably, Cornwallis
felt that British blunderes had caused tgo problem, and
that outside factors were incidental.
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and speculation im othorl.l7l
Major Bray reported that neither the local discontent

nor any faults of the administration were the causes of
the uprising in 1920, He said that the Pan Arabs, the
nationalists, the disgruntled gffendi, the tribesmen,
and the priests, taken separately were innocuous, but
taken collectively formed a very dangerous combination.
Bray described two important meetings wvhich involved
the Arab nationalists: the first at Montreux, presided
over by Talaat Pasha one of the ruling Turkish triumvirate
vho came directly from a visit to Berlinj a representative
of Emir Faisal was present, The meeting took place on
Kovember 15, 1919; its purpose wvas to discuss a) a defensive
alliance betveen the Damascus Government and Mustapha Kemal,
b) to unite all the chiefs of Arabia on a Pan Islamic
basis, ¢) to ask the King of the Hedjaz to head the movement.
The second meeting occurred on December 2 or 3, 1919,
Zaki Pasha, the Turkish representative arrived at the Belle
Yille Palace in Herne, Switzerland,where he met Amir Chakib
Arslan and delivered a message for Talaat Pasha to the

effect that Faisal entirely concurred in the arrangements

1715 0. 371/5230, doe. 12339,
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agreed to at the meeting at Montrenx.172

Major Bray quoted several messages from Constantinople
which show Turkish comnection with the tribal agitation.
He also gquoted Mustapha Kemal vho admitted his connection
with the Areb movement. Af an example he quoted a con=-
versation between Mr. Stern of the Foreign Office and
Mustapha Kemal when Stern vas attempting to talk Kemal
into a truce to end the fighting between Greek and Turk.
Kemal agreed, if Turkish sovereignty was guaranteed, to
disband his troops and to abolish the organization of anti-
British propaganda and the sgitation kept up by his agenis
in Mesopotamia, Ciliecia, India, Caucasus, Persia, otc.173

In summary the repsrt attempted to show the conmection
betveen the various secret societies such as al Ahd, in

Mesopotamia, Nadi al Arab in Syria and the Mouhaviddin
Society of Anknr;.lT‘

172040 referenced documents listed in the report show that
Arslan did attend the meeting but his connection with
Paisal is doubtful, Faisal did correspond vwith Arslan
end said that he admired his work, but nothing exists in
the FPoreign Office file to show that Faisal recogniszed
Arslan as his spokesman,

1735 0. 1054 dated 20/8/20 eited by Bray, ibid.

lv‘rho Mouhaviddin society according to the records, had
definitely proclaimed itself pro-Bolshevik, with repre-
sentation in Moscow.
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Major Bray published a second report in the causes of
unrest in Henopotumi;.lTs In his preliminary report he
had described the attempts by Mustapha Kemal to enlist
the aid of the Arasb nationalists. In his second he traced
the cause of unrest directly to the Eastern Department of
the Berlin Foreign Office and the Moscow Government.

Enver Pasha solicited the aid of Berlin and Moscow in
his nationalists movement but was told that he must arrange
unity of epinmion among the Arabs before he could expect
help from these governments, Enver Who was one of o ruling
triumvirate could do nothing without the concurrence of
Mustapha Kemal Ataturk, who in turn received the support
of the Arab society. Bray traced each step in the movement
ineluding the Switzerland meetings and tells how the
Bolsheviks planned to use the Arab movement as a aid to
its own plan for vorld revolt.l76

Major Bray had a change of heart in this second report,
In the first he saw no significant internal causes for the
unrest in Mesopotamia; in the second he did. He suggested
the enlistment of the aid of Al Ahd "of wvhich Jaafar Al
Askari is ®» member;™ saying that the society was "at heart
anti-Turk."

175p,0. 371/5231, doe, 12339.

1751 chart from Major Bray's report illustrates the German-
Bolshevik-Asiatie intrigue., This is included as Appendix E.
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The Pan Arab Party in Mesopotamia is as sincere
and ardent in its desire for independence as the
Egyptian Nationalists. The majority of this party
favor development under British control, they have
been persuaded that the independence they hoped
for wns being denied by them., If we can enlighten
them as to our honesty of purpose there would
appear to be good grounds for hoping ve might 177
detach them from the Nationalist-Bolshevist contrel.

Tribal Unrest

No one doubted the potential stremgth of the tribal
orgenization in Mesopotamia in 1920. The Turks had kept
the tribes under comtrol by inciting them against each
other. The British on the other hand, supported the shaikhs
and land owners in return for their allegiance.

The arrangement turned out badly for the British. In
certain areas the tribes turned on their own shaikhs when
necessary to rid the country of the British. It is generally
believed that their rising was brought about by "outside"
interference, but there were many internal factors which
perpetuated tribal unrest within Iraq.

Among these factors was the rivalry betwveen the tribes-
men and the townsmen (particularly im Baghdad) that had
existed comtinuously throughout Iraqi history. Although
the centers of nationalist unrest vere in the cities, it

was the tribes who did the fighting during the rebellion.

177Mnjor Bray, op. £it., p.15.
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The tribesmen is dependent upon agriculture for his
livelihood, therefore almost the only contaet he had with
the British administration had to do with land or some-
thing related to land., The owners of the tribal lands
vere seldom the men who tilled the seilj Iraq wvas a land
of absentee lendlords and tax farmers; because of this,
the distributionm of wealth was very poor-it was inevitable
thet the farmer and tribesman would apt for change. British
administretors had mo compunctions about entering into land
problems vhich had remained unsolved for centuries. They
also established a through system of revenue and taxes.
These last mentioned, revenue and taxes, were matters
vhich effected every farmer in Iraq and they afforded a
fallow field in which to sow anti-British propaganda.

Lieutenent Colonel E,R, Howell, Wilson's deputy, and
responsible for a land development scheme, established a
Revenue department which typified the new British efficiency
as opposed to the complacent Ottoman methods. The Turkish
Pasha had depended upon tax~farming, often through absentee
land-lords, as & means for collecting revenues, The Pasha,
in turn was required to send a fixed amount to Constantinople;
i4 vas his business hov much he got from the people. The
British method was more direct; Colonel Wilson's own poli=-

tiecal officers were responsible for assessing land and
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crop values and collecting taxes based on the estimate.
British rates of taxation were actually more lenient

than those of the Turks had been, but their system of
direct assessment and collection was so much more efficient
that they were able to collect more of the amount owedj

in consequence the system of revenue appeared to the

farmer to be excessive.

Buined fields and lack of seed crops were another
problem, VYhen the Turks and Russians left as the wvar came
to an end, they destroyed vhat crops they did not eat or
take vith them., The British devised a method for lending
capital to buy seed and repair irrigation ditches and pumps.
During the war the British often did this themselves or
helped the farmer without demanding repayment, In 1920
the food crisis had passed so the British put borrowing
on & business basis, demanding repayment vith small interest
plus a tax on the crops.

The Turks also bequeathed the British an extremely
complicated land registration system, "The Turk " wrote
Gertrude Bell, "has a genius for lack of uniformity and
he applied his peculiar gifts with notable success to every
branch of his land revenue syltcn.“lTs The Turkish systen

173‘.11, 9D s_’_-j.-, p.82.
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land title and tax assessment had created an administra-

tive labyrinth vhich Colonel Wilson's administration attacked

with great vigor.

Unfortunately the Turkish system of land grants was a

combination of tax~farming end political expediency, also

e means of diserediting certain shaikhs by manipulating

ownership to punish these vhe might cause trouble., The

Bri

tish decided to continue the Turkish system of land

registration wvith a more direct method of tax assessment

and collection.,

its

The British plen to subsidime certain shaikhs showed
elf in this method of registering land. Many times

lands which were unregistered under the old Tapu system

ver
The
of

all

abs

e submitted to the Political officer for ;rbitration.179
deeds for land ownership were registered in the names
the tribal shaikhs for convenience. The British alse
oved the large land ovners in the cities to continue as
entee landlords,

The delay in settling the peace was especially bother-

some im the matter of land ownership and taxation. Many

179

Tapu was a system by vhich a land freeholder established
¢laim to his land but the cost of registering had been
prohibitive for the small farmer; consequently he did

not bother to register his land, He found that his title
lapsed after a certain period which allowed the government
to claim the land and sell or lend it to someone else,
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cases could not wait, Colonel Wilson, acting on the
advice of his assistant, Colonel Howell vho had derived
a remarkable scheme for land development and utilization,
let the administration become involved in the buying and
selling of land, He was eriticized for this at the Foreign
Office because it involved the administration in long term
leases,as many &8s twenty five years. This violated the
policy that the British would not give the impression of
preparing for a long stay in Mesopotamie, This was another
indication that in Wilson's view the British wvere there to
stay. The shaikhs in wvhose names the small tribal forms
vere registered soon made it obvious that they considered
the arrangement permanent, thus perpetuating the feudal
nature of Iraqi agriculture., The British were wrong againj;
the system gave cause for nationalist propaganda which
proved more cosily than the good will of shaikhs was worth,

The assessment and collection of taxes by the British
politiecal officers did nothing to endear the occupation
government to the tribesmen, The small owner or feudal
serf wvas quite villing to listen to any plan wvhich would
expell the British and, more important, break up the large
estates,

The clergy were another powerful voice among the tribes,

It was often through the clergy whe hoped for a return to
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some sort of theocracy that the tribes were approached.
The Shi'ah Mujtahids were religious leaders who despite
their extremely narrov educations maintained a strong hold
on the people. The clergy sav no benefit for themselves
in the British administration; to them it was an infringe-
ment upon their suthority., They nurtured the seed of
revolution within their following and vere responsible

for keeping the rebellion going after any hope for success
had disappeared.

The two years following the war had done little to
ameliorate the internal unrest which had always plagued
Mesopotamia. The armistice vhich stopped the fighting also
stopped many var-time sources of income for the Iragqi., The
erop destruction and several seasonal failures had added to
rising unemployment and poverty.

The tribal affinity for loot is often cited as a reason

for the unrost.lso This was no doubt true in 1920 but was

13°Stcphan Longrigg who vae a politicel officer during the

revolt, wrote years later: ",..indeed the histery of
the Buphrates in 1935-6 reproduces faithfully the
episodes of 1920 on a smaller but important seale. It
shows again the ease with vhich the Shaikhs were willing
to follow, as they followed in 1920, any movement vhich
seemed to offer them personal or tribal advantage——
government-~appointed paramountry in the tribe, a seat
in the Chamber, a reopened land dispute, or a grant of
rice lands-- vith motive of no wider a patriotism than
those similarly exploited by the Baghdadi's fifteen
years earlier,
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not a significant factor. More than loot, a desire of
the part of the agricultural tribes to break up the large
estate was a big incentive, The tribesmen made little
distinction between British and fellow Arabs during the
raids of the summer of 1920, especially vulnerable were
the holdings of the absentee landlords and tax farmers.

The nature of the tribal troubles bespeaks a paro-
chialism which though exploited by the townsmen and young
extremest officers in order to further the nationalist
cause, had little to do with nationalists per se, especially

not in the sense of a united Iraq.

Errors in Administration

Adding to existing pitfalls, British poliey in 1918~
1920 allowed for further administrative errors which
worsened the situation.

In Colonel VWilson's view, British officers were the
only ones capable of administering Ireq. He attempted to
spread his civil administration into every part of Mesopotamia,
and in some cases, beyond it., This practice might have worked
if the people had been willing to recognize British authority
or if there had been sufficient troops to enforece that
authority.

Wilson expected his officers to enter into every aspect

of administering the country, especially the lav and revenues.
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The political officer was, in addition to his already
preseribed duties, responsible for the educational program.
The Netionalist movement throughout the world was concerned
with education and Mesopotamia was no exception. Colonel
Wilson was eriticized for the lack of secondary schooling
provided by his administration, Wilson admitted neglecting
this program but excused it by saying that the primary
schools must be developed first in order to train teachers
for the higher schools.

With the exception of a religious school in Baghdad,
opened and supported by Shi'ah religious leaders, not one
secondary school was opened by the admininstration during
Wilson's tenure, Colonel ¥ilson's reasoning was sound in
theory; in practice, it was a costly uiltnko.lsl

Mr. Dobbes,Montagu's assistant at the India Office,
felt that the use of political officers as educational

182 Colonel Wilson's reasons for so

advisors was wvrong.
using his officers was that he was short of personnel and

that no one was better qualified than the politiecal officer

181Colonel Wilson did give permission for one Shi'ah secondary

school to open in Baghded which was never anything but a
sounding board for nationalist anti-British agitation.
Strangely enough it remeined open and quiet during the
tribal revolts.

18210k 4722 part III doe. 1462 dated March 18, 1919,
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to know the needs of ihe people in this regard, nor more
able to explain the administrations' position.

The rivalry between Sunni and Shi'ah was present in
1920 just as it had been for centuries., The Sunni Moslems
vere a minority in comparison to the Shi'ah in Mesopotamia,
yet the British continued to favor the Sunni as the Turks
had before them, It is true that the 8hi'ahs had few
administrative skills, but the British did nothing to
alleviate this imbalance. Instead, the Sunnis were given
the majority of eppointments and seats on the provinecial
councils, This neglect, like the educational one, gave
the anti-British agitators a damaging piece of propaganda,
The Shi'ah stoed to gain from any change in government,
many of the Sunni politieiams favored the British for this
reason,

The arrival of the depemdent military families during
the last four months of 1919 was a sore subject., They
vere a: headache during the uprising, and they also gave the
impression before the revolt that the British intended to
stay a long time in Mesopotmnia, This idea more than any
other the British government had wanted to avoid, The
eivil administration cannot be eriticized for the arrival
of fanilies, the decision wvas made by the military whe wire
well avare of the proscriptiom for not "prejudging the peace

conference.” Another reasom for not bringing them in was
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the clamor at home for reducing costs in Mesopotamia,
General Haldane admits in his book that he saw the docu-
ments concerning the dependents wvhile he was still in

London, but also did nething to stop 11.183

Dependence upon the Peace Conference

“Thoso.ehurgcd vith holding down the 1id of the Middle
East cauldron vith their bare hands had good grounds for
complaint, for their countrymen in London and Paris would
neither agree that the pot was boiling, nor take steps to
move it to the side of the fire,"

Britain, rather than take the initiative, waited in
the vain hope that the dilemma would somehow solve itself
at the conference table.

During the hiatus between the end of the war and May,
1920, vhen the revolt started,most of Whitehall's policy-
makers were in Paris at the conference. Mr. Balfour, the
Becretary of State for Foreign Affairs spent most of the
period there; Lord (urzon acted for him in London, Indeed,

Lord Curzon himself was called to Paris for several months

lagillsubcth Monroe,

(London: Chatto
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at a tine and matters requiring his attention were often
kept in sb.yunoo.184

At the conference Lloyd George tried to have Syria
and Palestine treated separately fronm Mesopotamiaj he hoped
to establish the administration in Mesopotamia vith little
fanfare since it did not enter into the Palestine-Syria
dispute. However, neither the Fremch, nor Faisal, nor the
Zionists vould let Britain play down Mesopotamia, all for
different but very obvious notives.

Gertrude Bell said that before the armistice the people
of Mesopotamia had accepted the fact of British occupation
and vere resigned to the prospect of British nd-inintration.lss
If the problem of Syria could have been settled to the satis-
faction of both France and Faisal, the situation in Mesopotamia

would have taken a different turn. Britain would have been

18481r Hubert Young, who vas close to Lord Curson during

this time, said of his absence, "Lord Curzon was in
Paris all through the month of Jamuary 1920, and it was
difficult to get any decision taken about Mesopotamia,"”
Young, op. git. p.30l. Once Lord Curzon held a eritical
telegram from Colonel Vilson for mn inordinate time, It
was received November 15, 1919, and contained a request
for an Interdepartmental Conference on his decision that
an independent Mohammedan state was impossible under

any circumstances at that time., Young says, "The papers
were all retained by Lord Curzon and did not appear again
in the office until April 1920." TYoung, op. git., p.204.

1858011, Reviev of Administration, op. eit., p.126.
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able to decide what needed to be done there and acted
more quickly., Most of all, they could have announced
their plans., It vas the indecision that palled
The French hovever, were not willing to make the peace
in Paris on British terms with regard to Europe or the Middle
East, In a private telegram to Sir Percy Cox in Teheran on
November 14, 1919, Lord Curzon said, "Present situation in
Mesopotania is causing us considerable anxiety. The French
are insisting upon the absolute parallelism of Mesopotamia
end Syria, PFaisal is quite capable in his difficulties
vith the French of embarassing us by similar tactiel."lss
Thus the British found themselves in a dilemma during
1918~1919 concerning Mesopotamia.
British poliey at the conference was complicated by

the India Office's opposition to Faisal's claims. Immedia-
1ely after the Armistice, Arthur Hirtzell had wvritten a
memorandum for Mr., Montagu calling upon the peace conference
delegations to recall that nothing was owved to Emir Husain
and that the Arabs should be alloved fend for themselves
in Syria., He wvrote:

If we cannot eliminate the Fremeh from Syria,

neither can we veaken their hold there without
preo tante veakening our hold over Mesopotamia.

186

gggg;ggtl og Brit%ah Po;ggi% Policy, edited by E.L.
oodvard utler (Londomn: H.M, Stationary

Offi ce, 1952) » P» 531,
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I submit that lHis Majesty's Government should

at once pronounce themselves accordingly for the

guidance both of the British delegate of the

Peace Conriggnoo and of the Civil Commissioner,

Baghdad...

The good will among the Iragis toward the British wvhich
Miss Bell described disappeared during the two years of
Colonel Wilson's administration. Wilson's personal
popularity was never a problem with the Iraqi people,
nor with the members of his admimisiration, nor with the
India Office. He kept all concerned well informed about
his day to day actions. He was in constent contact with
Londonj the files are full of communications in vhich he
deseribed his actions and his views, Until thr amiddle
of June, 1920, vhen the uprising was already out of
control, his superiors in Londom let all initiative remain
with Wilson; it was only then that the communicationsto
Baghdad became directive in their tone and content.

Internal rivalries as well as international pressure
cauged England to take the easiest course in deciding

about the future of Mesopotamiaj; that was to make no decision

at all, Arnold Wilson, left to his devices, did not hesitate

18T10R File 10.2.38 doc. B246.
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4o implement his own thloriol.lss

His tactics in Mesopotamia
contributed to the uprising in the spring and summer of 1920,
o8 did the other factors, both internal and external, enu-
merated here. Some of the events were inevitable; some of the
problems difficult, if not impossible, to solve, but mest

vere in themselves effects to the indecision and lack of

guidance from Whithall,

1887, the Interdepartmental meeting on June 17, 1920,

vhieh finally decided to sack Wilson, everyone talked
about the "Wilsonian prineiples.” While discussing
an interim successor for Wilson until Sir Perecy Cox
could return to Baghdad, many names were eliminated
because they were as much or more "Wilsonian" than
Wilson himself. F.0. Cab, 24/20, June 16, 1920,



CHAPTER 1X
CONCLUSIONS

The effects of the Iragi uprising are much more
difficult to ascertain than its causes. There is a great
deal of wishful thinking of the part of the modern Iraqi
vho attempts to deseribe the rebellion as a "national war
ofliberation.” Some Britomns, on the other hand, prefer
to think that it vas an isolated and spontanecous expression
of netionalist fervor, much akin to nationalist movements
so videspread in the years following Vorld V¥War II,

Both vievpoints conmtain elements of truth, but they
are both overshadowved by the fact of Britain's poor hand-
ling of the situation in Mescpotamia, as well as that in
the entire Middle East following the war. FElizabeth Monroe,
in Britain's Moment in the Middle East, deseribed Britain's
moment as the period from 1914 teo 19563 but it might better
be restricted to the period between 1918-1920, the period
of the Peace Conference.

The disintegration of the Ottoman Empire left a void
in the Middle East, one which England could have filled.
Britain failed to realize her potential there after the war
because she failed to organize a forward-looking pelicy
based upon a realistic evaluation of her interests in the
area, This vas no less true for Mesopotamia than it was

for Syria, Palestine and Egypt. 5She was, at the end of

154
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the war, the heir apparent; her failure was in not under-
standing what her role should have been in an area of
developing national conciousness.

Any analysis of why the tribes rose against the British
administration is impossible if one insists on finding a list
of reasoms commen to all the tribes, The fact is that certain
tribes rebelled and others did not and for a variety of
reasons, 8 good many simply because their neighbors did or
did not. Often the personal ability of the nationalist
sgitator or the resident political officer was the only
determinant., Despite agitation before the revolt, it was
for the most part spontaneous.

An interesting ares for speculation is the connecdtion
of the Iraqi revolt with the Arab Revolt of 1916, The
latter started in the Hidjaz and spread te Syria and
Palestine; the former may have been part of a chain reaction
to the over-all Arab struggle ageinst foreign rule which
started in the peninsula during the war. Chronologically
end historically the Iraqi episode was closely associated
with the first which many describe as the first flush of
militant Arab nationalism,

A large number of books have been written about the
event by the Iraqis of different sectional and political
persuasions, Much of the eriticism directed againsi these
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vriters arises from their confessional and sectional
prejudices. Many of their reasons for the revolt and for
the results it achieved can be dismissed as so much
patriotic zeal. The real results of the uprising can not
be so easily established; for many it did have a connee-
tion with the Arab revelt of 1916, C(Considered as an
sdjunct of the earlier revolt it helped focus a national
consciousness among the Arabs, coordinated their loyalties,
and gave direction 10 the major problem of gaining national
independence.

Most Iragi writers insist that the rebellion forced
Britain to establish am Arab government in Iraq and

g This opinion

eventually grant complete independence.
is not supported by the facts vhich show that Britain gave
somevhat less automony to lraq after the revolt than she
promised before it begen. Britein bhad made its first
¢lear«cut statement of policy toward Iraq om June 19,1920,

4 month before the uprising. Colonel Vilson objected to the
snnouncement, because it went further than he wanted to go
in grenting the Arabs a share in their own goevernment. The
government which actuslly materialized in 1922 was hardly
that deseribed by the announcement in June., A good illu-
stration is the choice of Faisal as regent. Fortunately,

he turned out to be & good cheice, but there is mo question

189%0x the Arab viewpoint of Antonius, op. git., p.358.
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that he was a British choice and that he was selected by
referendum only after British pressure upon the Iraqis
assured his selection., Yet the announcement of June, 1920
had promised the Iraqis complete freedom to choose any

type of leader and to make the specific choice. The British
were wary of granting too much freedom in the wake of the
insurrections, and definitely adopted a "go-slow" policy.

A further proof that the insurrection changed very
little is the Mandate itself, which was implenented
according to all pre-revolt specifications. The announce-
ment of the Mandate was ostensibly the spark which ignited
the uprising, the terms of which had been written more than
& year before by Colonel House, President Wilson's principal
adviser at the Peace Confnroneo.l90 The fault was that
the Arabs vere never made aware of this; Britain's objection
to it had been that the mandate was identical for both
Mesopotamis and Syria.

Abdulleh Fayyad, an Iraqi, claims that the tvo main
objectives of the revolt were first, complete independence
and second, the evacuation of the British army from Iraq.

He admits that neither of these vere accomplished by the
revolt but insists that it caused a reversal of British

policy. Fayyad says that Sir Perey Cox was quickly

190 re1and, 03. sit., p. 341.
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dispatched to Baghdad wvith instructions to form an Arabd
government and that the decision was made o deal with

191 Not

Iraq by treaty rather than by means of & mandate,
mach of this was true. Not even the most radical extremists
thought Iraq could govern itself in 1920, not was there any
significant change in British poliey after the revolt. This
is proven by Sir Percy's instructions which gave him a great
deal of latitude in deciding vhat was best for both Iraq and
England., His instructions vere not changed; they were in
keeping vith the announcement of June 19, 1920, As for

the treaty, Mr. Montagu had suggested such a departmental
meeting at the Foreign Office on Monday, May 17, 1920.192
Sir Hubert Young, who was the recorder at the meeting,

said that he himself had suggested a treaty with Iraq s
month and a half earlier. Both suggestions probably

stemmed from the results of the Milner Commission in Egypt
in the early months of 1920 which also recommended a treaty

relationship between England and Egypt.

Wilson's Recall
The Iraqi uprising can not even be credited wvith
Armold T, ¥Wilson's recall in October, 1920, The decision

191 ,paullah Payysd, Rey £ 1920 (Baghdad:
Al Irshad Press, s Pe .

192y0ung, op. eit., p.313.



159

to replace him hed been made almost a year before; it was
Just & matter of making Sir Perey Cox available. Sir Percy
had been occupied with settling British political problems
in Persia which appeared to be under control at the time
the Iraqi cauldron was boiling,

Arnold Wilson had been an inexperienced young man
vhen he stepped in for Sir Perey Cox thirty months earlier.
As a lieutenant in the India army prior to the war, Wilson
had performed creditable service in the wild tribal terri-
tories of Persia. In December, 1913 he was one of twe
British commissioners responsible to delineate the Persia-
Turkish boundary, a knotty problem in view of the oil
rights concerned. Vilson had only slightly more than ten
Years experience in the ecivil service vhen he became acting
eivil commissiomer in 1918,

The flaccid state of British policy after Vorld Var I
wvas due in no small part to the division of authority among
the polieymaking agencies in London, Rather than too much
guidance, Vilson received too little; the only decisions
of consequence in Mesopotamia during his tenure prior to
the annountement of the Mandate were made by Vilson himself,
Longrigg vho served during the entire terms of Cox, Wilson,
then Cox again, ¢alls him "indefatigable" and every other
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account by those vho knev and worked vwith Wilson agreed
that he was available tventy~four hours a day, extremely
erudite and dedicated to his task,
Arnold Wilson passed from the scene hors de combat,
his ecareer as a government official ended, Professor
Kedourie thinks that vhatever mistakes Wilson made, they
could mot have appreciably influenced the outcome of events
in Mesopotamia. The odds ageinst him were too heavy, his
opponents too numerous, his views oo unfashionable for
his policies to have had any chance of getting the support
of the British go#trnnoni.l93
Wilson himself may have touched the heart of the matter
vhen he vrote: "The problem of Irsq was at the time many-
sided, and several departments of State were simultaneously
dealing with various aspects, often wvithout comsultation
vith each other. There was virtually no correlating
asuthority in Whiteball: each question had to be fought
out as it arose, generally by telegraph, both as to the
prineiples involved and as to their loeal npplieutien."194
The many London agencies involved in the formulation
of British policy in Iraq were nmore prone to second-guess

than to suggest a plan of aetion. The India Office had

193lodour1-, op. git., p.197.
194y s180n, op. oit., p.217.
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been responsible for appointing Colonel Wilson., MNore
important, Colonel Vilson continued to report directly
to that office throughout his tenure as acting eivil
commissioner. Although none of its members would defend
¥ilson in June 1920, they had seldom, if ever, overruled
his actions. Wilson wrote: "1 can recollect mo case
of any importence im those three years, nor indeed, for
the previous three years, during wvhich I was deputy to
Sir Perey Cox im which the eivil administration had reason
to complain of or take exception to a decision reached by
the India Office on matters vithin its oo-potonea.'lgs

It wvould have been better for all concerned if Colonel
Wilson had had fewer friends in the India Office. W¥Wilson
said: "Neither Hirtszell nor Shuckburgh had ever visited
Mesopotamia, Persia, or the Persian Gulf, but they had an
understanding... vhich made their memorandum generally
more reliable and often more enlightening than those of
Arabian experts... They were alvays sympathetic and never

consurianu.'lgﬁ

Subsequent British Policy

In its instructions to Sir Percy Cox when he was
returned as High Commissioner in August, the Indie 0ffice

:::Uilioa, op. git., p.261,
dbid.
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elloved him a great deal of latitude; he wvas directed
to allov the Iraqis as much voice in the government as
possible and yet retain authority for Britain. The Arabs
vere to have free choice of the type of government, as well
a8 the choice of the head of state or king if a monarchy
vere selected. All ministers of State were to be Arad
vith assistance by British secretaries who would be
employees of the local government, The major reservation
vas that the High Commissioner retained the final say in
all matters of controversy betveen the Areb ministers and
their udvi:orl.mT

The uprising did effect subsequent internal relations
betveen Britain and the Iragis, The various elements of
the population vied with each other for the lions' share
of the oredit for ihe revolt. Bo+ih Sunni and Shi'ah
communities ¢laimed to have been the prime ¢ause of the
rising; the claim becane synonomyous with anti-British
sentiment and persisted throughout the term of the Mandate
and beyond. Those Xraqis who %ook part in the Mandate
government vere considered collaborators by the majority

of the population of Iraq. Conversely, the British could

"77‘.0. 371/5229. Appointment of Sir Percy Cox as High
Commi ssioner: Instructions of Hie Majesty's Government,
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not help but remain suspicious of those tribes who had
taken up arms ageinst them in the summer of 1920, This
mutusl distrust was self-reinforeing end it not only
veakened every governnent formed under the British negis,
but persisted until the revolution of 1958,

To the officers of Colonel Vilson's administration
the uprising was a biiter disappointment which undid much
of the good done sinece the war in Iraq. To the British
Government it was:

+os reminder that its formulation of poliecy had,

less in itself than by its delays and psycholo-

gical maladroitness, taken too little account of
local discontemi, or of the force of Iraqi nationa-
lism snd its power of popular appealj a reminder
also, if such had been needed, of the need for

such a regime in Iraq as would, by satisfying

major elements in that country, lighten the
finaneis% burden developing on the British tax-

payer.

The defect in the orgenization of WVhitehall which
alloved this fragmentation of respomsibility was corrected
shorily after the Irsgi uprising. At a Cabinet meeting in
May, 1920 Winston Churchill had asked that responsibility
for Mesopotamia, a8 well as the entire Middle East area,
should be concentrated in Colonial Office. Attached to his
memorandum on file at the Public Record Office is a map
vhich illastrates the excessive cost of the many military

lgabonqrigg, op. git., p.l22,
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garrisons in Mesopotania. Churchill had no difficulty

proving that the long supply lines were prohibitive in

cost,l99 ineffectual, and vulnerable to defeat in detail

by & tribal uprising. This evidence was presented just

prior to the beginning of the insurrection, At a sub-

sequent Cabinet meeting, Secretary Montagu alse recommended

that all Middle Eastern areas should be placed under a

single controlling agency in London.zoo
The new Department recommended by Churchill and Montagu

came into existence on February 4, 1921, Mr, Churechill,

vhe had been secretary of State for War and Air, was sent

to the Colonial Office as Secretary for the New Middle

East Department. The collection of young talent was impressive:

Hubert Young, Vilson's protagenist at the Foreign Office,

vas appointed as an assistant to Sir John Shuekburgh, Wilson's

foremost defender at the India 0Office. Colonel Lawrence was

attached as Political Advisor and Colonel Meinertzhagen,

vho had succeeded Sir Gilbert Clayton as Chief Politieal

Officer to Lord Allenby in Caire, was put im charge of the

military desk, The formation of this office was one very

tangible effect upom British policy brought abeut by the

1995 6. CAB 24/106 CP 1320. Churchills memoramdum is dated
May 1, 1920,

200p_ 0, CAB 24/107 CP 1402, dated June 1, 1920,



165

insurrection of 1920,

Churehill often spoke later about his association
with "that most gifted group of young men." Whatever
decisions vere made in the next few years regarding the
Middle East were made by them., And yet, the lessons
learned in Mesopotamia after World War I were by no means
sufficient to cure all of the ills of British Foreign
Poliey at that time., For this was the time of what George
Dangerfield described as termed "the strange death of
Libersl England."®®l A1) of the primeiple members of Lloyd
George's last cabinet had lived their formative years in
the nineteenth century; Balfour was born in 1848, Milner
in 1854, Boner Lav in 1898, and Curzon vas, in Leord
D'Abernon's phrase, "born eloquent" in 1859, England needed
to experience a change of direction in its policy in dealing
vith the territories which had been part of the Ottoman
Empire; the new concepts such as nationalism and self deter—
mination needed to be met with a new approach, Already
Milner and Balfour had shown signs of recognizing the need,
but England was slow to change and its moment had almost
passed. In spite of the troubles in Iraq in the summer

of 1920, at a meeting in December of that year, the cabinet

201
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agreed that a) it was not possible, without further con-
sideration, to reach a decision on the Government's future
policy in Mesopotamia, amd b) that in a House debate
scheduled for two days hence they should resist demands
for any deelaration of policy beyond that which had already
been made sinece the vsr.zoz

British Foreign Poliey had not advanced much in the
tvo years since the wvarjy it remained for nev faces with
fresh ideas to try to repair the harm which had already

been done.

202p.0. caB (20) (1) 13, Bee. 1920.
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e Future of Mesopotnia.

{(NoTe ny S Percy Coy.)
. o I,

L. Before dealing with lesser i=sucs | should like o siate the position as I
understand it to be at present, to make sure that 1 start from the right
premises.

(i) In the proclamation swhich we issued on onr arrival at Baghdad we
anportneel 1o the people, and, in the Press, to the world at large,
that we emme as fricnds and not as ronquerors, o emancipate
the inhalitants ol the country from the oppressive rule of the
Twiks, and to assist them to work ont their desti ny on Imore
auspicious lines. Jucidentally we ingited them to come forwarl
and take part in the adiministration. ‘

(i) In the annovncenent of policy made Ly is Majesty’s Government in
the telegram of 20th Mareh 1917, from the Sceretary of State for
India 10 the Viceroy, it was stated that, whemas it was contemplated
that  the Dasrah  Vilayet  fas then defined) should * remain
permanently under British administration ™ and aunexation was
definitely sudieated, the Baghdad Vilayet, an the otler hand, was
to be formed into an Arab State or rovivee wider British protection,
in everything but mumne,

2. During the year that has since elapsed the general situation bas under- |

- gone considerable development, an important feature of which has heen the
entry of America into the war, and in the latter connection certain fundamental
prineiples have been enmmeisted for which Ameriea in yarticnlar and the other |

j Allies in general are considered 1o e fighting.  Of these principles the one
which partienlarly comcerns us at the moment requires that the peoples of the
countries intervsted or affeeted should be allowed to Jetermine their own form |
of Govermwent.  Recently the Prime Minister las publicly stated that the
destinies of Palestine, Mesoputimia, &c., will be decided at the Peace

! Conference.

3. I gather that it is now propesed to delibiorale as to what particular

j 8teps or line of action are advisabile in order to square onr working policy with |

the ahave principle and announcements, in case we should have to adhers to |

* them in spite of the fact that Germany has not respecierd them in dealing with |

Cconeuerad territory in Russia, ; ‘

4. I assume that, if at the end of the war we fimlourselves ina sufliciently

- strong pasition, and in ellective administrative control, e should still hope to

~annex the Basiali Vilayet and exercise a veiled protectorate over the Baghdad |
Vilayel ; but it is recognised that the question of anmnexation has becore
exceedingly difficult eis-cevis the President of the United States, who will
presumably exercise the most potent influence at the Peace Conference.  Our
original proposals must cousequently be regarded as a connsel of perfection,
and we must be prepared to accept sumething less, At any rate, however, we
have the strongest grounds, in view of our assurances to the inbabitants and
the millions of money we have sunk in making the Part, for standing out for
the annexation of Dasrah and from thence to the sen. with a small block of

‘ territory necessary to round off the enclave. As regards the rest of the
cccupied territories, the essentinl aim must Le to effect the complete elimination ’
of T'urkish suzerainty, and it is assumed that we shall leave no stone unturned '
to achieve that ¢nd, only tolerating its retention in the lust resort. %o

S = b —— e
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L. Before dealing with lesser i=sues I should like to state the position as T
understand it to be at present, to aonake sure that I start from the right
premises.

(i) Tn the proclamation which we issucd on onr arrival at Baghdud we
anvonneed 1o the peaple, and, in the ’ress, to the world at large,
that we eame as friends amd ot as conquerors, to emanecipate
the inhabitants of the country from the oppressive rule of the
Tutks. and 19 assist them to work out their destiny on more
auspicious lines. Jucidentally we imyited them 1o come lorward
and take part in the acdministration, :

(i1) Tu the announecment of policy made by Tis Majesty's Covernment in
the telegram of 20th Mareh 1917, from (he Secretary of State for
India 1o the Viceroy, it was stated that, whereas it was contemplated
that  the Basrah Vilavet  fas then defined) should * remain
permanently wnder British administration ™ and annexation was
definitely iwdicated, the Bagldad Vilaxet, on the other hand, was
to be formed into an Arab State or 'rovinee under British proteetion,
in everything hut name.

2. During the year that has since elapsed the weneral situation has under-
gome considerable develapmient, o important feature of which has heen the
entry of America into the war, and in the lutter connection certain fundamental
prineiples have heen enomeigted for swhich America in particular and the other
p Allies in general are considered to he fighting, O these principles the one
which particalarly concerns us at the moment requires that the peoples of the
countries interested or alfeeted should bie allowed to deteroine their own form
of Govermuent. Recently the Prime Minister has publicly stated that the
destinies of Palestine, Mesopatamia, &e:;, will be decided at the Peace
C Conlerence. ‘
§ 5. I gather that it is now proposed to delilierate as to what particular |
steps or line of action are advisable in order to square onr working poliey with |
the aliove principle and anvouncements, in case we xhould have to adhere to
them i spite of the Taet shat Gernany has not respected them in dealing with |
conquered territoryin Nussia,

4. Dassume that, if at the end of the war we find ourselves in a sufficiently
strong position, and in effective administrative control, we should still hope to
annex the Basrah Vilayet and exereise a veiled protectorate over the Baghdad |
Viluyet 5 but it is recognised thut the question of annexation has hecome
exceedingly diflicult vis-i-ris the President of the United States, who 1will
presimably excrcise the most potent influence at the Peace Conference.  Our
original proposals must consequently be regarded as a counsel of perfection,
and we must be prepared to accept something less. At any rate, however, we
have the strongest grounds, in view of onr assnrances to the inhabitants and
the willions of woney we have sunk in waking the Port, for standing out for
the annexation of Basral and from thence to the sea, with a small block of
territory necessary to ronnd off the enclave. As regards the rest of the
ocenpied territories, the essential aim must be to effect the complete elimination |
of Turkish snzeminty, and it is assumed that we shall leave no stone unturned '
to achieve that end, only tolerating its retention in the Jast resort.

Piblic Record Office f1le F.0, 371/3387
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5. Inany case we must sot onr Dices against the admission of the slightest
Turkish element or participation i the adwimstration.  In this conneetion, [
should mention that when Lwas in Cairo it was sngaestad that, as eveuts were
shapivg, we might be obliged to doeide to cone to some eomipromise with

Turker at any moment ;. | also learnt there of Sherif Faisal's secrot avertores |

to the Turks; and when a<ked my opinion 1 expressed the view that if in the
last resort we were eampelled to come o some compromise with Turkey [ dil
not consider that the reteution of nomival Turkish suzeruinty need e considered
aitogether incompatible with the realisation of our practical aims, always
proviled that the country were safeguarded against the least econtral or
interference by Tuarkey in the achninistration.  As eases in point we have the
precedent of Eexvpt and 4he wore pertinent one of Koweit.  The fact is tlat
the hulk of the people ol the conntry are not concerned with abstenes theories
or niveties of Tuternational priveiple : for example, as Jong as the Shaikh of
Koweit feels assured that his interests are under our practieal protection, anil
are sufe in owr hands, he does not tronble bis hewl as fowhether in the distaner
Turkish suzerainty exists or pot. 1 think the position would be the same in
the case of the inhabitants of lrag, where nine-tenths of them are altogether
inarticulate, snd all they arve concerned with 1= the wauner of their trestinent
hy the Government actuadly in control of Daghdad.  As regards the vemaining
tenth, who are capable of understuvding the real issues, they would, of course,
not be completely reassured (sopposing thay the fietion of Turkish suzerainty
were heing maintained) unless they were absolutely safeguavded against the
participation of Turkes in the sdministration.  Lassume, therefore, that we are on
common gronmd in coansidering that if the Tarks were to be allowed 10 retain

the snzerainty of Mesopotamia (wimes Dasral) they wmust, at any rale, he

completely eliminated fram the administration, and that it must b sur wission
to cusnre that Trag obtains the administration which the country needs and
which her futare demands,  “There mnst be no Torkish Commissioner and o
Turkish flag, A special flag must he devised.

ti. Aluding for a moment o the question of relative statns, ns hetween
the Basrah and Bagldad Vilayets respectively, it is oy very definite opinion
that a homoweneous wlministration in all practieal aspects is not in any way
incompatible with o eehnical difference of politieal status, and that it s
essential in the interests of the country that the administration of hath
Vilayels should be nniforio, thay of the Basrah Vilayet being brought into line
with Daghdad in due conrse.

. Incansidering the precise form of the administintion there are several
alternatives to be weighed in the halanee, and attached to each alternative are
subsidiary difienlties which need consideration.  For the moment we will
consider the fiaghdiad Vilaget only, on the Ly pothesis that Basiah Vilaye! can
be made to canforur it at a convenient Junebure,

8. The ruestion of thie * Arab Ligade " olfers no insurmountable dillicultics
towmy i, The essennial problem is the determination of status 1o be
assigned to the provinee of Traq. 1t s agreed that the administration shosld
be wnder British guidavee, @ the more complete the British comtrol can b,
the better for the conmtry.  In faet, unless it is assured the conntry lius no
future, for it would he bmpossible to get money for its developwent nnless
investors are satisfied that theie interests are fully safeguarded, a condition
whicl eannat be assured exeept wnder protective British supervision.  [low s
that supervision to be achicved s The most satisfactory solution woull scen
to be govemment by a High Commissioner assisted by a Couneil, formed

partly of the Heads of the wost important Departments of State, anid partly of |

representative nou-otliciil members from among the inhabitants. Dot the

foreigu relations of seeh a government must obivicusly lie in British hauds,

and it would thus be practically a Dritsh protectorate.

9. If sueh an arcangement conld be achieved and recognisel hy the
Powers, well and good ; bat if not, then the existence of a titular uative ruler
would become a neecessity. I dv not think it would he impossible to find one,

but the difficulty is that il the administration were given such a form it might
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Turkish element or purticipation in the adwministeation. o this connection, [ | 168
should mention that when L was in Cairo it was suggostal that, as events were
shaping, we might be obliged to decide to come to some compromise wiltli
Turker at any moment ; | also learnt there of Sherif Faisal's seerot overtiures
to the Thrks ;: and when asked my opinion T expressed the view that if in the |
last resort we were compelled to come to some compromise with Turkey 1 dill
not consider that the retention of nominal Tarkish suzerninly need be considered
altogether incompatible with the realisation of our practical ains, always
provided that the country were safeguarded against the least control or
interference by Turkey in the administration.  As eases in point we have the
precedent of Eeypt aud 4he wore pertinent one of Koweit.  The fact is that
the hulk of the people of the conntry are not concerned with abstract theories
or niceties of international principle; for example, as long as the Shaikh of
Koweit feels assured that his interests are under our practical protection, amd
are sale in our hands, he does not trouble his hiead as o whother in the distanee
Turkish suzerainty exists or vot. 1 think the position would e the same in
the case of the inhabitants of Trug, where nine-tentbs of {hem are altogether
inarticulate, and all they are coneerned with is the manner of their treatment
by the Government actually in coutrol of Bagldad. As regards the remaining
tenth, who ave capable of uaderstanding the real issies, they wonld, of course,
not be completely reassured (supposing that the fiction of Turkish suzerainty
were being maintained) nnless they were absolutely safeguarded against the
participation of Turkey in the adainistration. Lassuie, therefore, that we are ou
common ground in cousidering that il the Turks were to be allowed 1o retain
‘the snzerainty of Mesopotamin (mins Basvaln) they nst, at any rate, be
completely elininated from the adwinistration, aud that it prust be onr mission
to cosure that Iraq obtains the administration which the conntry needs and
whicli her futare demands.  There must be no Turkish Commissioner and no |
Turkish flag. A special flag must he devised,
. Aliuding for a woment to the question of mlative status, as between |
the Basvah and Bagldad Vilayets respectively, it is my very delinite opinion |
that a homogeneous administration in all practical azpects is not in any wiy
incompatible with a wehnical difference of political status, and that it ix
essenticl i the intercsts of the country that the administration of both
Viluyets should be uniforia, that of the Masrah Vilayet being brought into line
with Baglulad in due conrse.

7. Invonsitlering the precise form of the administration there are several
alternatives to be weighed in the balanee, and attached to each alternative are
subsidiary difficulties which need eousideration.  For the moment we will
consider the Bagldad Vilayet only, on the hypothesis that Basiah Vilayet can
be wade to conform to it at a convenient juncture.

8. The question of the ** Arab igade™ offers 1o insurmountable diftienlties
o wy mind.  The essential problom is the determination of status to be
assigned to tho provinee of lraq. I is agreed that the adwinistration should
be wnder British guidance, and the more complete the British eontrol can bies,
the better-fowr the comntry.  In faet, unless it is assured the conutry lias no
future, for it would e Tmpossible 10 get money for its development viless
investors wee satistied that their inwiests are Mlly safeguarded, a condition
which cannot be assured exeept under protective British supervision.  low is
that supervision to be achieved *  The niost salisfactory solution would seern
to he government Ly o lhgh Commissioner asststedd by a Comnell, formed
partly of the Heads of the wost importint Depariments of State, and partly of |
yepreseitative non-oflicial mewbers from amons the inhabitants.  But the
foreign velations of sucl a government must obviously lie in British hands, |
| aud it woukl thus be practically a British protectorate. ‘

J. If such an arvangement could be achivved aud recognised by the
Powers, well and goord ; but if not, then the existence of a titular uative ruler

- would become u necessity. 1 o not think it wouldl be impossible 1o find one,
- but the difficulty is that il the administration were given such a form it might
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consilar represcntation by Foreign Powers; the former contingeney being one |
which we should obviously do our ntmost to escipe.

PO it is decided that we should liive a nominal headpiece 1o the
ahministrotion to condiet his own loreign alfaivs wnder British guidance, |
think, as 1 have said above, that it wonld be posstble to fined o Toeal eandidate,
avd I eannot see the least justiticating or necesity for intrdueing one of e
Lumily of the Sheril of Mecea 1o play this vole. | have alwavs ventured to
deplore the fact that the discussion of the fatare of i with the Sherif, as
me of the pawns in the negotiations with lim, was ever permitted. [ have
alsoexpressed my views plainly on the political aml practical vhjeetions to
recognising himeas King of Avalia aml Sovereign of @ group of Confederate
States.  Inmy opinion a more rensonable solulion would be that he should
remaian King ol Hejuz, and, if desived, have his own representative awith
Foreign Powers, while the”Toreign reltions of the fraqp State, and of the
other eonfederate Avady Potentages or States, should e in cur hamls, For the
Avab Baler of the Irag State a titlg might he devised conveying something
less than Kiog, eq., Sultan or Hikim (Rolery, and all the Confealerate [tulers
would wndoubtedly puy appropriste deforence o King lussein as Sherifl of
the Holy Places in the Hejaz,  If considered essential in view of their con-
mitments to the Sherif, is Majesty's Government might even decide. to
suaranter the pavment to him of a0 aenual subsidy in some form from the
fesenurs of Irar, as recognition of his services to the oanee of Arab indepen-
denee during the wanr; or, as « religions eontribntion towards the upkeep of
the Holy Plyres,

IT.
Opserbarions ox an amenr Dirasen I=xi K,

VE o oy Lvol aodhority, danastio or 1 presenditive, be discorvered thint
wall vomaand the ueeessary moral sonetion ia the conuniry ns e chole 2 g
worght does Kewg Hussein o liis feantly varvey with the loeal Ayhe?

Loy opinion, wie have o the ANagibvel Baghdad and Lis family a dynastie
clement whicl weuld ey the necessary mworal sanetion, in the Baghea
Vilavet mudoubiedly, aved, in my opinion, in g as o whole, 1 heliove (hey
vould T brought to identify themeelves witl Dritisl, mterests. The present
wagih himsell possesses o vere great prestige and inflvence not only in
Mesopotamia but anong the Mohammedans of India, and I feel sure his
selection as Head of the State would be recarded as an approprisge selution,
atal beveevived with favour thronghant India as well as Mesopotnia,  I'he
Naeph o comnsiders Bimsclf superior, in purity of deseent and nobility, to the
Sherif, amd po Jess povtant, aml the introduction of relative of the Sherid
ol Mecea as Head ol tlee Ste of Fiagg wonld, in my apinion, be greatly |
misunderstiold and resonted by the Nagib and his famile. and thus tend to
ahicnate our anost potent clement of infloenee over the A rabe of Trag. King
Hissein and his Laniily carsy no weicht i Frag, swhere only the most distant |
interest is taken in i, In the early tiys of the Sherif's entiy into the lists,
when the nuestion of givive him nilitaey help was baing discussed, the
toenesal Otlieer Conmanling,  Me potaieg, was ashed by the War Oifice |
whether the Luilure or collapse of the Sher it wonld prejudice onr military or |
political interests in Mesopotnnin, 1 replicd alher delilerate consideration
that the inhabitants Tud ot been ot all rooved by his suecesses, and would, in
o opiuiom, regard his Galoge wip) cornplete indifference,

12, What  wmatevials vxist [ o0 sclting wup a Local Administration or
Adnrinistrations of a switabiv vhavacte, ©

There is adequate Avab or Ioeal material available or i the making  for
the subordinate services of the admini=tration. The difliculty we are con-
fronted with at present, aml must be for some tinm 0 come, is to find
Hidividoals suitable for higher Posts in the administration, e.g., ;‘Jut0;'::*,5111-‘3‘1"3,‘1

e e
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1 difdicule for it to avoid heing hampered by capitulations, and the right to |,
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IRl ol Do it (o ol 'In-ing.h.'\m;wrf:l'i by eapitulations, aml the right th
- cousulie representation |y Foreign Powers; the former coutingeney being one |
which we f’"mmhl obviously do our utmost 10 escape, \ OF

I 10 it is deeided that wo should Bivs a nominal headpiece (o the
administration te conduet Lis own loreign alfairs wnder Diritish guidanen, |
think, as | have said ahove, that it would e possibile to finel o Joeal candidlate,
avl Leannot see the least justilication or necessity For inteoducing one of the
furily of the Sherif of Mecen 1o play this vdle. | have always ventured 1o
deplore the Tnet that the diseussion of the future of lrag with the Sherif, as
ore of the pawns in the nevotintions with bini, was ever permitted, | have
alae expressed iy views plainly on the political and practical chjestions to
recognising him as King of Arabia and, Sovervign of a group of Confederate
States.  lumy opinion a more reasonghle solntion woulld be that he should
remiin King ol Hejaz, and, if desived, have his own 1epresemtative with
Foreign Powers, while lhu’fm'rigu relations of the Iraq State, and of the
other confederate Arab Potentates or States, should liejo cue hands,  For the
Avab Halor of the Irag State a titls might be devised conveying scmething
less than King, e.qg., Sultan or Hikim (Ruleey, and all the Confaderate Itulers
would undoulsedly pay appropriste deference 1o King [ussein as Sherif of
the Holy Vlaces in the Hejnz,  IF vonsidered essential in view ol their cona
mitiments to the Shevif, 1fis Majesty's Government might even decide. to
guaramtee the paymeut to him of an winval subsidy in some form from the
Yevennes of Ira, as recognition of his servives to the canse of Awb indepen- |

tence during the war; or, as mligions eontribution towards the upkeep of
the loly DMaees. '
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LL Can muy Ared i thavitn. doynarstic or 14 presevdutive, be discovered that
eidl saniinand the nevessony meryol sanetion sa the cornatriyg as aachole?  War
reerld dovs King Hissoin o iis Jwwasly cavey with the loeal Ag s ?

T my opintion, we have in the Nagibel Baghdad and his family a dyuastic
clement which wouki eare 1l necessary moral sanction, in the Baghdad
Vilyet undonlted v, ard, in my opinion, in Irag us a whole, 1 holiove they
vonlel be browgdnt 1o identify theiiselves with British interests. e present
Nuqile Himsell possesses very great prestige and inluenve it only in
Mesopotamia Lot aong the Molevamedans of Inclia; andd -1 feel sure Wia
seleetion as fead of the Staite wonld be vegurded as an approprinte selution,
and b receiverl with favour theoughont India as well as Mesopotamin,  The
Naaib considers hirnself superior, in purity of desecent gl nobility, to the
Sheril, and no bess Ginportait, aned the itroducton of a welative of the Sherif
of Meeea as Head ol (e Stite of g wonld, in oy opinion, he  greatly |
mi=iderstood and resernid by the Nagih aoil his Lmily, aud thns tend o
alichate our mest potent element of - influcnce over the Arabs of Irg. King
Hussein and his Fily cavey no weizht in lrag, where only the wost distant
interest is taken in him, Iy the early days of the Sheril's entry iuto the hists, |
when the gquestion of geving hin eilifaee help was being discossed. the
Cheneral Ofliecr Commanding,  Mesopotaiog, wais ashod by the War Office
whether the fuilure or collapse of the Shevii wonlid prejidice onr wilitary or
political interests jn Mesaptamin,  We n plied alver delilerate consideration
that the inhabitants Tl 1ot hoen 101 all moved Ly his suecesses, and would, in
our apimion, reguard his Bilore wigl cotnplete indifferenn,

L2, What  saterials exig for selting wpea Laoeal - Adwinistration or
Adminstralions of a suitable chavaetes i

There is adequate Nl or Joeal naterial available or iy the making for |
the snbordinate services of the iministration.  The diflicalty we are cone-
tromied with at present. and minst be fur some time 6 come, is 1o find

individuals suitable for higher posts in the adiinistuation, .., Mutessarifs,
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Qaiagams, wueh as would be filled in the Indian administration by gazetted |

officers —Deputy Commissioners, Assistint Commissioners, The reason is
that under the Turkish #égime almost all these posts were fillad by pure
Turks ; these Lave been eliminated, and there is ul present no oue to fill their

~place. Wherever we have tried ex-officers of the Jate Administration they

have almost invariably proved wnsatisfaciory ; they are in fact saturated with

. the evil traditions of the végime in which they have heen bronght up and

trained.  [ntil we can create this element, enlisting as far ns we are able the
assistance of the Egyptian and Seudan Administrations, we must rely mainly
on yonng British officers. 1 may mention here that whereas I have done my
ntmost to employ experimentally any inhabitants of the country at all likely
o he snitable, this laudable endeavour finds no favour with the local
inhubitanta concerned. T am continually appealed tn Iy them not to place
the < onduet of their affairs in the bands of ex-officials of the lats régime,
even though they be Arabs of the country, on the ground that they have all
heen horn and Ined in a vicious school of corrnption, and eannot rice ahove
the evil traditions of the past. The population, from the cultivator to the
well-te-do merchant or landowner, infinitely prefers to he handled by a British
offices, who of course employs Arab subordinates.

15, [ fully realise the importance of finding or ereating a type suitable
for employment in the superior posts, but the fuet is that it does not at
present exist.  In the more subordinate posts onr personnel is almost entirely
indigenous.  YWhere other elements, Indian or Fugliel, are employed it is
almost entively iu the parely clerieal or technical branches of the Headquarter
Admiuistration, eg., clerieal and zypler branches, English branch of Govern-
ment Press, &e. The following is a roogh analysis of employees in the
Baghdad Vilayet :— '

Arab, Armenian, Christian, Jew, ex-cmployees of the late

Govermment taken over by us - . - 210
Newlr samnetioned by ws:— -
Mobammedans of Iaq - ~ < 17
Domiciled Persians of Iraq - - - 16
Jews of Irig - - - - 6O
(‘hristians, Srrians, Chaldeans - . - 139
Layptians - - . - 3
In tian Christiang - - - - 19
British-born Furopeans - . < 35

{Government oflices, Government Press, &e.)
1. The highest type of official correspomling to those who function as
Hemds of Depariments and Ministers of State does not exist in Mesopotamia ;
they will have to be importe.

13, 1o what extent iz the Ndmeinistration based on Tidian moelels, and to
wial cxlent ts Dritish supercision sndispenzalle ?

Except in that the *“Trag Occupied Territories * Code of Law applied in
Basralr is based on Fnglish and Indian Law (just as the Soudan Code is) the
administration is not in any way based on Indian models. We have taken
over the strueture of the 'T'urkish administrative system ns we found it,
substitnting British officers for Mutezsarifs, Raimaqams, &c., but for the
present designating them Political Oificers and Assistant Political Officers,
while in the posts which, wnder the Turks, woull Lhave heen filled by an
oflicial of the status of Mudir; we have heen able 1o employ patives of the
conntry subject to the exception that wherever British gurrisons or troops are
located it is essential, owing to the difficulty of the langnage question, and
the fact that the local product cannot be left to deal with our troops, to
use British officers, and we thus require more of them now than will be
necessary in the permanent administrution after the troops have lcft. But
apart from that, as | have explained above, until we can produce the
necessary t,v&e of snperior Arab official more extensive and close supervision
by British officers will continue to be necgssasy. i

|

|
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| 16. Tu my opinion, with the unavoidable exception of the military »égime
! of the Military Governors in the large towns, the administration as earried on
fin Basrah and Baghdad Vilayets is that to’which the people, both urban
| and rural, have been accustomed, except that the element of corruption is
| greatly reduced.

, 17. The branches of the administration in which we are neeessarily most |
¢ backward, and in regard to which onr hands are in a great measure Lied |
' during the military oceupation by military considerations and exigencies, are

the Civil JTudicial and Civil Me:lical.

18, As regards the former, Mr. Bonham Carter, the Judicial Officer who

was lately appointed from Egypt, has only been with me a short time, but is

now getting into the saddle. 1 have submitted to the India Office a eopy of |

proposals for a temporvary judicial svstem for the Baghdad Vilayet formulated
by himn in consultation with meo. It seems to me just what is required.
Meanwhile, such local Inw anil justice as has heen essential has heen
administered by my district Political Officers with simple civil and eriminal
powers granted them hy the General Officer Commanding-in-Chief on my
recomiendation.  As a matter of fact, ontside the large towns we have been

little troubled with civil and commercial suits, incapable of adjustment by

comprumise through the gopd offices of the local Political Officer.

19. As regards the Civil Medieal branch. We are almost ready for the
separation of the Civil Medieal work from that of the Army Medical, and just
before I left I raised the question with the Director of Medical Services as to
whether the time had not now come for creating a Clivil Medical Department
with a separate personnel, though' still to be nnder his general superyision,
It is under lively consideration. A similar separation has recently been
effected in the Department of Civil DPosts, but in thess matters we are 80

dependent on the ‘military organisation that we have to defor to their views to |

a great extent as to when developments are feasible,

20. The extent and the period for which British and Indian Troops will be
reqived after the War is a diflicult question for me to answer without
discussion with the military anthorities, and depends so much on the position
in which we are left at the end of the war. In peace times the Turks
employed ahont 20,000 regulars of all arms, ant 3,000 gendarmeria for the
maintenance of security and order in the Baghdad amd Basrah Vilayets, I
should say that, for a peace establishment for internal security only, wi shonll
require for some time after the war to keep a division in Mesopotamia with
one British regiment to a Brigade us at present constituted, and about the

same number of geml.lrnu-rie. exclusive of 1,000 eivil police for the towns,
In the conrse of time we should hope to replace the Tndian troops by Arabs, |

organised on the lines of the Flgyptian Army, bat it must necessarily take
soire years. I am not of the opinion that any Indian police will be required,

except small leavens to begin with to form a nucleus for the training of the |

indigenous prodnet. 1 hope that in this field we shall Le able to give employ-
ment to the Arab ex-officer of the Turkish Army, otherwise this elass will be a
difficnlt and malcontent element to deal with. ¢

21, The divections in ehicle e can most neefully diveet aur energics with
a view (o popularising owr Administration ave Irrigation, Edueation, amd Civil
Medical. In all these departiients we are alive to the importance of speeily
progress and are doifg our utmost compatible with existing conditions aml
with the material at onr disposal. =

22, The elements that we inost need to cneovage are : Firstly, the Jewish
corununity in Baghdad. In this connection [ recommend that Dr. Weizman
be induced, if possible, to pay a visit or send a reliable representative to
Baghdad to inflnence the Jewish community in favour of the British connection.
‘Secondly, the Arab notables aud nobility among the townspeople of Baghdad

caud Basrah. They are a somewhat impeeunions and backward element, hat

one which it is very necessary 10 encourage and take into onr counsels as far
~as possible. Thirdly, the wealthy landlord element, both Arab and Jew, and
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16. Tn my opinion, with the unavoidablo exception of the military 1égime
of tha Military Governors in the large towns, the administration as carried o
in Basrah and Baghdad Vilayets is that to"which the people, both nrhan
and raral, have been accustomed, except that the clement of corruption is
greatly reduced.

17. The branches of the administration in which we are necessarily most
backward, and in regard to which our hands are in a great measure tied

- during the military necupation hy military considerations and exigencies, are

the Civil Tudicial and Civil Me:lical.

18. As regards the former, Mr. Bonham Carter, the JTadicial Officer who
was lately appointed from gypt, has only been with me a short time, but is
now getting into the saddle. | lave submitted to the India Office a copy of
proposals for a temporary judicinl svstem for the Baghdad Vilayet formulated
by liim in consultation with me It seems to me just what i3 required.
Meanwhile, such loeal law  anil instice as has been essential has heen
administered by my listrict Palitical Officers with simple civil and eriminal
powers granted them by the General Offieer Commanding-in-Chief on my
recommendation.  As a matter of fact, ontside the large towns we have leen
little troubled with civil and commercial suits, incapable of adjustinent by
compromise through the gopd allices of the local Political Officer.

1. As regards the Civil Medical Lranch., We are almost ready for the
separation of the Civil Medieal work from that of the Army Medical, and just
hefore I left I raised the question with the Director of Medical Serviees as to
whether the time had not now come for ereating a Civil Medical Department
with a separate parsonnel, thongh still 1o be under his general supervision,
It is under lively consideration. A siwmilar separation has recently heen
effecte:l in the Department of Civil Posts, hut in theso matters we are so
tdependent on the “military organisation that we have to defer to their views to
& great extent as to when developiments are feasible.

20. The extent and the period for whieh British and Indian Troops will be
vequived after the War is a dillienlt question for me to answer without
discussion with the military anthorities, anil depends so mueh on the position
in which we are left at the eud of the war, In peace times the Turks
employed abont 20,000 regnlars of all arms, aml 3,000 gendarmerie for the
maintenance of security and order in the Baghdad and Basrah Vilavets, [
should say that, for a peace establishment for internal security only, we should
require for some time after the war to keep a division in Mesopotamia with
one British regiment to a Brigade us at present constituted, and about the
same nomber of gendarmerie, exclusive of 1,000 civil police for the fowns,
In the conrae of time we shoulil hope to replace the Tndian troops by Arabs,
organised on the lines of the Layptian Army, bt it must necessarily take
sonte years.  Lam not of the opinion that any Indian police will be required,
except small leavens to hegin with to form a nuelens for the training of the
mdigenous prodnet. 1 hope that in this field we shall be able to give employ-
ment to the Arah ex-officer of the Turkish Army, otherwise this class will be a |
difficelt and maleontent element to deal with. .

21. The divections in whicl we can most nse fully divect cur energies with |
a view to popularising ower Adawinistration ave Irrigation, Education, and Civil
Medical.  In all these departinents we are alive to the importance of spealy
progress and are doiig our utmost compatible with existing conditions and
with the material at onr disposul. .

22, The eleiments that we most need to encoinge are : Firstly, the Jewish
community in Baghdad. In this connection [ recommend that Dr. Weizman
be induced, if possible, to pay a visit or send a reliable representative to
Baghdad to infinence the Jewish community in favour of the British connection.
Secoudly, the Arab notables and nobility among the townspeople of Baghdad |
and HBasrah. They are a somewlhat npecunious and backwarl element, hut
one which it is very necessary to eucourage and take into onr counsels as far
as possible. Thirdly, the wealthy landlord element, both Arab and Jew, and |
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the important Shaikhs of the scttlod tribes. If it heetues a ruestion of
obtaining public expression of feeling in favour of British control, it can he | 172
done ; but I think the enbject would have te be handled cantiously. “I'he
intelligent inhabitants of Iraq at the back of their minds are possessed hy the
apprehension that Mesopotamia may coneeivalily be restored to the Turks at :

the Peace Conference, aml as long as this nightmare js present with them we |

- shonld merely emphasize jt by asking them which C(iovernment they would

prefer.  Bo so doing we should be clearly putting them in a very unfair |
position because they know well that if they eleet for Dritish contrel and if |
nevertheless the Turks were ultimately to return, all those who had declared
for us would receive short shrift, It will e understood that the rural
population of Traq as a whole is quite inarticulate and can hardly e consulted. |
As regards the elements who do count, e.q., the Jews and other denominational
comiunities in the large towns, they could witheut doubt bhe squared in some
form to give expression to the sentiments that we desire. Dut we must
consider and decile what is 1o e regarded as constituting the representative |
public opinion which we have to consalt. |
£3. Slepas to be taken to consolidate Commereial Influence in Mesopaamia,

The great initial difliculty here is the absence of commercial trunsport |
and general scareity of tonnage and accommodation, and last, but net least, |
the uncertainty of the future. It js difficult to enconrage private enlerprise
when acconumodation for agencies is not available.  Sites and land cannot he
kold, and machinery cannot bhe myperted |

‘We are most anxious to encourage trade generully, but to announce that
trade to Baghdad is open is to suggest that commereial tonnage hoth by cea
and by river js nv:n’lab{e and not Tiable to be requisitioned. Another dithienlty
is that, owing to tle importance of preventing supplies reaching the enemy
from the markets of [rag, we have not only to maintain an external blockade
cordon, but have also to limit exports inland from Bacrah to the minirmum |
requirements of the towns and communities nside occupied territory. This in |
itselfl interferes greatly with the natural flow of trade, yet we can only relax
our safeguards with great caution, As a matter of fact, there has quite
recently %eeu some easing ol the blockade. .

I Z. Cox, Ma Jor-General,
Loxpox, Civil Commissioner, Ba ghdad.

22nd April 1918.
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the important Shaiklis of the setiled tribes.  If it hecomes a question of
obtaining public expression of feeling in favonr of British control, it ean bo
done ; but [ think the subject would have to he handled cantiously. "I'he
intelligent inhalitants of Iraq at the back of their minds are possessed by the
apprehension that Mesopotamia may conceivably be rvestored to the Turks at
the Peace Conference, and ag long as this nightmare is present with them we
should merely emphasize it by usking them whicl Giovermment they would
prefer. Bo so doing we should he clearly putting them in a very unfair
position hecause they know well that il they eleet for Dritish control and if
nevertheless the Turks were ultimately to return, all those who had declared
for us would reeeive short shrift. It will be wnderstood that the rural
population of Iraq as a whole is quite inarticulate and can hardly be consulted.

As regards the elements who do count, e.q., the Jews and other denominational |

commmnities i the large tows, they could without sloubt he squared in some
form to give expression to the sentiments that we desire. But we wmust
consider and decide what i 1o he regarded as eonstituting the representative
public opinion which we have to consnli.

23. Steps to be taken to consolidale Commercial fnfluence in Mesopolamia.

The great initial difliculty here i the absence of commercial transport
and general scarcity of tonnage and accommodation, and last, but not least,
the uncertainty of the future. It is difficult to enconrage private enterprise
when accommolation for agencies is not available.  Sites and land cannut he
#old, and machinery cannot be mipaorted,

We are most anxious to cncourage trade generally, hut to announce that

trade to Baghdad is open is to suguest that commereial tonuage hoth by sea |

and by river is available and not linble to he requisitioned.  Another difliculty
is that, owing to the inportance of preventing supplies reaching the enemy
from the markets of {rag, we have not only to maintain an external hlockade
cordon, but have also to limit experts inland from Basrah fo the minimum
requirements of the towns and communitjes inside oceupied territory. This in
itself interferes greatly with the natural flow of trade, yet we can only relax
our safeguards with great caution. As a matter of fact, there has quite
recently beeu some eacing of the blockade.
P. Z. Cuxy, Major-Ceneral,
Loxnoy, Civil Commissioner, Baglidad,

22nd April 1918,
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APFENDIX B
British Remsons for Anglo~French Declaration of November 1918

I'rom Sen'c!ary of State to V 1c;6§.'_ Foreiguﬁmrtment,
28th October 1018,
(Repeated to Civil Commissioner, Baghdad.)

‘Foreign Secret. Following is -for yonr very confidéutial information.
Foreign Office telegraphed to His Majesty's Ambassador, Washington, 231d
October as follows :—

“As a result of our advance interpretation of our Agreement
with the French became a matter of urgency. From publication
the Bolsheviks and from other sources, both Arabs and French pub
‘aware of gereral tenour of Agreement, and it became necessary t8 reach
scme working arrangement with the French in order to avoid
complications which might hamper our furthér military operations.

“2. Modus vivendi has accordingly been arranged whereby, while!
supreme authority in all matters is left with Commander-in-Chief, civil |
administration in the districts recognised by the Agreement as having
-special interest for the French is to be in the hands of French officials acting
as General Allenhy's political advisers.

“3. In intimating to French Goverunment our acceptance of this’
arravgement we have stipnlated that it is to apply only to the territories
occupied, or to be occupied by General Allenby’s force.  With regard to the
Auture government of the other territories mentioned in the 1916 Agreement,
we have pointed out that the provisions of that Agreement no longer appear
suitable in all respects to present conditions in that the entry of the United
States into the war and the defection of Russia have radically changed the
whole sitvation. We have therefore suggested that as it would be useless
to atterapt a settlement at present this question should form the subject of
fresh conversations in whielr the United States and Italian Governments
shiould also be invited to take part. We have ground for believing that the
French Government will accept this suggestion. _

“4. In informing the Ttalian Ambassador of the substance of the above
commnnication to the French Government, we have invited ltalian participa-
tion in the proposed conversations, while assuring His Excellency at the |
same time that there is no intention of calling in question the validity of the
Treaty of London of 1015.

“ 5. But in addition to these measwres for meeting the immediate
practical difficnlties with the ¥rench, and placing the question in its wider
aspect on a proper inter-Allied footing, it has become essential to make some
‘publi¢ declaration in order to allay the misgivings and suspicions of the
Arabs and Syrians which may be dangerously exploited by our enemies.
It has therelore been decided to publish an Anglo-French declaration
outlining the policy which the two countries wish to pursue in the territories
in Syria and Mesopotamia delivered from the Turkish yoke, and we have
stipulated that this declaration shonld be communicated to President Wilson
before publication. The text will bé telegraphed to your French coll e,
and you should co-operate with him in communicating it to the President
- with the least possible delay, and telegraph when this has been done. . {

* +“ 6. You should also explain fran]-;ly to the State Department the whole |
situation as set out in this telegram.” . iz : ; J

Public Record Office file F,.0, 371/3384
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AFPFENDIX B

British Reascns for Anglo-French Declaration of November 1918

{*vom Secretary of State to Vieeroy, Fareign Department,
28th Oectober 1918, '
(Repeated to Civrl Compissioner, Baghdad.)

‘Foreign Secret. Following is for your very confidéntial information.
Foreign Office telegraphed to His Majesty's Ambassador, Washington, 23rd
Uctober as follows :—

“As a result of our advance interpretation of our Agreement®
with the French became a matter of urgency. From publication
the Bolsheviks and from other sources, both Arabs and French pub
aware of gereral temour of Agreement, and it became necessary
scme working arrangement with the French in order to avoid
complications which niight hamper our furtber military operatiens.

"2, Modus vivendi has accordingly been arranged whereby, while'
supreme authority in all matters is left with Commander-in-Chief, civil
administration in the districts tecognised by the Agreement as having
+special interest for the French is to be in the hanls of Freuch officials acting
as Geoeral Allenhy’s political advisers.

“3. In intimating to French Goverument owr acceptance of this
arrapgement we have stipulated that it is to apply only to the territories
occupied, or to be occupied by General Allenby's force.  With regard to the
future government of the other territories mentioned in the 1916 Agreeimnent,
we Liave pointed out that the provisions of that Agreement no longer appear
suitalile in all respects to present conditions in that the entry of the United
Slates into the war and the defection of Russia have radically changed the
whole situation. We have therefore suggested that as it would be useless
to attempl a settlemeut at present this question should form the subject of
fresh comversations in whicl the United States and Italian Governments
‘should also be ivited to take part.  We have ground for believing that the
French Government will accept this suggestion.

“ b In mforming the Italian Ambassador of the substance of the above
communication to the French Government, we have invited ltalian participa-
tion i the proposed conversations, while assuring His Excellency at the !
same time that there is no intention of calling in question the validity of the
Treaty of l.ondon of 1915,

"5 But in addition to these measures for meeting the immediate
practical difficnlties with the French, and placing the question in its wider
aspect on a proper inter-Allied footing, it has hecome essential to make some
‘public declaration in urder to allay the misgiviugs and suspicions of the
Arals and Syrians which may be dangerovsly exploited by vur enemies.
It has therelore beeu decided to publish an Anglo-French declaration
outlining the policy which the two countries wish to pursue in the territories
in Syria and Mesopotamia delivered from the Turkish yoke, and we have
stipulated that this declaration should be communicated to President Wilson
before publication. The text will bé telegraphed to your French colleague,
and you should ce-operate with him in communicating it to the President
with the least possible delay, and telegraph when this has been done. . !

6. You should also explain fmn];:ly to the State Department the whole ;
situation as set out in this telegram.” . : : ,

Public Reecord Office file F,0, 371/3384
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APPENDIX C

ANGLO~FRENCH DECLARATION
7 NOVEMBER 1918

The object aimed at by Prance and Great Britain in
prosecuting in the East the Var let loose by the ambition
of Germany is the complete and definite emancipation of
the people so long oppressed by the Turks and the establish-
ment of nmational governments and administrations deriving
their authority from the initiative and free choice of the
indigenous populations.

In order to carry out these intentions France and
Great Britain are at one in encouraging and assisting
the establishment of indigenous governments and administra-
tions in Syria and Mesopotamia, now liberated by the Allies,
and in the territories the liberation of which they are
engaged in securing and recognizing these as soon as they
are actually established,

Far from wishing to impose on the populations of
these regions any particular institutions they are only
concerned to ensure by their support and by adequate
assistance the regular vorking of governments and administra-
tions freely chosen by the populations themselves, To secure
impartial and equal justice for all, to facilitate the
economic development of the country by inspiring and

#a
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encouraging local initiative, to faver the diffusion of
pducation, to put an end to dissensions that have too long
been taken advantage of by Turkish poliey, such is the
poliey which the two Allied govermmemts uphold in the
Liberated territories.

Extracted from J.C. nth
hﬁ (New York: D, Van Nest ompany, 1ne., ’
Padls
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AFFENDIX D

Aide-mémaire in reyard to the Dscupition of Syria, Palestine, and Meso

: pending the decision in regard to Mandates, —~(Communicated to Fareign 0

: September 18.) : .
sy

l L. BTEPS will be taken immediately to prepare for the evacuation by the British

army of Syria and Cilicia, ineluding the Taurus tunnel,

2. Natice is given, both o the French Government and to the Emir Feical, of our
intentions to commanee the evacnation of Syria and Cilicia on the 1st November,
1919.

3. In deciding to whom to hand over respousibility for garrisoning the varions
districts in the evacuated area, regard will be had to the engagements and declarations
of the Beitish and French Governments, not only as between themselves, hut as between
them awl the Arabs,

4. In pursuance of this policy, the garrison in Syria west of the Sykes-Picot line
and the murisons in Cilicia will be replaced by a French foree, and the garrisons at,
Damascus, Homs, Hama, 1 Aleppo will be replaced by an Aral) force. :

5. After the withdrawal of their forees, neither the British Govermnent nor the
Britih evtnmander-in-chief shull have any responsibility within the zones from which
the armv has retived,

6. Tiswe territories oecupied by British troops will then be Palestine, defined in
arcordaner with its nncient boundaries of Dan to Beershelr!, and Mesopotamia, including
Mosul, the oceupation thus being in harmony with the arrangements eoncluded in
Drecember 1918 between M, Clemensean and Mr. Lloyd George,

‘ 7. The British Govermpent are prepared at any time to discuss the boundaries
between Palestine agl Syria, and between Mesopotamia aml Syria. In the event of
disagreement in regmd to the above boundaries, the British Government ave Prepa.rerl
to submit the question to the atbitration of a referee appointed by President Wilson.

' 8. Im accordance with the principles of the Sykes-Picot agreement, the French
Governmeat shall not ohject to the Arab State granting to the British Government
the right to construet, administer, and be the sole proprietor of a milwny line connecting
Hiifa with Mesopatwmia on o traee 1o be decided on after survev anywhere as far north
as the latitnde of Deicez-Zar,  The British Government, shall have the right to
construct oil-pipe lines ns well as the rilway line,  The British Government Bna.ll, in
alddition, huve o perpetual right at all times to improve the facilitios of these railway
ainl oil-pipe lines, and 1o branspogt troops along the raillway, and these rights shall be
exercisablle even in time of war, without mlrmgement of the nentrality of the French

| Government or of the Arvab State.  In the event of disagreement ns to the trace of the |

railway line and oil-pipe lines, the Dritish Liovernment are prepared to submit this
question o the arbiteation of a el appointed by President Wilson,

9. The British Government notity the French Government atd the Emir Feisal of
their intention immvedintely to carry ont 5 survey with the abject of finding, if practic-
able, a traee for the wmilway line and pipe lines entirely within” the British nandate. in
order to enable them to aveid the neeessity ol exercising the rights of construction
referved ta above, 4

10. Until the bowundaries of Pilestine and Mesopotamia are determined, the British -
commander-inclhief shill have the right fo oceupy oubposts, in accordance with the
boundary elaimed by the British Governmen.

11. The Frenel Government having accepted responsibility for the protection of |
the Armenian people, the British Government will consent to the immediats despa@h_!
of French troops vid' Alexandretta and Mersina for this purpose, o 2 o

_ Paris, September 13, 1919.
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AFTENDIX D

Aude-mémoire in regard to the Occupition of Syria, Palestine, and Mesopotam
pending the decision in regard to Mandales. —(Uommunicated to Foreign 0
September 18.) '

1. STEPS will be taken immediatelv t prepare for the evacuation by the British
srmy of Syriacand Ciliein, ineluding the Tawrus tunnel.

2. Notice is given, both tn the French Government and to the Emir Feisal, of our
mtentions to commence the evacuation of Syria and Cilicia on the 1st November,
1914, '

3. Indeciding to whom to hand over respounsibility for garrisoning the varvions
listriets in the evacuated avea, regard will be had to the engagements and deelarations
of the British and French Govermments, not only as between themselves, but as between
them and the Arabs,

1. In pursuance of this poliey, the garrison in Syria west of the Sykes-Picot line |
and the garisons in Ciliein will he replaced by a French force, and the garrisons at

Danmiaceus, Homs, Hama, and Aleppo will be n-pl:fcml by an Arab force, :

A After the withdrawal of their forees, neither the British Government nor the
British commander-in-chief shall have any responsibility within the zones from which
Lhe armv has vetired,

. Tie Aeritories ocenpied by British troops will then be Palestine, defined in

arcordiner with its aneivnt houndaries of Dan to Beershebd, and Mesopotamia, includine
Mosul, the oeevpation thus heing in barmony with the arrangements concluded in
December 1018 betwern M. Clemencenn and Mr. Lloyd George,
. . The Brntish Government, are prepared at any time to discnss the boundaries
letween Palestine anil Syria. and hetween Mesopotamin and Syrin.  In the event of
disagrecment an regnad 1o the above boundaries, the British Government are }n‘t-parell
to sithet the question te the a bitration of n referec appomted by President Wilson,

S0 aecordanee widh e principles of the Sykes-Pieot agreement, the French
Government shall nat ohjeet to the Aral State granting to the British Government
the right to construet, administer, and be the sole proprietor of a railway line eonnecting
Haific with Mesapotamin on o trace 1o be deeidod on after survey uuywimre ns far north
as the datitude of Deivez-Zor,  The British Government, shall have the right to
constraet oil-pipe lines as well as the rilway line.  The British Government shall, in
addition, have a perpetual vight at all times (o mprove the feilities of these railway
anel oil-pipe lines, and 10 Lransporl troops along the ratlway, and these rights shall be
exereable even iy time of war, withont mteimgement of the neutrality of the French
Government or of the Arvab State. Ly the event of disagrecment us to the trace of the
rathway hne aml ol pipe lines, the Dritish Government ape prepared  to submit this
grestion to the arbiteation of o pefepee appointed by President Wilson,

9. The Dritish Goversment notily the Frenele Government and the Emiv Feisal of
their intention immediately to rry onlosurevey with the object of finding, if practic-
able, a frace for the ridlway line and pipe lines entively within the British mandate, in
onder o enable them to avoid the necessity ol exereising the rights of construction
referved to above B

10, Until the boundaries off Palestige qnd Mesopotamin are determined, the British
commander-in-chief” shall have the vicht (o o eupy outposts, in accordance with the
houndary claimed by the British Government.,

L1 The French Government having aces pted responsibility for the protection of®
the Armenian people, the British Govermment will consent to the immediate despatelbrs
of French troopa vii Alexandretta and Mersina for this purpose, . '

. Paris, September 13, 1919.
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' RECENT EVENTS IN MESOPOTAMIA.

|

MEMORANDUM BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE FOR WAR. '
; I circulate a Memorundum on recent events in Mesopotamia. |
i - W.S.C
" Tae Wair OFrFice, :
; 30th September, 1920, _

1. To understand and apprecinte the courss of the present operations in
Mesopotamia, it is necessary to give a short account of the cause of the present
trouble.  Thhere is reasom to believe that its main source is not in Mesopotamia at
ull, and that the loeal trouble is only part of a general agitation against the British
Empire and all’it stands for,

2. The Middle Enst las been a fertile field for such propaganda and use has heen
wede of the. Turkish Nationalist and pan-Arab movements, and of religious fanaticism, |
armong the Moslem population.  The publication of the peace terms imposed on Turkey and |

the feeling aroused by them among Mohammedans, bad already created a spirit of anger igﬁ

among many peaceably digposed Arabs, which it only required the work of an agitator to
bring to active life, fll .anﬂ;igbion to these underlying factors, there are also various local
- csuses which have contributed to the general unrest. Delay in defining the status of
Mesopotamia which neeessitated the maintenance of absolute British administration long |
after the ammistice, had wn unfortunate influence on the country. In the opinion of |
the Civil Commissioner at Baghdad we have been going too fast in various |
administrative  matters afacting certain  tribes causing gradual loss of that |
popularity which the (fvil Administration enjoyed at first in such a marked |
 degree.  Collsction of the land revenue and other taxes, and the fear of the |
country being exploited by western comeuercialism have been sources of trouble
coupled with f

{

swey s, [TTYIMYD) uoj

the disappointment felt by the Arab landed interests, who reject the idea
that landlords have duties ss well as rights. We have, as a matter of pnliuy, backed
the sheikhs and supported their authority. They, in their turn, have tried 1o impose
too great a burden on their tribesmen, with the laudable intention of improving the
cultivation and ensuring good erops, by extensive work on clearing canals and maki
bunds, and ineidentally hawe lined their own pockets very substantially. The sheikhs
have discovered too late that they did not possess the ‘influence that they imagined
they had over their tribesmen, and are suffering accordingly. Complexity of Turksh
law on the subject often makes the position of political officers exceet.{iu ly difficult.
3. Another factor whicl has tended to cause discontent is the grngual appearancs
m the country of what way be called post-war conditions, such as have been felt for
some time n Kurope. High prices, shortage of necessaries, &e., and the sudden |
scyuisition by certuin classes of the population of wealth brought into the country by
the Army of Oceupation have caused discontent among the more numercus class
who fieel the pinch of presemt conditions ; for these we as the victors in the war are in
Mesopotamia as elsewhere naturally helil responsible. _
4. An important eontributory factor to the actual outbreak was the perception by
the tribes of our military weakness. To kick a man when he is down is the most
- popular pastime in the Fast sanctioned by centuries of precept and practice. As it was,
our withdrawals on the Upper Euphrates, and cur evacuation of Enzeli and Resht,
were seized upon by the sgitators and depicted as showing Great Britain's military
weakness. Cur inability to deal rapidly and effectually with the Rumaitha rising,
owing to the non-existence of a mobile reserve, and other minor withdrawals, gave
colour to these ideas and by diminishing our military prestige encouraged other
hotheads to join in the strife on the side of, as they thought, the top dog.
5. There is also reason to believe that the spread of the trouble has been fostered
urticles in the British Press, inspired 2{ the very natural desire for eoonomy.'?‘
nfortunately the demaud for our wilﬁdmw from Mesopotamia aud for handing over
Publie Revord Office file CAB u{iﬁn
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RECENT EVENTS IN MESOPOTAMIA.

MEMORANDUM BY THE SECERETARY OF STATE FOR WAR.
I circulate a Memorandum on recent events in Mesoputamia.

Ww.S8. C

Tax War OFFICE, .
30th September, 1920. _,

1. To understand and appreciate the course of the present operations in |
Mesopotamia, it is necessary to give a short account of the cause of the present |
Imulﬁe. There is reason to believe that its main source is uot in Mesopotamia at |
all, and that the loeal tronble is only part of a general agitation against the British |
Empire and all’it stands for.

9 The Middle East has been a fertile field for such propaganda and use has been
made of the Turkish Nationalist and pan-Arab movements, and of religious fanaticism,
anong the Moslem population.  The publication of the peace terms imposed on Turkey and
the feeling aroused by them among E\luh:unmaduns, had already created a spirit of anger
mmong many p(‘aiceublly disposed Arabs, which it only required the work of an agitator to |
bring to active life. In a(f()ﬁtiuu to these underlying factors, there are ulso various local |
causee which have contributed to the general unrest. Delay in defining the status of |
Mesopotamia which necessitated the maintenance of absolute grit.iah administration long
after the armistice, had an unfortunate influence on the country. In the opinion of
the Civil Commissioner at Baghdad we have been going too fast in  various
administrative matters affecting  certain  tribes causing gradual loss of that
popularity which the Civil Administration enjoyed at first in such a marked
Jdegree. Collection of the land revenue and other taxes, and the fear of the
country being exploited by western commercialism have been sources of trouble
coupled with the disappomtment felt by the Arab landed interests, who reject the idea
that landlords have duties as well as rights. We have, as a matter of policy, backed
the sheikhs and supported their authority. They, in their turn, have tried to impose
too great a burden on their tribesmen, with the laudable intention of improving the
cultivation and ensuring good crops, by extensive work on clearing canals and making
bunds, amd ineidentally have ]inefs their own pockets very substantially. The sheikhs
have discovered too late that they did not possess the influence that they imaginec
they had over their tribesmen, and are suffering accordingly. Complexity of Turkish
law on the subject often makes the position of political officers exceetlin ly difficult.
3. Another factor which has tended to cause discontent is the gradual appearance |
in the country of what may be called post-war conditions, such as have been felt for |
some time in Furope. High prices, shortage of neeessaries, &e., and the sudden |
acquisition by certain classes of the population of wealth brought into the country by |
the Army of Occupation have caused discontent among the more numerous class |
wlo fuel the pinch of present conditions ; for these we as the victors in the war are in |

|
|
l
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Mesopotamia as elsewhere naturally held responsible.

4. An important contributory factor to the actual outhreak was the perception by
the tribes of our military weakness. To kick a man when he is down is the most
popular pastime in the FKast sanetioned by centuries of precept and practice. As it was, |
our withdrawals on the Upper Euphrates, and our evaeuation of Enzeli and Resht, |
were seized upon by the agitators and depicted as showing (ireat Britain's military
weakness.  Our inability to deal rapidly and effectually with the Rumaitha rising,
owing to the non-existence of a mobile reserve, and other minor withdrawals, gave
colour to these ideas and by diminishing our military prestige encouraged other
hotheads to join in the strife on the side of, as they thought, the to dog.

5. There is alsoreason to believe that the spread of the trouble has been fostered
fl?r articles in the British Press, inspired bly the very natural desire for economy. -

B

nfortunately the demand for our withdraw

T
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'opinion was in favour of deserting the country for which we had paid so heavily.

LhAMSTTEy Fnmediately €0 an Fovermment merely sacceeded n convineing The
Arah mind, swayed already by his agitators, that Great Britain was in severe tinancial 4
straits, that her general mifi{mry power was on the wane, and that British publici

6. The following is a summary of the location and potential fighting strength of
the hostile Arab tribes in Mesopotamia aceording to-the latest information :—

b .
i : A pproximate -
§ Tribe fighting strength. Spheres of activity.
}
(1.) From Basra 10 BAGHDAD.
' (a.) On the Buphrates line. }
Muotafik* .. . e 43,000 Kurna vid [Iamar [ake to Nasiriyah and up the
' Shatt el-Hai
Khazail i . aa . 11,500 [ . .
Various < | 16,000 B .‘.‘samawn.h-—ﬂummﬂm—-l.llllnh Kufa area. |
Zobeud ¥ - . 5 l } ; (
Janabyiu - - .. 1,500 . Left bank between Musayib and Mshmudiyah. |
Masud ¥ - . {
|
- |
(b.) On the Tigris Lane. '
Baui Malich and neighbours - LR, Kurna to Amsra, . \
Albu Mulinmmed .. .o e 8,000 w0 |
Albu Darraj - A 1,300 Arnars. . |
Beni Lam .. o it e 5,000
Beni Rabiah .. e . ¥ 5,500 }Kut-el-.-\mara to Baghdad.
. . .e .e 3,0(h)

- Matters came to a head on 1st July when a party of the Dhawalim, a section of the

Various .

(2.) Bagupap—Hir AREA.

Znhaa .. . . o " 2,500 Zuglawiyah to Abugharaib.
Dulaimt o Var i . 27,000 Felujah to Asshur.

(3.) Bacupap—Mosun Area.

Shammar Jarba i i ™ 2,700 Mosul lines of communication.
Varinus o e i . 400 spasmodic riding.

(4) BacHDAD —KIREUK—QUAIRITU (PERSIAN RATLWAY). .

Divala Diatrict (except Mendali) .. 4,000
Varwus At 4 e ; & 2,900 Baquba to Khankin.
!:’;"ll:h ]‘:({:R } Kifri—Kirkuk—Sulaimanyeh.

#|

The total of the above is about 160,000, but it is probable that some of the
figures refer to rifle strength and not fighting strength, since a previous estimate put
the fighting strength of these tribes at 270,000. This statement does not, of course, |
include the Kurdish tribes, who are believed to total 481,000 fighting men, of whom }
about one-third are believed to be armed with rifles.  They do not, however, as a rule,
fight far from their homes, and any concentration of a centrally controlled force of any
size is considered improbable.  Action on their part would probably be confined to
looting villages or attacking isolated weak posts and eonvoys. It should be borne in
miud that the Arab and Kurd are traditional enemies and any combination between
the two is very unlikely.

7. As regards the actual sequence of events, reports at the end of June indicated
that & spirit of.unrest was prevaleot amongst certain tribes in the Middle Euphrates.

Beni  Huehaim tribe, attacked the prison at Rumaitha, killing the local Arab

* F this tribe about 10,000 are at preee:-nt. active around Nnu%r_i,\:aa and Samawah ;“the remainder are

El’,' tol‘?nll{.hostile, and there bave recently been signs of internal dissension smongst them on the
att-el-Hai, . : ]

' 'I‘hh‘:'ihohnust.oodﬂmto o prgsent time and have aseisted in keeping open communications on '
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- of desorting the country hich we had paid so hea
wing i a summary of the location and potential fighting sir
tthe hostile Amb tribes in Mesopotamia according to-the latest information :—

Approximate , Spheres of sctivity.

Tribe fighting strength. |
i A (1.) From Basra T0 BAGHDAD.
: (a.) On the Buphrates line.
IR i v Sl e 43,000 Kurna vid [lamar Lake to Nasiriyah and up the
1 Shatt. el-Hai
K hazail -t “ = . 11,500 e ;
| Yarious i i e = 16,000 } Snmawah-a’ﬂ.amﬂu—l!ﬂlah Kufa area.
| Hobeid 5 I -1 FES ‘ ;
! .?I;nbyin < o b 1,500 i Left bank between Musayib and Mabmudiyab.
 Masod

|
|
' -

' (b.) On the Tigris Lane,

| Bani Malich and neighbours | 18,300 Kurna to Amara.
Albo Mubinmmed .. .o i 8,000 A
‘Albo Darraj .. .. .. .. 4,300 } : .
| Beni Lam s aw ‘e N | 5100“
Beni Habiah . oo s ool 5,500 }Kut-el—hmau to Baghdad,

v.ﬁm . am - ‘s 30“—“’ l
- !

(2.) Bagapap—Hir Area.

¥ Zobas Sy Ml e R 2,500

is Zuglawiyah o Abughsraib.
L e R TSR 27,000

Felujah to Asshur,

(3.) Bacapan—MosuL Area

phammar Jarba 5o e %% 2,700 Moaul lines »f commuunication.
Various R b e 2] 3,400 Spasmodic ruiding.

(4.) BAcHDAD —KIRRUK —QUAIRITU (PERSIAN Rarnway).

| Digala District (except Mendali) .. 4,000
;'ltlnuu e e a S 2,900 Baquba to Khanikin.
o e R (RSN bile |} Kitri—Kickik—Sulaimauyeh.

The total of the above is about 160,000, but it is probable that some of th:
figures refer to rifle strength and not fighting strength, since a previous estimate put
the fighting strength of these tribes at 270,000. This statement does not, of cvurse,
inclade the Kuridish tribes, who are believed to total 481,000 fighting men, of whom
abeut one-third are helieved to be armed with rifles.  They do not, however, as a rule,
fight far from their homes, and any coneentration of a centrally controlled force of any
size is considered improbahle.  Action on their part would probably be confined to
Jooting villages or attacking isolated weak posts and eonvo It should be horne in
mind that the Arab and Kurd are traditional enemies. sm{lany combination hetween
the two is very unlikely.

, 7. As regards the actual sequence of events, reports at the end of June iudicated
| that a spirit of unrest was prevalent amongst certain trilies in the Middle Euphrates.
IMnt;ters came to & head on 1st July when a party of the Dhawalim, a section of the
Beni Huchaim tribe, attacked the prison at Romaitha, killing the local Arab
* Of this rribe about 10,000 are at present active around \m,ﬁmmm;mm
uot openly hostile, and there have recently been signs of internal dissension amongst them on the
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APPENDIX G

of Iraq 1920
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Map of Irag 1920
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